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Our vision

1970

The company 
is founded as a 
resources construction 
business based in 
Western Australia.

1994

United Construction 
Group lists on the 
Australian Stock 
Exchange.

1998

United Group 
acquires 
Kilpatrick Green.

2002

United Group  
acquires KFPW.

To be the preferred partner of governments 
and corporations worldwide in delivering 
essential services that sustain and enhance 
the environment in which we live and the 
communities in which we operate, to the 
benefit of our people and our shareholders.
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1988
The company 
changes its 
name to United 
Construction Group.

1997
The company 
changes its name 
to United Group 
Limited. 

1999
United Group 
acquires rail 
specialist Goninan.

2004
United Group 
merges KFPW with 
Kilpatrick Green 
facilities management 
business.
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2004

United Group 
acquires 
Thames Water 
Projects Asia.

2005

United Group acquires 
Singapore-based 
Premas International 
expanding into 
16 major cities in Asia.

2011

UGL acquires trading 
operations of United 
Kingdom-based DTZ 
Holdings plc. expanding 
globally to 52 countries, 
and creating a truly 
global property 
services platform.

2005
United Group acquires 
Alstom Australia and 
New Zealand.

2006
United Group acquires 
Chicago-based corporate 
real estate business Equis 
Corporation, establishing 
a presence throughout the 
United States and India.

2009
United Group 
changes its name 
and brand to UGL.

2007

United Group acquires 
Boston-based facilities 
services company 
Unicco, adding 
20,000 employees 
in North America.

UGL is a global leader in outsourced engineering, property 
services, asset management and maintenance worldwide. 
Over the past decade, UGL has grown from being a Western 
Australia-based resources construction business to become 
a diverse, multinational outsourced services company. 
Over this time, UGL’s financial strength and disciplined risk 
management approach has supported significant growth across 
the business, both organically and through various acquisitions.

Our strategic platform continues to evolve as we focus on market 
leadership across all of the industries in which we currently 
operate and new markets into which we may expand.

Who we are today

UGL Limited
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UGL vs S&P/ASX 200

TSR UGL S&P/ASX 200

1-year (5.4)% (6.7)%

3-years 11.1% 5.7%

10-years 19.9% 6.9%
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Our global footprint

FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12

Underlying NPAT* ($m)

136.1

2H
1H

150.3 151.1

164.4 168.3

FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12

Underlying EPS* (cents)

84.9

2H
1H

91.9 91.7
99.0 101.3

FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12

^

3,573.2

2H
1H 4,843.7

4,359.1
4,583.6

4,803.0

^ Includes UGL’s share of joint venture revenue

Americas

•  #1 most recommended real estate 
firm in North America (Watkins Survey) 

•  800 million sq ft facilities 
management portfolio 

•  Self-performs more services in more 
geographies than any other real estate 
services provider in North America 

• 95% customer retention rate

Europe and Middle East
•  Top four market position among UK commercial 

real estate advisory firms 
•  Sweden, #1 market position in valuation 

and corporate services 
•  Poland, #1 in property management, retail and 

corporate services 
•  France, #1 market position in valuation services 
•  Qatar, #1 in valuation, leasing agency, consulting 

and corporate services 
•  Aspire Zone Project – 2011 Middle East ‘Facilities 

Management Project of the Year’ 

Key financial highlights
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Country Coverage

FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12

Order Book^ ($m)

7,401

8,151

9,062

8,220

9,626

^ Includes UGL’s share joint venture revenue

FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12

DPS (cents)

58.0

2H
1H

64.0 64.0

70.0 70.0

FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12

171.3
183.9

229.4

150.6

111.0

Asia Pacific 
Property
•  Greater China, #1 commercial real estate services 

firm in world’s second largest economy 

•  2.1 billion sq ft property and facilities 
management portfolio 

•  Manage four townships in Singapore with total 
residents over 1 million 

•  Strategic partner and shareholder of Singapore 
Sports Hub, one of the largest sports 
infrastructure projects in the world 

Asia Pacific 
Engineering, Operations & Maintenance
•  Australia’s largest vertically integrated provider 

of rolling stock and rail maintenance solutions 
•  Growing player in Asian rail industry
•  Leading provider of project delivery and asset 

services to Australian resources sector
•  Industry leader in the power and water sectors 

with a track record of success of over 50 years
• Key partner to the Australian Defence Force
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Against a backdrop of continuing global 
economic uncertainty, the resilience of 
UGL’s business model has led to another 
strong performance in the 2012 financial year. 
The result demonstrates UGL’s commitment 
to managing risk and delivering profitable 
growth ensuring a stability of earnings for 
our shareholders which is industry-leading.

During the 2012 financial year, UGL’s underlying 
operating revenue increased five per cent to a near 
record $4.8 billion. UGL delivered a reported net profit 
after tax of $134.3 million however, given this was 
impacted by acquisition related costs, restructuring 
costs and the amortisation of acquired intangibles, 
a more accurate comparison for shareholders is UGL’s 
performance on an underlying basis. Underlying net 
profit after tax of $168.3 million grew two per cent 
relative to the prior year, resulting in earnings per share 
of 101.3 cents, also up two per cent.

The Board has declared a final dividend of 36 cents per 
share which will bring the total dividend for the year 
to 70 cents per share, fully franked. The Board is very 
pleased to maintain its targeted dividend payout to 
shareholders of approximately 70 per cent of underlying 
earnings. The final dividend is payable on 7 September 
2012 to shareholders on the register at 24 August 2012.

BOARD RENEWAL
We remain committed to identifying and attracting 
suitably experienced leaders at Board level to ensure we 
have the right directors, including a successor to myself 
as Chairman, to effectively lead the strategic direction 
of the company and respond to the opportunities and 
challenges UGL now faces given its increasing complexity 
and global presence.

During the year, we were delighted to welcome 
Robert E. Denham to the Board as a non-executive director. 
Bob has more than thirty years’ experience as a lawyer 
advising clients on strategic and financial issues and is 
currently a partner in the US law firm of Munger, Tolles & 
Olson LLP. He previously served as the Chairman and CEO 
of Salomon Inc. from 1992 to 1997 and now serves on the 
Boards of a number of leading international companies. 
Bob is based in Los Angeles and brings to UGL significant 
strategic expertise and a wealth of knowledge from his 
legal and financial experience. The depth and capabilities of 
UGL’s Board has been significantly strengthened through 
Bob Denham’s appointment.

After nine years of service, John Ingram has announced 
his intention to retire from the Board in November 2012. 
During his Board tenure, John has made a significant 
contribution to championing UGL’s health and safety 
initiatives through his role as Chairman of the Health, 
Safety, Security & Environment Committee. He has also 
served as an important member of the Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee. The Board has benefited 
greatly from John’s extensive corporate experience over 
his tenure and his contribution will be missed.

The Board continues to work with an independent 
external adviser to assist in identifying suitable potential 
candidates as part of its renewal program. In identifying 
potential candidates, the Board recognises UGL’s 
substantial presence in Asia, which expanded during the 
year following the acquisition of the trading operations 
of DTZ Holdings plc. We believe it is important to ensure 
future candidates provide the Board with the capabilities 
and experience to capitalise on the potential growth 
opportunities in the region. 

We are pleased with the progress being made and the 
depth of talent which has been identified which will 
ensure the Board’s orderly succession. We will update 
you with specific details as soon as we can.

SENIOR EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION
One of the primary responsibilities of the Board and 
senior management is to successfully deliver UGL’s 
fundamental strategy of growing earnings over a 
sustained period of time to create value for our 
shareholders. UGL’s approach to remuneration has been, 
and continues to be, aligned with our strategy and focus 
on creating shareholder value.

Our diverse and complex business platform, while one 
of UGL’s key strengths, has also become one of our key 
challenges. As a result of this challenge, our ability to 
attract, retain and reward high quality leaders is critical 
to our continued success. The Board is mindful of 
ensuring that our remuneration practices support this 
objective to the benefit of our shareholders.

At our Annual General Meeting last October, 30 per cent 
of the vote we received from shareholders did not 
support the 2011 Remuneration Report. A number of 
concerns were raised by shareholders and stakeholder 
advisory groups in relation to our remuneration 
practices and the disclosure of our incentive 
arrangements. 

To better understand these concerns and ensure 
the Board’s objectives were well communicated, 
the Board significantly increased its engagement 
with our key shareholders and stakeholder advisory 
groups. Following this engagement process, 
we understand that:

•  It is our responsibility to better 
communicate the rationale and value 
of our remuneration strategies to 
our key stakeholders.

•  We need to continue to review 
our remuneration practices 
and disclosures in the context 
of stakeholder and market 
expectations.

•  We need to continue to engage 
with our stakeholders to better 
allay any concerns by explaining our 
objectives and how the remuneration 
outcomes each year relate to our 
performance and delivery of 
shareholder value.

Chairman’s Message
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Our 2012 Remuneration Report set out on pages 
37-53 has been developed to outline the value of our 
remuneration strategies in what we hope are simple, 
clear terms and provide an explanation of the link 
between the remuneration outcomes against the delivery 
of set objectives which support our strategy.

UGL remains focused on delivering sustainable value 
for our shareholders. Ensuring we maintain an executive 
remuneration framework which aligns with this objective, 
continues to be a key priority for the Board.

PEOPLE
UGL now operates in 52 countries employing more 
than 56,000 people, including subcontractors. The 
globalisation of our company means that, more than ever, 
our people are our most important asset and it is their 
contributions which drive the ongoing success of UGL.

Attracting and retaining the right employees continues 
to be a core focus for the Board as we believe there is a 
real competitive advantage from leveraging our diverse 
workforce. We see UGL’s Diversity Program as more 
than just meeting our compliance obligations. For the 
Board, it means that every UGL employee should have 
the tools, support and opportunities to reach their 
individual potential. 

With this in mind, we have undertaken measurable steps 
to improve UGL’s diversity agenda and we are proud 
to have delivered on all eleven measurable objectives 
previously set to strengthen diversity across the 
company in the 2012 financial year. These objectives and 
the related outcomes are discussed in further detail in 
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 56-63.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
UGL maintains a robust corporate governance 
framework. Our focus on risk management provides 
the foundation for our every day work practices and we 
have always adopted a zero tolerance approach towards 
conduct which could negatively impact UGL’s integrity 
or corporate reputation.

While bribery and corruption have always been taken 
very seriously by UGL, the increasing globalisation of our 
businesses has led to a refinement of our policies to more 
effectively address the increasingly complex environments 
in which we operate. As the Board believes it is imperative 
to ensure ethical business conduct at all levels across 
the organisation, we have introduced a specific policy 
addressing Global Fraud and Anti-bribery, in addition to 
our Code of Conduct and Whistleblower policies.

Compliance with these policies is monitored by UGL’s 
internal audit team who undertake regular reviews and 
employ a sophisticated forensic methodology to detect 
any inappropriate conduct or business practices.

CONCLUSION
I would like to acknowledge the significant contribution 
made by our Managing Director & CEO, Richard Leupen, 
and his senior executive team, as well as the hard work 
and commitment of our global workforce during the past 
twelve months. I would also like to take this opportunity 
to thank the Board for their support and sound 
judgement throughout the year.

As we commence the 2013 financial year, the macro 
environment presents a number of challenges which 
we continue to monitor closely. Globally, the economic 
outlook remains highly uncertain with a muted recovery 
in the US, continued instability across European financial 
markets and a slowdown in China’s exceptional growth 
rate. In Australia, our multi-factor productivity growth 
has declined over the last decade and consequently, 
Australia’s productivity lags some of our international 
peers. To ensure Australia remains globally competitive, 
our governments must be diligent in addressing issues 
related to productivity.

Despite these broader challenges, UGL’s proven business 
model remains resilient, supported by our strong 
financial discipline and our diversity across the countries, 
sectors and industries in which we operate. We are 
confident that by remaining focused on our core sectors 
while ensuring our model is adaptable to take advantage 
of new growth opportunities, UGL is well positioned to 
continue to deliver sustainable earnings growth to our 
shareholders. We thank you for your continued support.

Trevor C Rowe AO DUniv
Chairman
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UGL’s diversity remains its key strength – 
diversity across countries, across sectors, 
across industries, across people. Our proven 
business model with its high level of quality, 
recurring earnings streams has once again 
delivered a strong result in the 2012 financial 
year. The consistency and stability of our 
performance continues to be driven by our 
strategy of partnering with blue-chip corporates, 
government agencies and public institutions 
around the world to provide essential services 
which are exposed to long term growth trends.

Continuing to expand and adapt our business model as 
part of a considered strategy will differentiate UGL as our 
strategic journey continues, allowing us to capitalise on 
new growth opportunities and deliver enduring returns 
to our shareholders.

BECOMING A GLOBAL LEADER  
IN PROPERTY SERVICES
A transformative milestone for our Services business was 
announced in December 2011, with the acquisition of the 
trading operations of global real estate services company, 
DTZ Holdings plc, for £77.5 million ($119 million). The 
acquisition of DTZ is a key step in UGL’s journey to become 
one of the world’s leading property services companies. 
Integrating DTZ with our existing Services business has 
created a truly global end-to-end services model which has 
transformed our ability to deliver a fully integrated service 
offering to clients globally. 

Our unique model is delivering industry-leading service 
levels to our clients and the conversion rate of securing 
new business has risen significantly. International activity 
across our client base has already increased strongly and 
continues to grow. The scale and reach of our combined 
platform has provided us with the capabilities to secure 
mandates of a size and complexity we would not have 
successfully tendered for prior to the acquisition of DTZ.

We expect that the trend to outsource non-core services 
in property will continue to grow as both governments 
and corporations seek to become more cost efficient.  
Furthermore, clients continue to globalise and through 
their globalisation are seeking a single solutions provider 
with strong local knowledge and presence. As a world 
leader in property services with market-leading local 
teams in all major regions, we are well positioned to 
capitalise on the continued trend in global outsourcing.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
This year has seen UGL deliver its eleventh consecutive 
year of underlying net profit growth; a reflection of 
our diverse portfolio of businesses and the strength 
of our strategy which consistently generates sustainable 
growth and value for our shareholders.

Underlying operating revenue increased five per cent to 
$4.8 billion during the 2012 financial year. With a consistent 
focus on commercially balancing risk, UGL delivered a 
two per cent increase in underlying net profit after tax 
to $168.3 million, after adjusting for acquisition related 
costs, restructuring costs and the amortisation of acquired 
intangibles. Similarly, underlying earnings per share grew 
two per cent during the period to 101.3 cents per share.

Operating cash flow for the year was $111.0 million after 
returning to more normalised levels in the six months 
to 30 June 2012. Our robust and flexible balance sheet 
remains a hallmark of the strength of UGL. Our gearing 
ratio was 27 per cent as at 30 June 2012 and interest 
cover remained high at 12.1 times. We have $415 million 
in available bank capacity and the average term of our 
committed debt facilities is 3.3 years.

Managing Director  
& CEO’s Report  
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Revenue for Services increased 21 per cent to $1.6 billion1 in 
the 2012 financial year. EBIT rose 25 per cent to $95.4 million2, 
representing a margin of 5.9 per cent.

The Services order book increased by 25 per cent to $3.6 billion as at 30 June 2012. 
The strength in order book growth is supported by a significant increase in the 
conversion rate of securing new business since the DTZ acquisition. Key global 
mandates secured during the year include contracts to provide portfolio and 
transaction management and other specific property services to Harte-Hanks, 
ICON Clinical Research, INC Research and Molex as well as a number of other 
major international companies across multiple countries and locations.

Globally, bidding levels for property services are robust and we anticipate continued 
growth in our share of global mandates and cross-border activity going forward.

Operational Review
Our Services business has delivered a record financial performance this year following 
the acquisition of DTZ, showing initial signs of the strength and momentum of our 
unique, truly global platform. 

Our Rail and Resources businesses have delivered stable results while our 
Infrastructure business was impacted by the growing skills and labour shortages 
across the sector. Following a strategic reorganisation, these businesses are now better 
aligned to respond to opportunities for expansion, both in existing and new markets.

In particular, we see significant growth opportunities from emerging sectors including 
defence as well as increased outsourcing of operational and maintenance activities by 
non-traditional sectors such as manufacturing and industrials as corporates work to 
reduce their cost bases in the challenging economic environment.

SERVICES

1  Includes UGL’s share of joint venture revenue
2   Adjusted for acquisition related costs, restructuring costs 

and amortisation of acquired intangibles

FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12

Revenue ($m) EBIT ($m) Order book ($b)

1,101.1

1,559.1

1,361.9 1,328.9

1,603.2

58.0
63.5

71.5
76.5

95.4

2.5

2.9 2.8 2.8

3.6
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RAIL

While revenue for Rail was marginally down on the prior year at $1.2 billion1, EBIT 
performance was steady at $85.1 million reflecting an increased margin of 7.1 per cent. 
This solid result reflects the ongoing strong demand for freight locomotives as well 
as a steady performance on our core passenger maintenance contracts in New South 
Wales and Victoria. During the year, we also successfully completed the delivery of the 
last of our Stage 3 passenger cars for the Outer Suburban Railcar (Oscar) project to 
RailCorp both ahead of schedule and under budget.

The Rail order book significantly increased 28 per cent to $3.6 billion as at 30 June 2012, reflecting 
the renewal of the $1.4 billion maintenance and logistics contract with RailCorp as well as a strong 
win rate in freight locomotives where we have grown our market share.

Looking ahead, the demand dynamics for freight locomotive supply and maintenance services 
from the Western Australian and Queensland resources sector remains particularly strong. 
Of the $2.2 billion in weighted and qualified opportunities we have identified across both the 
freight and passenger sectors, we expect to participate in a significant proportion of these 
opportunities as they come to market.

INFRASTRUCTURE

Revenue for Infrastructure increased 9 per cent to $1.2 billion1 in the 
2012 financial year driven by a solid top line performance from projects 
across our key sectors of power, transport and communications.

Relative to the prior year, EBIT declined 30 per cent to $58.0 million. The weaker 
than anticipated contribution was a result of the challenges encountered with the 
growing skills and labour shortages across the sector. We continue to monitor these 
developments closely and their potential impact on future project performance.

The Infrastructure order book ended the year up 4 per cent at $1.7 billion, reflecting 
a number of key wins across the power, communications and defence sectors, 
including a $90 million contract to construct the Solomon Mine power station in the 
Pilbara and a $550 million contract (total JV) in joint venture with EPC firm CH2M HILL, 
to construct a combined cycle power plant for the Ichthys Liquefied Natural Gas Project 
in the Northern Territory. 

With a $1.4 billion weighted and qualified pipeline of opportunities identified, 
UGL remains well placed to benefit from continued private and public investment 
in infrastructure, particularly across the power, transport and defence sectors.

FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12

Revenue ($m) EBIT ($m) Order book ($b)

1,138.6

1,420.8

1,135.8

1,249.6
1,198.6

88.1

80.2

55.2

84.8 85.1

1.9

2.3

3.1

2.8

3.6

Managing Director  
& CEO’s Report  

FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12

Revenue ($m) EBIT ($m) Order book ($b)

789.0

1,160.6
1,096.0 1,065.6

1,163.4

51.3

71.8

78.9
83.3

58.0

2.1

2.3

2.1

1.6
1.7
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RESOURCES

While revenue declined eleven per cent to $856.5 million1 during the 
year, the EBIT contribution from Resources increased two per cent to 
$45.0 million. The EBIT margin of 5.3 per cent was a solid result and 
reflective of the high proportion of recurring earnings generated from 
maintenance style contracts.

The contribution from project construction work was subdued in the 2012 financial year 
however, the asset services division delivered substantial growth relative to the prior year 
following a number of significant awards across the coal, iron ore and oil and gas industries. 

A significant win in project construction during the year was the award of the 
$99.45 million contract for structural, mechanical and piping works at BHP Billiton Iron 
Ore’s Jimblebar Project. Securing this contract is an important win for UGL and we look 
forward to successfully contributing to the expansion of this iron ore development in 
Western Australia.

Tendering activity for Resources remains robust with a weighted and qualified 
pipeline of $2.0 billion of opportunities identified. We continue to actively pursue 
this substantial pipeline of both major construction and asset maintenance projects, 
focusing on opportunities which offer a balanced risk profile and the potential to 
deliver profitable growth.

Organisational Structure
Commencing from 1 July 2012, UGL formalised the strategic reorganisation 
of its internal management structure into three business units consisting of 
Engineering, Operations & Maintenance and Property.

The Engineering business consolidates UGL’s major project activity across its heritage 
Rail, Infrastructure and Resources businesses. The Operations & Maintenance business 
includes our existing operations and maintenance activities with a focus on future 
growth opportunities to expand this business. Finally, Property encompasses all of 
UGL’s property services activities globally. The Property business will continue to 
be headquartered in Los Angeles.

Consistent with the growth of UGL and its expansion globally, our strategic platform 
continues to evolve to ensure we remain positioned for market leadership across 
all of the sectors in which we currently operate. Importantly, we need to ensure our 
business model is adaptable and allows us to capitalise on new growth opportunities 
as they arise. We believe the reorganisation of our business units optimally positions 
UGL for growth in the next stage of our strategic journey.

FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12

Revenue ($m) EBIT ($m) Order book ($b)

467.7

726.4
785.9

959.0

856.5 51.4

57.0
59.4

44.0 45.0

0.9

0.7

1.0 1.0

0.8

1  Includes UGL’s share of joint venture revenue
2   Adjusted for acquisition related costs, restructuring costs 

and amortisation of acquired intangibles
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PEOPLE & SAFETY
With operations now across 52 countries and a workforce 
of more than 56,000 people including sub contractors, 
the safety and security of our people remains our most 
important priority. Instilling a safety culture starts from 
my office and extends through our management levels 
to everyone who is working somewhere representing 
UGL. Across all of our operations, our USafe culture 
emphasises responsibilities for personal safety and that 
of the people around us.

In the 2012 financial year, our global lost-time injury 
frequency rate improved significantly, down 24 per cent 
on the prior year. Our total recordable case frequency 
rate also declined, down eleven per cent relative to the 
prior year.

Safety highlights during the year included:

•  Our infrastructure team involved in the New South 
Wales SewerFix Alliance reached 1 million hours 
lost time injury free. The team has achieved a zero 
LTI frequency over the last four years.

•  Our rail team in Hong Kong achieved its fourth 
consecutive “Seamless Working Award” from MTR 
Corporation. The award recognises contractors who 
deliver an outstanding level of commitment to jointly 
working with MTR in achieving a world class level of 
customer service in safety, quality and reliability.

•  All third party accreditations or licences held by 
UGL businesses were maintained including third party 
audits against Australian Standards AS4801 – Health 
& Safety Management System Standard and AS14000 
– Environment Management System Standard.

We remain focused on continuously improving our safety 
performance through the ongoing investment in regular 
training as well as improving our systems and processes 
to find new ways of working more safely.

ORDER BOOK
UGL continued to win new work at a strong rate during 
the year, with total new contract wins and extensions of 
$6.1 billion being awarded during the period. The order 
book is at a record $9.6 billion with more than 80 per 
cent of the order book consisting of long term recurring 
maintenance style contracts. The quality of our order 
book remains one of UGL’s key strengths, with more than 
6,500 individual contracts supporting the diversity of 
our business model and de-risking our earnings profile.

Despite the global economic uncertainty, we continue 
to tender at elevated levels with an identified weighted 
and qualified pipeline of $6.8 billion as at 30 June 2012. 
Within this pipeline, we also have $1.6 billion of work 
which is in the preferred tenderer stage.

Managing Director  
& CEO’s Report

OUTLOOK
Continuing global economic uncertainty increases 
the difficulty of predicting trading outcomes in the 
2013 financial year.

Nevertheless, UGL expects its property services 
business to grow strongly again in FY2013 with the 
DTZ acquisition on track.

Under the new business structure, UGL’s Operations 
& Maintenance business has solid momentum going 
into the 2013 financial year. UGL expects Operations 
& Maintenance to contribute modest growth in FY2013 
from a very strong pipeline and recent wins in mining 
and defence services. This business will form a major 
part of UGL’s future.

Our Rail business delivered a strong performance in 
2012 and similar results are expected for the 2013 
financial year. Growth in iron ore and coal export volumes 
remains strong despite weakening commodity prices.

Uncertainty exists in the Australian resources and 
infrastructure sectors where approval delays and 
project cancellations combined with increased 
international competition and UGL’s balanced risk 
appetite limits our growth outlook in these sectors. 
UGL will likely contract in these sectors in FY2013 
depending on the extent of the resources capex 
slowdown and the level of investment directed to 
infrastructure projects across the power, water and 
transportation markets.

When considered together, UGL expects 2013 trading 
conditions overall to result in similar outcomes to the 2012 
financial year with stronger growth to return when global 
economic conditions stabilise and confidence returns.

I would like to thank our shareholders, clients and 
partners for their ongoing support and our talented 
people for their continued hard work and commitment. 
I am confident that UGL will continue to deliver 
sustainable and profitable growth for the benefit 
of all of our stakeholders for many years to come.

Richard A Leupen
Managing Director & CEO
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Enhancing the environment in which we live and the 
communities in which we operate is fundamental to 
UGL’s business strategy.

Ensuring we deliver the best outcomes for our 
stakeholders – our shareholders, clients, employees, 
partners and local communities worldwide – is a key 
driver which continues to support UGL’s sustainable 
growth. UGL’s heritage began in Australia more than 
a century ago and we have grown to become a global 
leader in delivering essential services across multiple 
sectors around the world.

Delivering essential 
services to the world’s 
population
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Rail

In December 2011, UGL was awarded the 
renewal of its maintenance and logistics 
contract with RailCorp, the contract 
previously known as MainTrain. 

Under the new contract, UGL continues to provide heavy 
maintenance, engineering, procurement and logistics 
management services on 1,050 passenger cars in 
Sydney’s passenger car fleet for RailCorp in joint venture 
with Unipart Rail.

The $1.4 billion contract has an initial term of 7 years 
with options to potentially extend the contract until 
2024 and generate a further $900 million in revenue.

This important contract is not just about maintaining and 
servicing trains but ensuring the delivery of safe, reliable 
and cost-effective essential services to the benefit of the 
broader community.

Exceeding 
expectations

Revitalising  
rail

During the year, UGL celebrated the 
successful delivery of the last of the Stage 
3 passenger cars of the Outer Suburban 
Railcar (Oscar) project to RailCorp.

UGL previously delivered 122 Oscar cars, valued at 
approximately $450 million, onto the New South Wales 
CityRail network as part of Stages 1 and 2 of the 
Oscar project.

Stage 3 of the project commenced in March 2009 
delivering an additional 74 cars, valued at approximately 
$320 million, onto the network.

On 28 May 2012, UGL delivered the last Oscar 3 set to 
RailCorp, 16 days ahead of the contractual practical 
completion date. Not only have all Stage 3 cars achieved 
practical completion ahead of schedule, the project has 
also been delivered under budget. The overall project 
performance and excellent product quality has brought 
down the build and delivery cost, resulting in returned 
savings to RailCorp.

UGL is currently building and delivering an additional 
25 cars under Stage 3A, which is an extension to Stage 3 
of the Oscar project. UGL is forecasting to deliver the 
last car of Stage 3A before the contractual practical 
completion date of 5 March 2013, again ahead of 
schedule and under budget.

UGL is Australia’s largest, vertically integrated provider 
of passenger and freight rolling stock and rail maintenance 
solutions as well as a growing player in the Asian rail 
industry. We work closely with clients to deliver fully 
integrated solutions including the design, engineering, 
manufacture, maintenance, refurbishment and asset 
management of freight locomotives, passenger cars, 
wagons and control systems.

The success of our client-focused approach and ability 
to provide fully integrated, innovative solutions is 
demonstrated through the longstanding, collaborative 
partnership between UGL and RailCorp which has been 
developed over the past 50 years.
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In for the long haul

Under the new agreement, UGL will supply 21 x GE “AC” Evolution locomotives to the Roy 
Hill project to support the haulage of iron ore from the mining operations to Port Hedland.

The Roy Hill project is a large, low phosphorous ore body located 105km north-east 
of Newman in Western Australia. It is expected that the first iron ore will be mined, 
processed and transported from Roy Hill in late 2014. UGL will deliver the first stage 
of 14 locomotives by February 2014 with the balance delivered progressively over 
the following two years.

UGL is proud to be partnering with Roy Hill in this world-class iron ore project by contributing 
our significant experience and knowledge of freight haulage in the Pilbara region.

Reaffirming UGL’s position as a market leader in supplying heavy 
haul freight locomotives to the Australian resources sector, UGL 
has secured a new contract to supply locomotives to the Roy Hill 
iron ore project in the Pilbara region of Western Australia.
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Fortescue Metals Group (Fortescue) has achieved numerous milestones in the 
establishment of its highly successful mining operations in the Pilbara. Critical 
to its success has been the development of an optimal iron ore supply chain 
which now has a run rate in excess of 55 million tonnes per annum (mtpa).

From inception and beyond

UGL is a leading provider of project delivery 
and asset services in the mining and mineral 
processing, oil and gas, chemicals and industrial 
processing industries. Our broad capabilities allow 
us to deliver to our clients integrated lifecycle 
solutions across multiple sectors to create, 
enhance and sustain their critical assets.

Resources

UGL, in partnership with GE, has supported Fortescue’s 
growth and the development of their supply chain by 
linking mines to port with proven locomotive technology. 
This collaboration was first commissioned by Fortescue 
in 2007 to supply 15 ‘high performance’ GE Dash 9 
locomotives. On 5 April 2008, iron ore haulage 
operations commenced from the Fortescue’s ‘Cloudbreak’ 
greenfield mine site, to their dedicated shipping facility 
at Anderson Point in Port Hedland.

Fortescue’s hard-working rail operation is maintained 
through a complete locomotive support network provided 
by UGL and GE. This partnership provides technical 
expertise, parts, logistics and rotable component repairs 
from UGL’s maintenance hub situated in Bassendean, Perth.

UGL has supported Fortescue’s expansion in the 
Pilbara not only through our rail expertise but also in 
engineering services. Since 2008, UGL has delivered 
structural detailing services for a variety of significant 
infrastructure expansions through all of Fortescue’s 
major growth milestones consisting of T45, T60, and now 
T155. Essentially, UGL delivers 3D detailing and modelling 
solutions which include animated ‘flythroughs’ for 
creating mining conveyors and transfer stations.

Like all mining companies in the Pilbara, Fortescue’s operations 
can be constrained by labour shortages and accommodation 
restrictions. With that in mind, UGL designed modular solutions 
which allow for all major structural works to pre-assembled in 
Perth at Henderson Point and then barged to Port Hedland. 
Once assemblies arrive on site, structures are ready to fit 
straight onto foundations.

UGL has also provided design assistance to Fortescue’s 
T155 phase in conjunction with WorleyParsons. 
Preliminary modelling of trusses, trestles, low level 
modules, chutes and transfer stations commenced using 
preliminary design information in the aid of fast tracking 
the design process. This has improved the pace of project 
execution which will ultimately accelerate operational 
throughput for Fortescue as they strive to meet greater 
export targets.
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Defence

UGL is delivering customer-driven, sustainable 
solutions to the defence sector through the safe 
provision of integrated supply, maintenance and 
asset management services.

As an important partner to the Australian Defence Force, UGL offers 
comprehensive integrated support solutions throughout the entire 
lifecycle of defence assets including design, manufacture and maintenance 
capabilities. From warship modernisation programs to innovative 
operational through-life support services for a broad range of naval ship 
classes, UGL provides mission critical solutions to its defence customers.

Supporting 
the ANZACs
UGL is providing naval surface ship repair 
and maintenance services to the Defence 
Materiel Organisation for eight Royal 
Australian Navy ANZAC frigates in an 
incorporated 50:50 joint venture with 
Babcock Pty Ltd (Babcock).

The new $300 million five year contract was awarded 
due to the combination of UGL’s long history and 
experience in asset management and maintenance 
with Babcock’s world class experience in naval ship 
sustainment and class output management. Both 
companies also have extensive experience in Australian 
and international military standards and protocols.

By combining UGL and Babcock’s capabilities with track 
records in cost reductions while setting high standards 
of performance, the Commonwealth Government is 
being provided with a highly competent, cost-effective 
service that offered a low risk transition and roadmap 
to total asset management.



Annual Report 2012   17  

Infrastructure

UGL, in partnership with GE, is installing new LED lights for 
the City of Sydney as part of a $7 million three year project. 
This installation of LED lights will include the replacement of 
6,450 conventional lights which will save nearly $800,000 a year 
in electricity bills and maintenance costs.

With the installation of the new LED street and park lights across the entire city centre, 
Sydney will join major cities such as Berlin, Barcelona, Los Angeles and San Francisco 
which use this efficient lighting technology.

The City of Sydney is one of the largest users of street lighting in NSW with 22,000 
lights. Public lighting accounts for a third of the City’s annual electricity use and 30 per 
cent of its greenhouse gas emissions. The new LED lights will slash these emissions, 
which is equivalent to 2,861 tonnes or taking 940 cars off the road.

LED technology will transform lighting as we know it – saving up to 75 per cent of energy 
compared to incandescent light sources, while lasting up to 25 times longer. This will 
have a profound impact on how we think about lighting in the future.

Partnering with the first city in Australia to introduce energy efficient lighting is an 
important milestone for UGL as our country transitions to a lower carbon future.

Lights on SydneyUGL together with its 
technology partner GE, 
provides LED lighting solutions 
to assist urban centres in 
reducing their energy usage 
and addressing environmental 
challenges. This technology 
delivers significant advantages 
for cities such as lowering 
energy consumption, reducing 
maintenance costs, and 
reducing environmental impact.
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UGL is an industry leader in the power sector with more than 50 years of success 
in providing whole of life asset solutions for large and complex power systems 
across Australia and Asia.  UGL’s capabilities in the power industry embrace 
engineering, design, supply, project management, construction, commissioning 
and ongoing maintenance of power infrastructure. 

Power

Powering up in  
the Browse Basin
UGL, in a 50:50 joint venture with EPC firm CH2M HILL, is 
constructing a Combined Cycle Power Plant for the Ichthys Liquefied 
Natural Gas (LNG) Project in the Browse Basin, approximately 
220 kilometres off the northwest coast of Western Australia.

Under the $550 million contract (total JV), the CH2M HILL-UGL Joint Venture 
will design and supply the balance of plant based around GE turbine technology 
as well as undertake the complete construction of the project. This significant 
project is demonstrative of UGL’s consistent ability to leverage our engineering 
capabilities, in this instance our power generation expertise, to deliver work on 
major resources projects.

This milestone project follows on from the successful installation of the Tamar 
Valley Combined Cycle Power Plant by UGL in 2009 and the Darling Downs 
Combined Cycle Power Plant completed by GE and CH2M HILL in 2010.
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UGL is partnering with Fortescue to deliver 
the Solomon Mine power station under an 
aggressive delivery schedule which has 
been set to meet the timetable for the 
T155 expansion. T155 is an ambitious project 
that will triple Fortescue’s production from 
55 mtpa to 155 mtpa by mid-2013 with an 
infrastructure investment of US$9 billion.

The Solomon hub development, a key element in 
achieving T155, is one of the biggest earthworks 
construction efforts in the southern hemisphere. 
To secure low cost production of iron ore from this 
rapidly evolving site, a reliable and efficient power 
plant is required to supply electricity to this new 
mining operation. UGL is working with Fortescue 
to deliver robust planning and integrated design 
with leading power generation technology and cost 
effective procurement in the fast-track construction 
of this critical piece of infrastructure.

Powering up  
in the Pilbara
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Property

UGL is a global leader in property services. 
We offer best in class, integrated solutions, 
designed to meet the most exacting of 
client needs wherever they require us to 
be. Our strength, flexibility and drive allow 
us to achieve the best property solutions 
to support our clients’ continuous success.
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Since January 2011, DTZ has been the 
exclusive leasing agent of Zlote Tarasy, 
an architectural landmark built in the heart 
of Warsaw. The centre provides a unique 
fusion of prime grade entertainment, retail 
and office spaces in a single location and 
has received a number of international 
recognitions and awards for its design.

DTZ has successfully delivered new tenants to the centre 
after renegotiating over 100 of the 211 lease agreements. 
These new tenants include brands that have chosen Zlote 
Tarasy as the location for their flagship opening in Poland 
such as Victoria’s Secret Beauty & Accessories, TOPSHOP, 
Sisley, Hard Rock Cafe, Bath & Body Works, Jack Wolfskin, 
Games Workshop and Swiss Cafe & Chocolate by Lindt.

In addition to providing comprehensive property 
management services to Zlote Tarasy, DTZ also provides 
accounting, re-letting and project management services.

Enduring client relationships, 
milestone projects
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Property

DTZ is providing property and 
transactional services on the 
development of Victoria Circle, for a 
number of years one of the largest mixed 
use developments in central London. 
The 5.5 acre site will provide in excess of 
one million square feet of prime offices, 
residential and retail to be built over a 
six year business plan.

The Canada Pension Plan Investment Board (CPPIB) initially 
engaged DTZ to provide advice on a proposed 50:50 
joint venture with the existing landowner and developer 
of Victoria Circle, Land Securities, the largest real estate 
investment trust in the UK.  After successfully establishing 
the joint venture, CPPIB and Land Securities engaged 
DTZ to deliver integrated property services over the entire 
development lifecycle of the Victoria Circle project.

The UGL Services Energy Procurement Unit (EPU) 
was established in Singapore in 2002 to capitalise 
on a unique business opportunity following the 
deregulation of the electricity market in 2003 by 
the Singapore Government. In a liberalised energy 
market, many companies found themselves lost in 
the complexity of energy prices, legal contracts and 
billing administration, and consequently, passing 
up real energy-saving opportunities.

As an independent energy procurement house, EPU delivers end-to-end 
energy management solutions to serve the distinctive needs of energy 
retailers and building owners. In short, we aggregate the energy demand 
loads from our building owners and bulk procure electricity at the most 
competitive rates on their behalf. We also highlight the various strengths 
and weaknesses of energy contract terms and conditions from each 
retailer to building owners.

Over the years, leveraging on our in-depth experience and insight of the 
local and global energy market, EPU has helped many clients achieve 
significant energy cost-saving ranging from 5% to 10%. To date, EPU 
have active accounts of more than 75 buildings, serving more than 
10,000 tenants and procuring close to US$54 million per annum of 
electricity for our clients in Singapore.
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DTZ has been working with Tencent Holdings 
Limited for over a year, managing its occupier 
and facility management needs across China. 
Tencent is a major Chinese IT company 
providing a wide range of IT services to 
more than 700 million active users in China 
including integrated social media platforms 
such as the IM system QQ (similar to MSN), 
SNS and Qzone (similar to Facebook) and 
micro blogs (similar to Twitter). 

Following Tencent’s recent rapid growth and a sharp increase 
in the size of its workforce, DTZ was appointed to provide 
integrated property services, including leasing, construction, 
project management, facilities and property management 
and asset management services. DTZ successfully secured 
the mandate with Tencent given its unique understanding 
of the company’s culture and requirements - a direct 
result of DTZ’s extensive local presence with the largest 
local network of any property services company in China, 
particularly in the second-tier cities. 

UGL provides a fully integrated property solution to 
DFAT encompassing estate management, facilities 
management, compliance management, procurement 
and financial management and administration services.

To meet our client’s key portfolio objectives, UGL has 
implemented a consistent global service delivery model 
which provides a range of industry-leading services 
to DFAT including a centralised property database 
that integrates all services, access to live property 
data through a client portal as well as the operation 
of a 24/7 customer service centre to respond to client 
requirements.

Additionally, UGL provides a structure and mechanism 
for applying appropriate maintenance regimes and 
managing costs at all sites. In providing these services, 
UGL has a combination of on-site expatriate and local 
managers and teams of trained tradespeople to attend 
to maintenance.

UGL has been providing integrated property services to longstanding 
client, the Australian Government Department of Foreign Affairs and 
Trade (DFAT), since March 2001. The DFAT property portfolio contains 
nearly 700 high profile, diverse and special purpose properties, including 
Embassies, Consulates, official residences and staff housing facilities 
(freestanding, town houses and residential compound arrangements) 
in 83 countries around the world.
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Property

National Geographic is a U.S. leader in sustainability having 
achieved an impressive list of accomplishments. Their 
Washington D.C. headquarters became the first facility to 
receive the Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design 
(LEED) Exisiting Building (EB) certification (Silver) from the 
U.S. Green Building Council in 2003. The complex has also 
successfully achieved re-certification to LEED-EB Gold in each 
of the last five years.  UGL has played an important role in 
each of National Geographic’s certifications and in its most 
recent 2012 re-certification, contributed eight of the 59 green 
cleaning credits required. 

UGL has partnered with the Society since 1998 providing a 
number of property services for their headquarters campus 
including GreenClean, porter services, painting, office moves, 
event set-ups and emergency services. 

We are proud to continue our enduring partnership with the 
National Geographic Socitey and assist them in maintaining 
their record of groundbreaking sustainability initiatives.

UGL has been partnering with the National Geographic Society 
since 1998 to provide property services at their headquarters 
in Washington, D.C. The three-building complex extends across 
899,535 square feet and includes Class A office space as well 
as exhibit and commercial space.
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Full-time UGL staff perform daily cleaning and detailing 
services for the stadium and outdoor areas. In addition, 
we assign additional staff for several on-going events 
to ensure the facility is safe and clean at all times. 
UGL has already introduced its Green Cleaning 
procedures using non-toxic cleaning agents and has 
begun updating equipment with the most sustainable 
and environmentally advanced models.

The Sun Life Stadium contract adds to UGL’s considerable 
portfolio of public venue clients where the company 
provides a wide range of standard facility management 
services to sports and entertainment facilities, including 
football stadiums, baseball parks, hockey rinks and multi-
sport facilities. Core facilities management services are 

complemented with specialised sports and entertainment 
facility services that include complete stadium audio and 
visual services, as well as peak load game/event support. 
UGL also provides surface (turf) maintenance for playing 
and practice fields for major college/university facilities.

In addition to major facilities in North America, UGL also 
supports sports venues in other markets, including the 
Singapore Sports Hub, as well as Khalifa International 
Stadium and Aspire Sport Hall (Doha, Qatar), home to 
the 2022 FIFA World Cup.

Under a new US$10 million five year contract, UGL is providing 
custodial and event support services to Sun Life Stadium, home 
of the Miami Dolphins. The Sun Life Stadium is a signature 
sporting property in the U.S. which opens its gates to 75,000 
patrons for Miami Dolphins games and for other events.
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Sustainability

At UGL, we understand sustainability. 
Sustainable business practices are at the 
heart of what we do, creating a business 
which will endure beyond today.

We recognise that by investing in and developing our 
people and promoting their diversity, we will ensure 
the strong performance of UGL is maintained.

We actively help our clients realise their sustainability 
goals. Our clients understand that when they engage 
UGL they work with a company committed to delivering 
results today, while maintaining a sustainable future.

We strive to be a good neighbour – both locally and 
globally – and continually review the potential impacts our 
operations can have on the environment. Our sustainability 
efforts include programs which ensure best business 
practices and drive internal efficiency initiatives.

We take our role as a community leader seriously 
and actively seek opportunities to give back to the 
communities in which we operate. We provide support 
to a wide array of charitable organisations through both 
corporate level programs and local community efforts.

Our sustainability strategy incorporates the key 
elements of corporate social responsibility, corporate 
governance, environment and labour practices. Through 
a combination of programs, UGL aims to:

•  Ensure that our workforce is as diverse as the broader 
global community in which we operate and that we 
fulfill our commitments to our people.

•  Work with our clients, partners and suppliers to achieve 
better environmental and social sustainability outcomes.

•  Monitor and report on our environmental performance.
•  Strengthen our connection with the communities in 

which we operate.
•  Maintain a supportive work environment where our 

people are encouraged to support community causes, 
and provide the flexibility to enable them to do that.



Annual Report 2012   27  

Lost time injury frequency rates

PEOPLE

As a service company, our biggest asset is 
our people. With a workforce of more than 
56,000 people worldwide, leveraging and 
developing the diverse ideas and breadth 
of experience of our employees is one of 
our greatest competitive advantages.

The ability to recruit, develop and retain high quality 
people who align with our core values is essential 
for ensuring a sustainable business. During 2012, 
we continued to undertake substantial investment in 
improving our processes, programs and other workforce 
initiatives to ensure our people deliver with excellence 
and exceed our clients’ expectations across the multiple 
countries, sectors and industries in which we operate.

Our professional development and technical training 
programs provide a structured framework for ensuring 
employees are well equipped to meet the challenges 
which arise at different stages of their careers. We 
constantly review our training programs, including 

online initiatives, to optimally align our training with the 
needs of our diverse talent pool. We have implemented 
additional strategic recruitment initiatives, in particular 
targeting women graduate engineers through direct 
university campaigns. We are investing further in 
expanding our Indigenous Program in Australia and 
extending this program on a global basis.

The safety and security of our people is a core value at 
UGL. We continue to develop our people to lead the way 
in safe work practices. Our personal safety culture is a 
core differentiator for the business and supports our 
safe, healthy and sustainable working environment.

During the 2012 financial year, UGL continued to deliver 
strong safety outcomes across our global business. 
Our global lost-time injury frequency rate improved 
significantly, down 24 per cent on the prior year. Our 
total recordable case frequency rate also declined, down 
eleven per cent relative to the prior year.

Lost time injury frequency rate (LTIFR)
Total recordable case frequency rate (TRCFR)
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Sustainability

Sustainable innovation

ENVIRONMENT 

At UGL, protection of the environment is one 
of our highest priorities. We continue to invest 
in our rigorous internal systems for measuring, 
reporting and minimising our environmental 
impacts. We have spent time developing 
internal tools for measuring our environmental 
impacts and emissions. We are gaining a greater 
understanding of our global CO

2
-e emissions.

UGL is committed to publicly reporting our emissions 
and water usage under programs such as the Carbon 
Disclosure Project (CDP). We will also continue to work on 
understanding our global impacts and actively work to 
reduce our day-to-day environmental impacts.

Environmental protection and conservation is a core 
foundation of the essential services we provide to our 
clients. We continue to work in partnership with our 
clients, partners and suppliers to develop best practice 
environmental management.

UGL’s Beyond Green is a comprehensive suite of 
integrated environmental services which provides 
our clients with best practice in environmental policy, 
strategy, implementation and ongoing management. 
Beyond Green delivers environmental solutions to clients 
seeking to reduce their environmental footprint, lower 

costs, better manage environmental risk, report and 
benchmark performance as well as achieve and maintain 
environmental compliance.

UGL, in collaboration with technology partner GE, is also 
leading the way in minimising the environmental impacts 
of rail transportation through the development of the 
new PowerHaul Series (PH37ACmai) locomotive – our 
most environmentally advanced locomotive to date.

Energy Consumption by Primary Source 

Gigajoules (GJ)  

Energy
Scope 1  
(direct)

Scope 2 
(indirect)

Total  
(direct + indirect)

Transport Fuels 340,499.21 -   340,499.21 

Natural Gas 27,860.62 -   27,860.62 

Electricity Consumption -   126,755.75 126,755.75 

Total Energy (GJ) 368,359.83 126,755.75 495,115.58 

* Australian 2012 energy consumption to be finalised in line with NGER reporting requirements

Total Emissions

Metric Tonne CO2-e 2012* 2011

Scope 1 24,837.30 16,999.00 

Scope 2 31,786.77 31,488.80 

Total (scope 1 + scope 2) 56,624.07 48,487.80 

Scope 3 25,358.51 23,605.15 

*    Global scope 3 emissions include business travel, hotel stays, employee travel,  
energy transport emissions, Australian rental vehicles.

Note: Australian 2012 emissions to be finalised in line with NGER reporting requirements

UGL has undertaken significant investment, along with GE, to develop a 
narrow gauge locomotive product, the new PowerHaul Series locomotive. 
The locomotive’s technical specification will meet both heavy haul and high 
speed freight requirements across the Queensland and Western Australian 
narrow gauge rail networks.

The PowerHaul Series represents a considerable 
advancement in locomotive power technology providing 
clients with substantial improvements in haulage 
capability, emissions, fuel-efficiency, power and 
reliability. It has been designed to meet the emissions 
requirements stipulated by EU Stage IIIA and can be 
adapted to meet Stage IIIB. The PowerHaul Series 
reduces CO

2
 emissions by up to 6% compared to current 

operating fleet averages. The locomotive can also deliver 
a 6% reduction in fuel consumption compared to current 
operating fleet averages in its class.

The introduction of the PowerHaul Series locomotive 
is another example of UGL’s commitment to provide 
clients with cleaner, more efficient rail technologies in 
the Australian resources and freight industries and is 
testament to our longstanding partnership with GE which 
provides clients with access to the latest technological 
advancements.
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COMMUNITY

UGL strives to be an asset to the communities 
in which we operate by contributing to positive 
social change. Globally, UGL lends its support to 
many important community initiatives including:

•  In the US, UGL provides a scholarship program 
to children of full-time UGL Services employees 
to support their attendance at higher education 
institutions, post high school vocational schools and 
other specialist training programs. Scholarships are 
awarded in recognition of students’ strong academic 
skills, leadership qualities, community involvement, 
extracurricular activities and financial need. UGL has 
supported this scholarship program since 2004.

•  In California, UGL is actively involved with the Community 
Program of Union Rescue Mission, a non-profit company 
dedicated to serving men, women and children 
experiencing homelessness. We support the program by 
offering work experience opportunities to some of the 
disadvantaged people assisted by Union Mission Rescue.

•  In the UK, through our membership of Business in 
the Community, a business-led charity focused on 
promoting responsible business practice, DTZ supports 
Give and Gain Day in May – the largest single national 
day of corporate volunteering in the UK. The day 
encourages businesses to support their employees in 
a day of volunteering. DTZ has supported this initiative 
for four years and in 2012 had 72 people across the UK 
volunteering for different projects from regeneration 
initiatives in public spaces to assisting at hospices 
and other local charities.

•  In Asia, DTZ actively participates in the Central Rat 
Race, one of Hong Kong’s signature charity events. The 
primary aim of the event is to raise funds for MINDSET, 
a registered charitable organisation that supports mental 
health-related organisations and projects in Hong Kong 
and mainland China.

•  In Australia, UGL became a supporter of the trackSAFE 
foundation in 2012. trackSAFE is a not-for-profit 
foundation which aims to improve level crossing 
safety, reduce rail trespass, reduce suicide and suicide 
attempts on the rail network, while also providing 
the world’s best practice support for rail industry 
employees who experience trauma as a result of being 
exposed to one of the above incidents.

For UGL, our corporate social responsibility is about 
making a lasting commitment to giving something back 
to the community. This principle ensures UGL integrates 
social and environmental initiatives into our daily 
operations and decision making. At UGL we look after 
the interests of all people who affect, or are affected by 
our business. This includes employees and their families, 
our customers, our partners, our suppliers and local 
communities – as well as our shareholders.

Supporting excellence  
in community service
In Louisiana, UGL funds the Community 
Service Scholarship program available to Tulane 
University students. Under the program, five 
$10,000 scholarships are awarded to students 
to recognise, encourage and support current 
and future community service projects and to 
increase students’ sense of civic engagement 
and social responsibility.

“ UGL Services understands what we in 
the Center for Public Service at Tulane 
University are trying to accomplish. 
These scholarships open new avenues 
for students and fund projects for Tulane and 
the greater New Orleans community that would 
not happen without this type of support.”

  Vincent Ilustre, Tulane Executive Director,  
Center for Public Service.
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The directors of UGL Limited (the Company or UGL) present their report 
on UGL and its subsidiaries (the Group), together with the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 30 June 
2012 and the auditor’s report thereon.

1. DIRECTORS

The names of the persons who have held office as a director, or appointed 
as a director, during the period since 1 July 2011 and up to the date of 
this report are: Trevor C Rowe AO, Richard A Leupen, Guy M Cowan, 
Robert E Denham (appointed 20 February 2012), Richard G Humphry AO, 
John W Ingram AM, Kathryn D Spargo and Richard D White.

Details of the current members of the Board, including their experience, 
qualifications, special responsibilities and term of office are set out below.

Trevor C Rowe AO
DUniv, FCIS, FCPA, FAICD, ACSA, FCSA
Age: 69

Independent: Yes

Term of office: Director since September 2002

Elected as Chairman October 2003

Current directorships of other listed entities and dates of office: 
BrisConnections Management Company Limited (Chairman since 
May 2008).

Directorships of other listed entities over the past three years: 
Non-Executive Director of ASX Limited (July 2002 to June 2010).

Other principal directorships and memberships: Executive Chairman of 
Rothschild Australia Limited, Chairman of Careers Australia Group Ltd, 
Chairman of Bond University Board of Trustees, Chairman of Metal Alpha 
Pty Ltd, Director of Banking & Finance Oath Limited, Chairman of RSPCA 
Queensland Capital Campaign and Member of the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service – The Friends Committee.

Former principal directorships and memberships: Chancellor of Bond 
University, Guardian of the Australian Government’s Future Fund of 
Australia, Chairman of Citigroup Global Markets Ltd/Salomon Bros., 
Chairman of Queensland Investment Corporation (QIC), Chairman of 
Queensland BioCapital Fund, Chairman of GoTalk Limited, Member of the 
Foreign Affairs Council and Member of the Commonwealth of Australia’s 
Takeovers Panel (2000-2003).

Skills, experience and expertise: Mr Rowe has more than 30 years’ 
experience in the investment banking and funds management industry 
domestically and internationally. Mr Rowe is currently Chairman of 
Rothschild Australia Limited and had a leading role in establishing Salomon 
Smith Barney (now known as Citigroup Global Markets) offices in Australia 
in 1983. During this time, he worked in the Australian, US and Asian 
markets. Prior to Citigroup, Mr Rowe held senior positions in Asia with the 
Arab Malaysian Development Bank and Private Investment Company of 
Asia (PICA) for 10 years. He has also held positions with Peat Marwick 
Mitchell & Co. and A C Goode & Co. in Western Australia.

UGL Board Committee membership: Chairman of the Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee.

Richard A Leupen
BSc (MechEng), CP Engineer, FIE Aust, FAIMM, FAICD
Age: 59

Independent: No

Term of office: Managing Director & CEO since October 2000

Current directorships of other listed entities and dates of office: Nil.

Directorships of other listed entities over the past three years: Nil.

Other principal directorships and memberships: Member of Business 
Council of Australia, Director of Australian Constructors Association and 
Director of Protech Holdings (WA) Pty Ltd.

Former principal directorships and memberships: National Executive – 
Australian Industry Group.

Skills, experience and expertise: Mr Leupen has over 30 years’ experience 
in service industries. He has worked for international and Australian 
engineering companies including GHD, and Kaiser Engineers, based in 
Sydney, Perth and Washington, DC. Previous organisations include BHP 
Port Kembla, Shell Australia and Simcoa Operations.

UGL Board Committee membership: Member of the Health, Safety, Security 
& Environment Committee and Chairman of the UGL Executive Committee 
and UGL subsidiaries.

Guy M Cowan
Bachelor of Engineering (Hons) (University of Sussex, UK), Fellow of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
Age: 60

Independent: Yes

Term of office: Director since February 2009

Current directorships of other listed entities and dates of office: Coffey 
International Ltd (Director since February 2012).

Directorships of other listed entities over the past three years: Raisama 
Limited (Director April 2010 until resignation in February 2012) and 
Ludowici Limited (Director November 2009 until resignation in July 2012).

Other principal directorships and memberships: Director of Queensland 
Sugar Limited; Chairman of Beak and Johnston Limited.

Former principal directorships and memberships: Director of various 
Fonterra subsidiaries and joint ventures, Director of Soprole SA (Chile), 
Director of Gold Oil PLC (UK) and alternate Director of Woodside Petroleum 
(1992 to 1994).

Skills, experience and expertise: Mr Cowan has nine years’ experience as a 
chartered accountant with PriceWaterhouse (now PricewaterhouseCoopers) 
and KPMG in addition to 23 years’ international experience in commercial 
and finance roles with the Royal Dutch Shell Group in South America, 
Australia, Africa and Europe. Prior to February 2005, he was Chief Financial 
Officer of Shell Oil in the US. In February 2005, Mr Cowan joined the 
Fonterra Co-operative Group Limited, the New Zealand based exporter of 
dairy products accounting for more than one-third of the international dairy 
trade. At Fonterra, as Chief Financial Officer, his responsibilities included all 
aspects of foreign currency, interest rate and liquidity risk management 
as well as business planning, financial and performance reporting and 
mergers and acquisitions. Mr Cowan stepped down from his Fonterra role 
in February 2009.

UGL Board Committee membership: Member of the Risk & Audit 
Committee.

Robert E Denham
BA (magna cum laude, University of Texas), MA Government (Harvard 
University), JD (magna cum laude, Harvard Law School)
Age: 66

Independent: Yes

Term of office: Director since February 2012

Current directorships of other listed entities and dates of office: Chevron 
Corporation (Director: 2004 to date), Fomento Economico Mexicano, 
S.A. de CV (Director: 2001 to date), Oaktree Capital Group LLC (Director: 
2007 to date) and The New York Times Company (Director: 2008 to date).

Directorships of other listed entities over the past three years: 
Alcatel-Lucent (Director: 2006-2009) and formerly Lucent Technologies 
(Director: 2002-2006) prior to its merger with Alcatel; Wesco Financial 
Corporation (Director: 2000-2011).

Other principal directorships and memberships: Chairman of the Russell 
Sage Foundation, Director of the James Irvine Foundation, Trustee of the 
Good Samaritan Hospital in Los Angeles, public member of the Professional 
Ethics Executive Committee of the American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants and partner in the US law firm of Munger, Tolles & Olson LLP.

Former principal directorships and memberships: Chairman and CEO of 
Salomon Inc, Chairman of the John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur 
Foundation, Chairman and CEO of the Financial Accounting Foundation, 
Co-Chairman of the Capital Formation Subcouncil of the Competitiveness 
Policy Council, past member of the OECD Business Sector Advisory Group 
on Corporate Governance, and Presidential appointee to the APEC Business 
Advisory Council and the Bipartisan Commission on Entitlement and 
Tax Reform. Mr Denham also co-chaired the 2009 Conference Board Task 
Force on Executive Compensation.
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Skills, experience and expertise: Mr Denham has more than 30 years’ 
experience as a lawyer advising clients on strategic and financial issues. 
Mr Denham is a partner in the US law firm of Munger, Tolles & Olson LLP, 
having rejoined the firm in 1998 after serving as the Chairman and CEO 
of Salomon Inc. As Chairman and CEO of Salomon Inc, Mr Denham was 
responsible for the management of a financial services holding company 
whose principal businesses were investment banking and securities trading, 
commodities trading and oil refining.

UGL Board Committee membership: Nil.

Richard G Humphry AO
FCA, FCPA, FAICD, A Fin, SACS
Age: 73

Independent: Yes

Term of office: Director since October 2004

Current directorships of other listed entities and dates of office: Nil.

Directorships of other listed entities over the past three years: Nil.

Other principal directorships and memberships: Director of HSBC Bank 
Australia Limited, BUPA Australia Pty Ltd, BUPA Australia Holdings Pty Ltd, 
BUPA Foundation (Australia) Ltd, O’Connell Street Associates Pty Ltd and 
Taronga Conservation Society Australia.

Former principal directorships and memberships: Managing Director and 
Chief Executive Officer of ASX Limited; Director of ClearView Life 
Nominees Pty Limited; President of Commonwealth Remuneration Tribunal; 
Advisory Director of Morgan Stanley Australia; Member of Administrative 
Review Council of the Attorney General’s Department, Treasury Financial 
Reporting Council and Foreign Affairs Council and Trustee of the 
International Accounting Standards Foundation.

Skills, experience and expertise: Mr Humphry has extensive experience as a 
company director, in financial markets, in financial reporting and auditing, 
and risk management.

He currently chairs the Risk and Audit Committees of UGL and HSBC 
(Australia).

During Mr Humphry’s tenure at ASX, it became the first exchange in the 
world to simultaneously demutualise and list on its own exchange. Before 
joining ASX, Mr Humphry was Director General of the NSW Premier’s 
Department and Auditor General of Victoria. These positions followed 
20 years’ experience in the Australian federal public service in the 
departments of Defence and Finance, and 13 years in the banking industry. 
Mr Humphry was President of the Australian Commonwealth Remuneration 
Tribunal for five years to 2003.

Throughout Mr Humphry’s career he has served on the boards of a diverse 
range of private and public sector organisations.

UGL Board Committee membership: Chairman of the Risk & Audit 
Committee.

John W Ingram AM
FCPA
Age: 70

Independent: Yes

Term of office: Director since April 2003

Current directorships of other listed entities and dates of office: Nick Scali 
Ltd (Chairman since 2005).

Directorships of other listed entities over the past three years: 
Savcor Group Limited (retired 30 June 2009) and Wattyl Ltd 
(resigned 21 September 2010 following acquisition).

Other principal directorships and memberships: Australian Superannuation 
Limited Trustee director (since July 2006) and Honorary National 
Secretary and Treasurer of the Australian Industry Group.

Former principal directorships and memberships: Crane Group Ltd, Rinker 
Group Limited, Historic Houses Trust of NSW and the Victor Chang Cardiac 
Research Institute.

Skills, experience and expertise: Mr Ingram has extensive experience in 
managing corporations. He is also a professional company director.

UGL Board Committee membership: Chairman of the Health, Safety, 
Security & Environment Committee and Member of the Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee.

Kathryn D Spargo
LLB (Honours), BA, FAICD
Age: 60

Independent: Yes

Term of office: Director since October 2010

Current directorships of other listed entities and dates of office: 
Sonic Healthcare Limited (July 2010 to date) and Fletcher Building Limited 
(March 2012 to date).

Directorships of other listed entities over the past three years: 
IOOF Holdings Ltd (retired 2009) and Transfield Services Infrastructure Ltd 
(retired October 2010).

Other principal directorships and memberships: Chairperson of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board; Director of CoInvest 
Ltd, Investec Bank (Australia) Limited, Suncorp Portfolio Services Limited 
and SMEC Holdings Limited.

Former principal directorships and memberships: Director of Fulton Hogan 
Ltd, Director of Australian Energy Market Operator Limited, Director of 
Australian Unity Limited, Director of Pacific Hydro Pty Ltd, Chairman of 
HomeStart Finance and Chairman of PrimeGro Ltd.

Skills, experience and expertise: Ms Spargo has gained broad business 
experience as both an advisor, having worked in private practice and 
government, and as a director. Ms Spargo has been a director of both listed 
and unlisted companies over the last 15 years and her current directorships 
include SMEC Holdings Limited, an engineering company with operations 
in around 40 countries, Investec Bank (Australia) Limited and Sonic 
Healthcare Limited. She is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors, as well as a member of the International Ethical Standards Board 
for Accountants.

UGL Board Committee membership: Member of each of the Risk & Audit 
Committee and the Nomination & Remuneration Committee.

Richard D White
BSc (Hons) Chemistry
Age: 63

Independent: Yes

Term of office: Director since July 2006

Current directorships of other listed entities and dates of office: Nil.

Directorships of other listed entities over the past three years: Nil.

Other principal directorships and memberships: Nil.

Former principal directorships and memberships: Executive Chairman of 
Serco; Director of Riviera Group (resigned May 2007), OCA Services Pty 
Limited and O’Connell Street Associates Pty Limited.

Skills, experience and expertise: Following a period working for RCA and GE 
in the mid-1980s, Mr White led a management buyout of GE’s UK service 
business, which resulted in the formation of Serco. Serco subsequently 
obtained a full listing on the London Stock Exchange and in the 10 years 
prior to Mr White’s retirement in 2002 was in the top 10 companies for 
value creation in the UK.

On listing, Mr White became the Managing Director and in 1999 Executive 
Chairman. The Group at that time had operations in 35 countries and 
employed more than 32,000 staff. As part of its international expansion, 
Mr White successfully set up Serco’s Asia Pacific operations in 1992.

UGL Board Committee membership: Member of each of the Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee and the Health, Safety, Security & Environment 
Committee.

2. COMPANY SECRETARIES

The following persons held office as Company Secretary during the 
reporting period.

Dennis Mentzines was appointed Company Secretary in May 2008. 
Mr Mentzines is Corporate Counsel – Commercial/M&A for UGL. 
Mr Mentzines holds a Bachelor of Economics from the University of Sydney 
and a Bachelor of Laws from UNSW. He also holds a Graduate Diploma in 
Applied Corporate Governance from Chartered Secretaries Australia. 
Dennis has more than 17 years’ in-house and private practice experience 
providing commercial and corporate legal advice.
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Lyn Nikolopoulos was a Company Secretary from October 2006 to 
December 2010 and was re-appointed on 29 July 2011. She has a Bachelor 
of Business from UTS and she holds a Graduate Diploma in Applied 
Corporate Governance from Chartered Secretaries Australia. Lyn has 
over 12 years’ experience in a company secretary role.

3. BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

The number of meetings of the Board of Directors and of Board 
Committees during the financial year and attendances for each of these 
meetings were:

     HEALTH, 

     SAFETY, 

    NOMINATION & SECURITY & 

 BOARD BOARD RISK & AUDIT REMUNERATION ENVIRONMENT 

 SCHEDULED UNSCHEDULED COMMITTEE COMMITTEE COMMITTEE

Mr T Rowe AO 9 9 2 2 – – 3 3 – –

Mr G Cowan 9 9 2 2 4 4 – – – –

Mr R Denham 3 3 – – – – – – – –

Mr R Humphry AO 9 9 2 2 4 4 – – – –

Mr J Ingram AM 9 7 2 2 – – 3 3 3 3

Mr R Leupen 9 9 2 2 – – – – 3 3

Ms K Spargo 9 9 2 2 4 4 3 3 – –

Mr R White 9 6 2 2 – – 3 2 3 3

Shaded column: Meetings held while a director or member, and required to attend.
Unshaded column: Meetings attended.

4. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

UGL is a global leader in outsourced engineering, property services and 
asset management and maintenance.

UGL operates worldwide across 52 countries employing more than 56,000 
people (inclusive of subcontractors). The Group has a client base that 
includes local and national governments, institutions and blue-chip 
corporations.

The Group consists of four complementary businesses:

UGL Infrastructure is a multi-service business offering construction, 
engineering, operational and maintenance services to the water, power, 
road and rail transport, communications and defence industries.

UGL Rail is Australia’s largest, vertically integrated provider of passenger 
and freight rolling stock and rail maintenance solutions as well as a growing 
player in the Asian rail industry.

UGL Resources is a long term solutions provider of project delivery and 
asset services to clients in the resources industry.

UGL Services is a global provider of outsourced property services. Services 
include corporate real estate, facilities management, project management, 
finance and accounting, and procurement.

5. REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The consolidated profit for the Group for the year, after income tax and 
non-controlling interests was $134,322,000; reconciled to underlying net 
profit after tax (NPAT) as follows:

  2012 

  $’000

Profit after income tax and non-controlling interests  134,322

Adjusted for:

Acquisition related costs  13,987

Restructuring costs  15,764

Amortisation of acquired intangibles  11,524

Tax on underlying adjustments  (7,291)

Underlying NPAT  168,306

Underlying NPAT has been presented to provide a more accurate reflection 
of the Group’s operating performance including the effects of costs arising 
from acquisitions and restructuring.

2012 OPERATIONAL 

RESULTS BY UGL UGL UGL UGL TOTAL 

SEGMENT: SERVICES INFRASTRUCTURE RAIL RESOURCES $’000

EBIT 95,375 57,958 85,062 45,040 283,435

Corporate costs     (36,471)

Net interest     (24,750)

Income Tax     (52,838)

     169,376

Non-controlling  
interests     (1,070)

Underlying NPAT     168,306

Underlying NPAT is non-IFRS financial information. EBIT and reconciling 
items have been extracted from Note 3: Operating segments.

Group Financial Highlights
•   Underlying net profit after tax of $168.3 million*, up 2 per cent and the 

11th consecutive year of underlying earnings growth

•  Operating revenue of $4.8 million^, up 5 per cent

•  Underlying earnings per share of 101.3 cents*, up 2 per cent

•  Total dividend per share of 70 cents fully franked

•  Healthy order book of $9.6 billion and solid opportunity pipeline

New Contract Wins & Extensions
•  Secured $6.1 billion of new contracts and extensions

•  Key wins include the $1.4 billion MainTrain renewal, $550 million 
Ichthys LNG power station contract (total JV), $99.45 million BHP 
Billiton Iron Ore Jimblebar contract and global property mandates for 
Harte Hanks, Molex, ICON Clinical Research and INC Research

Other Key Highlights
•  Becoming a global property services leader through the acquisition 

of DTZ

Additional Information
Additional commentary on the Group operations and results is contained 
within the Chairman’s Message and the Managing Director & CEO’s Report.

UGL Services
Highlights & outlook
•  Revenue up 21% to $1.6 billion^

•  EBIT increased 25% to $95.4 million*

•  Significant growth in order book by 25% to $3.6 billion

•  Global end-to-end services model with unique self-delivery platform 
following integration of DTZ

UGL Services is one of a limited number of global companies able to 
provide end-to-end outsourced corporate real estate and facilities 
management services to corporations, governments and institutions 
worldwide.

Revenue increased 21 per cent to $1.6 billion^ while EBIT rose 25 per cent to 
$95.4 million*, representing a margin of 5.9 per cent. The record financial 
performance for the business reflects the momentum already being 
generated by the acquisition of DTZ and the creation of a unique, truly 
global end-to-end services model.

The Services order book supports continued strong earnings growth 
following an increase of 25 per cent to $3.6 billion as at 30 June 2012. 
Globally, bidding levels for property services are robust and we anticipate 
continued growth in our share of global mandates and cross-border activity 
going forward.

^ Revenue includes UGL’s share of joint ventures
*  Adjusted for acquisition related costs, restructuring costs and amortisation of acquired intangibles
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UGL Infrastructure
Highlights & outlook
•  Revenue up 9% to $1.2 billion^

•  Major projects secured in the power, transport and communication 
sectors

•  Order book up 4% to $1.7 billion

•  Solid pipeline of new business opportunities

UGL Infrastructure has been operating as a provider of engineering and 
construction solutions to the infrastructure sector for more than 50 years 
across Australia, New Zealand and South East Asia.

UGL Infrastructure’s capabilities embrace engineering, design, supply, 
project management, construction, commissioning and ongoing 
maintenance of essential infrastructure. Through partnerships with 
international companies such as Alstom, GE, Balfour Beatty and Mitsubishi, 
UGL Infrastructure is able to offer its clients the world’s leading technology 
and best practice.

Revenue increased 9 per cent to $1.2 billion^ in the 2012 financial year 
driven by a solid top line performance from projects across our key sectors 
of power, transport and communications. Relative to the prior year, 
EBIT declined 30 per cent to $58.0 million. The weaker than anticipated 
contribution was a result of the challenges encountered with the growing 
skills and labour shortages across the sector, particularly in Western 
Australia and Queensland. We continue to monitor these developments 
closely and their potential impact on future project performance.

The Infrastructure order book ended the year up 4 per cent at $1.7 billion 
reflecting a number of key wins across the power, communications and 
defence sectors. UGL remains well placed to benefit from continued private 
and public investment in infrastructure across Australia, particularly across 
the power, transport and defence sectors.

UGL Rail
Highlights & outlook
•  EBIT steady at $85.1 million

•  Improved margin performance

•  Strong demand for freight locomotives

•  Oscar 3 continues to perform above expectations

•  MTM franchise in Melbourne performing strongly

•  Significant growth in order book

UGL Rail is Australia’s largest vertically integrated provider of passenger 
and freight rolling stock and asset management and maintenance solutions 
to the passenger, freight and rail systems sectors, with a growing presence 
in the Asian rail industry.

UGL Rail’s history dates back more than a century, and today the business 
has more than 2,100 staff supplying, maintaining and managing rail 
technology.

The business combines many years of local expertise in each of its markets 
through partnerships with market-leading international technology 
providers such as GE, Mitsubishi and Alstom to deliver the best possible 
outcome for its clients.

Revenue for Rail was slightly down on the prior year at $1.2 billion^ 
however, EBIT performance was steady at $85.1 million reflecting an 
increased margin of 7.1 per cent. The solid result reflects the delivery 
of high levels of freight locomotive orders as well as strong project 
performance on UGL’s core passenger maintenance contracts in 
New South Wales and Victoria.

The Rail order book increased 28 per cent to $3.6 billion as at 30 June 
2012, reflecting the renewal of the $1.4 billion maintenance and logistics 
contract with RailCorp as well as a strong win rate in freight locomotives 
where UGL has grown market share.

The demand dynamics for freight locomotive supply and maintenance 
services from the Australian resources sector remains particularly strong. 
Of the $2.2 billion in weighted and qualified opportunities identified across 

both the freight and passenger sectors, we expect to participate in a 
significant proportion of these opportunities as they come to market.

UGL Resources
Highlights & outlook
•  EBIT up 2 per cent to $45.0 million

•  Improved margin performance

•  Substantial growth in performance of asset services business relative 
to the prior year

•  Multiple long term maintenance projects awarded in the coal, iron ore 
and oil and gas sectors

UGL Resources is one of Australia’s leading providers of project delivery 
and asset services in the mining and mineral processing, oil and gas, 
chemical and industrial processing industries.

UGL Resources is one of only a few companies in Australia capable of 
supporting customers throughout the entire asset lifecycle, from 
conceptual engineering design through to project management and 
construction, culminating in continuing asset management, shutdown 
services and industrial maintenance.

Revenue declined 11 per cent to $856.5 million^ during the year, while EBIT 
increased 2 per cent to $45.0 million. The solid EBIT margin of 5.3 per cent 
reflects the high proportion of recurring earnings generated from 
maintenance style contracts.

Tendering activity for Resources remains robust with a weighted and 
qualified pipeline of $2.0 billion of opportunities identified. We continue to 
actively pursue this substantial pipeline of both major construction and 
asset maintenance projects, focusing on opportunities which offer a 
balanced risk profile and the potential to deliver profitable growth.

6. DIVIDENDS PAID OR TO BE PAID

The following dividends on issued ordinary shares of UGL have been paid 
or declared since the end of the 2011 financial year:

  2012 

  $’000

Final 2012 dividend of 36 cents per share,  
fully franked, to be paid on 7 September 2012  59,873

Interim 2012 dividend of 34 cents per share,  
fully franked, paid on 16 March 2012  56,547

Final 2011 dividend of 38 cents per share,  
fully franked, paid on 8 September 2011  63,098

7. SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS

In December 2011, UGL acquired the trading operations of global real 
estate services company, DTZ Holdings plc, for $119 million. The acquisition 
of DTZ is a key step in UGL’s journey to become one of the world’s leading 
property services companies. Integrating DTZ with our existing Services 
business has created a truly global end-to-end services model which has 
transformed our ability to deliver a fully integrated service offering to 
clients globally.

Apart from the DTZ acquisition mentioned above, there have been no 
other significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during this 
financial year.

8. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of this financial 
year which have significantly affected or may significantly affect the 
operations, the results of these operations or state of affairs of the Group 
in subsequent financial years.

Commencing from 1 July 2012, UGL formalised the strategic reorganisation 
of its internal management structure into three business units consisting 
of Engineering, Operations & Maintenance and Property. The Group will 
report to the market on this basis from the 2013 financial year.

^ Revenue includes UGL’s share of joint ventures
*  Adjusted for acquisition related costs, restructuring costs and amortisation of acquired intangibles
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9. LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND RESULTS

The Group will continue to pursue its goal of increasing profitability and 
delivering sustainable and responsible returns to shareholders.

The directors have not included any further information on the likely 
developments or expected future results of the Group’s operations, as the 
directors have reasonable grounds to believe that such information would 
prejudice the interests of the Group if it were included.

10. ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION PERFORMANCE

The Group’s environmental obligations are regulated under both federal 
and state law including the reporting requirements of the National 
Greenhouse Energy Reporting Act 2007. Under the Act, the Group must 
report annually on its greenhouse gas emissions, energy production and 
energy use. The Group does not own or operate any facilities above the 
emissions threshold in the Clean Energy Act 2012 and therefore is not 
liable to pay a direct carbon price. All exposure to price rises as a result 
of the carbon price in Australia will continue to be monitored through our 
supply chain.

Environmental performance obligations are monitored by the Health, 
Safety, Security & Environment Committee and are subjected from time 
to time to internal and external independent audit. The Group has a 
policy of complying with, and in most cases exceeding, its environmental 
performance obligations. Based on the results of enquiries made, the 
directors are not aware of any material breaches of environmental 
legislation during the reporting period.

11. DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE

Under its Constitution, the Company has agreed to indemnify on a full 
indemnity basis, and to the full extent permitted by law, each director and 
executive officer for all losses or liabilities incurred by the person as an 
officer of the Company or of a related body corporate including, but not 
limited to, liability for negligence or for reasonable costs and expenses 
incurred:

•  in defending proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment 
is given in favour of the person or in which the person is acquitted; or

•  in connection with an application, in relation to such proceedings, 
in which the court grants relief to the person under the Corporations 
Act 2001.

The indemnity:

•  is a continuing obligation and is enforceable by an indemnified person 
even though that person may have ceased to be an officer of the 
Company or of a related body corporate; and

•  applies to all losses and liabilities incurred to the extent that the loss or 
liability is not covered by insurance.

During the financial period, the Company or a related body corporate paid 
an insurance premium in respect of a contract insuring directors and 
officers against liabilities (including costs and expenses) arising from the 
performance of their duties.

The directors have not included the details of the nature of the liabilities 
covered or the amount of the premium paid in respect of these insurance 
contracts, as such disclosure is prohibited under the terms of the contract.
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CHAIRMAN’S LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present UGL’s 2012 Remuneration Report.

One of the primary responsibilities of the Board and senior management is to successfully deliver UGL’s fundamental strategy of growing earnings over a 
sustained period of time to create value for our shareholders. UGL’s approach to remuneration has been, and continues to be, aligned with our strategy and 
focus on creating shareholder value as demonstrated by our strong performance track record.

Over the last decade, UGL has achieved sustained earnings growth and delivered returns to our shareholders well in excess of the broader market. 
Underlying EPS has grown at a cumulative average growth rate of 16.1 per cent, from 22.7 cents per share to 101.3 cents per share. Our total return to 
shareholders has grown at a cumulative average growth rate of 19.9 per cent compared to 6.9 per cent for S&P/ASX 200.

Our growth over the last decade has been achieved by identifying and capturing unique market opportunities which have transformed UGL into a complex 
and diverse global company with operations in 52 countries and a workforce of over 56,000 people. Our unique business platform, while one of UGL’s key 
strengths, has also become one of our key challenges. As a result of this challenge, our ability to attract, retain and reward high quality leaders is critical 
to our continued success. The Board is mindful of ensuring that our remuneration practices support this objective to the benefit of our shareholders.

At our Annual General Meeting last October, 30 per cent of the vote we received from shareholders did not support the 2011 Remuneration Report. 
A number of concerns were raised by shareholders and stakeholder advisory groups in relation to our remuneration practices and the disclosure of our 
incentive arrangements.

To better understand these concerns and ensure the Board’s objectives were well communicated, the Board significantly increased its engagement with 
our key shareholders and stakeholder advisory groups. Following this engagement process, we understand that:

•  we need to continue to review our remuneration practices and disclosures in the context of stakeholder and market expectations;

•  it is our responsibility to better communicate the rationale and value of our remuneration strategies to our key stakeholders; and

•  we need to continue to engage with our stakeholders to better allay any concerns by explaining our objectives and how the remuneration outcomes 
each year relate to our performance and delivery of shareholder value.

With this in mind, our 2012 Remuneration Report has been developed to outline the value of our remuneration strategies in what we hope are simple, 
clear terms and provide an explanation of the link between the remuneration outcomes against the delivery of set objectives which support our strategy. 
The report also seeks to provide better context in relation to some of our historical remuneration arrangements, including those agreed with the Managing 
Director & CEO in 2009.

UGL remains focused on delivering sustainable value for our shareholders. Ensuring we maintain an executive remuneration framework which aligns with 
this objective continues to be a key priority for the Board. The Board recognises that it is our responsibility to maintain shareholder confidence in our 
leadership of UGL and our remuneration practices, and to this end we value your feedback and look forward to welcoming you to our 2012 AGM.

Yours faithfully

Trevor C Rowe AO 
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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12. REMUNERATION REPORT
12.1 Remuneration Report (Audited)
This report details the remuneration arrangements of Key Management 
Personnel (KMP) for the 2012 financial year. KMP are individuals who have 
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
major activities of the Group, directly or indirectly. KMP comprises 
directors of the Company and executives of the Group.

For the purposes of this report, ‘executive’ refers to the Managing Director 
& CEO and senior executives.

Table 1: Key Management Personnel for the 2012 financial year
  DATE INDIVIDUAL 

  BECAME A KMP 

NAME TITLE (AT YEAR END) (IF PARTIAL YEAR)

Non-executive Directors

Mr T Rowe AO Chairman

Mr G Cowan Non-executive Director

Mr R Denham Non-executive Director 20.02.2012

Mr R Humphry AO Non-executive Director

Mr J Ingram AM Non-executive Director

Ms K Spargo Non-executive Director

Mr R White Non-executive Director

  DATE INDIVIDUAL 

  BECAME A KMP 

NAME TITLE (AT YEAR END) (IF PARTIAL YEAR)

Executive Director

Mr R Leupen Managing Director &  
 Chief Executive Officer 
 (Managing Director & CEO)

Senior executives

Mr R Bonaccorso Chief Financial Officer

Mr W Nolan Group President Engineering 08.02.2012

Mr R Shibuya Group President Property

Mr A Summers UGL Group President

Mr M Wandmaker Group President Operations &  
 Maintenance 01.05.2012

  DATE INDIVIDUAL 

  CEASED AS KMP 

NAME TITLE (IF PARTIAL YEAR)

Former senior executive
Mr D Simpson Chief Executive, UGL Resources 08.02.2012

12.2 Key developments snapshot for 2012
Further to the Chairman’s letter and in response to key concerns raised on our 2011 Remuneration Report at the 2011 AGM and in broader consultation with 
stakeholders, the Board’s proposed key actions and comments are summarised in Table 2 below.

Table 2: 2012 key developments

ITEM UGL’S KEY ACTION/COMMENT MORE DETAILS (PAGE)

Improved engagement with shareholder 
groups

The Board significantly increased its engagement with key stakeholders to better understand 
their concerns. Representatives from the Board and management met with key stakeholders 
over the last six months as part of this process.

N/A

Structure and quantum of the current 
Managing Director & CEO remuneration

The Managing Director & CEO’s remuneration arrangements were contractually agreed in 2009 
and will expire in March 2014.

The Board is committed to reflecting contemporary market practice in the remuneration 
arrangements of the successor Managing Director & CEO.

41-42

SHORT TERM INCENTIVES (STI)

STI measures and how they link to 
company performance*

The Board believes that UGL’s incentive schemes incorporate performance measures that align 
with business strategy and require superior performance before payments are earned.

For senior executives, the use of EBIT as a gateway to the STI links to our overall strategy and 
allows the Group to ensure the payments are affordable. Achievement of the gateway hurdle 
does not automatically provide an STI payment to senior executives. Once the hurdle is met, 
senior executives are assessed against a range of financial and non-financial targets to 
determine actual payments.

50% of the STI is deferred into UGL shares that are restricted for two years, subject to 
continued employment. This provides senior executives with further exposure to share price 
movements during the deferral period and acts as a retention mechanism.

42-45

Disclosure of return on funds employed 
within the Annual Report

In the Remuneration Report, UGL discloses measures of company performance most relevant to 
the executive remuneration arrangements.

However, the Board does not consider it appropriate to disclose commercially sensitive 
performance measures such as return on funds employed and therefore this measure is not 
disclosed in the Annual Report.

N/A

Improving STI reporting To further assist shareholders in understanding the link between pay against performance, and 
eliminate reporting lag, we have amended the disclosure of our STI awards. Effective this report, 
the STI outcomes and company performance relate to the same periods.

42-45

LONG TERM INCENTIVES (LTI)

Payment of dividends on unvested 
executive LTI awards

The Board has responded to shareholders and senior executives will not be entitled to receive 
dividends on future grants of LTI awards.

46-47

*  At the 2011 AGM, a question was raised in regard to the STI payment made to Mr Jon Birman, a former executive. Our approach to STI measures and how they link to performance are outlined above. In 
Mr Birman’s particular circumstances, the STI payment was considered reasonable and appropriate as it reflected his contribution to growing the Group’s maintenance business from $250m to $650m in the 
2010 financial year.
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Summary of actual performance for 2012
UGL enjoys a performance based culture, which the Board is committed to 
foster through an executive remuneration framework that is focused on 
driving company performance and linking executive pay to the achievement 
of the Company’s strategy and business objectives and, ultimately, 
generating returns for shareholders.

This section explains how UGL’s performance for the 2012 financial year 
has driven remuneration outcomes for senior executives.

Over the past five years, the Board has set challenging financial 
performance targets for management and has directly aligned executive 
incentives to the achievement of those targets. Put simply, where 
performance does not meet the challenging targets, executives derive 
no benefit from their ‘at risk’ incentive components.

During the 2012 financial year:

•  UGL’s performance has been stable during challenging market 
conditions and UGL has delivered a solid result with its eleventh 
consecutive year of underlying earnings growth.

• UGL’s relative TSR performance has been better than the S&P/ASX 200.

•  EBIT performance against gateway measure was achieved (greater 
than 90% of the global EBIT budget for the Group).

•  There was an improvement in global safety results in comparison to 
the previous financial year. Although, safety results for the Group were 
achieved, not all business units met individual safety targets set for the 
financial year.

•  Once the EBIT gateway was achieved, senior executives were evaluated 
against additional financial and non-financial targets.

This has resulted in the following outcomes:

•  Short term awards vested in the range of 30%-88% of target for the 
senior executives and 69% for the Managing Director & CEO.

•  During the 2012 financial year, 100,000 options issued to Mr Summers 
in 2005 vested and were exercised at $10.83 per share. 
The performance hurdles for these options were as follows:

 –  Reported EPS for the 2011 financial year had to be greater than 
81.14 cents. This represented compound annual growth of 13% 
from the base year of 30 June 2005.

 –  UGL’s TSR as measured by the change in value of its cumulative 
index for each earnings period, relative to the S&P/ASX Industrials 
200 Accumulation index, must be better than the change in value 
of the S&P/ASX Industrials 200 Accumulation index.

•  No other options vested during the financial year. The performance 
targets for these options are discussed under the heading “Legacy 
Arrangement – share option grant” on page 48.

•  In 2009, UGL awarded performance shares under the Share Retention 
Incentive to senior executives. The shares were issued for no 
consideration and the senior executives were entitled to vote and 
receive dividends in respect of the shares which were subject to a 
service based vesting condition which were met on 11 December 2011.

Accounting standards require that the expense relating to equity 
instruments (such as the performance shares and options allocated under 
the long term incentive plan) be reflected over the ‘performance period’, 
notwithstanding that the executives may never receive any actual value 
from such a grant (as disclosed in Table 12).

The following table (Table 3) has been included voluntarily to give 
shareholders a better understanding of the amounts the Managing Director 
& CEO and other senior executives actually received (or were entitled to 
receive following vesting) for each component of remuneration during the 
2012 financial year.

2012 developments
We have included a ‘take home pay’ table to assist shareholders in
better understanding the value executives actually derived from the
various components of their remuneration during 2012.

Table 3: Remuneration earned by UGL’s executives in relation to the  
2012 financial year (unaudited)
 FIXED 

 REMUNERATION 

 (INCLUDING SUPER) CASH STI1 LTI2 RETENTION3 TOTAL

Executives

Mr R Leupen 2,066,154 1,806,000 – – 3,872,154

Mr R Bonaccorso 741,600 259,850 – 308,750 1,310,200

Mr W Nolan4 619,227 237,800 – – 857,027

Mr R Shibuya 626,654 192,424 – – 819,078

Mr A Summers 1,020,730 156,125 308,047 617,500 2,102,402

Mr M Wandmaker4 290,167 94,700 – – 384,867

Former executive

Mr D Simpson4 383,933 – – 617,500 1,001,433

1.  Cash STI represents cash payments to be made in relation to the 2012 financial year – no Deferred 
STI amounts or MTI amounts vested during the year.

2.  The value of LTI represents the difference between the option exercise price and the UGL share 
price at the date of exercise.

3.  Under the Share Retention Incentive, Mr Bonaccorso received 25,000 shares, Mr Summers 
received 50,000 shares and Mr Simpson received 50,000 shares, vesting on completion of three 
years continued employment. The value is based on the UGL share price at date of vesting.

4.  Mr Nolan’s & Mr Wandmaker’s fixed remuneration (salary and superannuation) represents 
amounts received during the year and includes periods prior to designation as KMP. Mr Simpson’s 
fixed remuneration includes amounts received until the period he ceased being a KMP.

12.3 Remuneration governance (audited)
The Board is responsible for ensuring UGL’s remuneration strategy aligns 
with company performance and shareholder interests, and allows UGL to 
attract and retain high calibre individuals who contribute to the Group’s 
long term success.

The Board’s Nomination & Remuneration Committee, comprising solely of 
Non-executive Directors, assists it in discharging its duties.

The Nomination & Remuneration Committee is responsible for making 
recommendations in relation to director and executive remuneration, and 
its responsibilities include annually reviewing UGL’s remuneration strategy 
and policy, the remuneration of executives and performance indicators as 
set by the Board. Further information on the role of the Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee is discussed in the statement of corporate 
governance practices.

The Nomination & Remuneration Committee engages independent 
remuneration consultants to provide advice and market related information 
as required. The Board has appointed Egan Associates as the Company’s 
principal remuneration adviser.

During the 2012 financial year, UGL received ‘remuneration 
recommendations’ (as defined in the Corporations Act) from Egan 
Associates in relation to the Managing Director & CEO’s remuneration and 
remuneration outcomes.

Egan Associates provided a formal declaration confirming that the 
recommendations provided were free from ‘undue influence’ by the 
members of the KMP to whom the recommendations related and, on this 
basis, the Board is satisfied that the recommendations were made free 
from any undue influence. The Managing Director & CEO was not involved 
in the selection and appointment of Egan Associates or in the development 
of any advice in relation to his role.

The Committee also received advice from Egan Associates in regard to 
matters relating to UGL’s executive remuneration strategy and the 2012 
Remuneration Report. The additional advice did not constitute a 
remuneration recommendation.

As required to be disclosed by the Corporations Act, within the context 
of the work described above, fees paid to Egan Associates for the 
remuneration recommendations were $5,460 (excluding GST) and the fees 
for other advice were $21,420 (excluding GST).

In addition to the above, market insight and governance information 
regarding Non-executive Director and executive remuneration was also 
received from Ernst & Young.
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12.4 Executive remuneration philosophy and framework
Remuneration policy
UGL aims to remunerate executives fairly, responsibly and competitively for their contributions to the business.

In line with this objective, UGL’s policy is to position executive total remuneration levels at the median of the relevant market. Executive pay levels are 
determined based on a combination of external benchmarks, assessment of individual performance and internal relativities.

External benchmarks are based on remuneration practices of companies with size and complexity similar to UGL, and include data relating to the 
Australian, Asia-Pacific, European and North American markets. Given the complexity and diversity of UGL’s business, a number of comparator groups are 
used for analysis of executive remuneration levels. Examples include specific ASX Industrials comparisons, targeted comparator information for global 
property services companies and engineering contracting comparators.

2012 executive remuneration framework
Supporting achievement of UGL’s business objectives is the cornerstone of our approach to executive remuneration. Through the use of market 
competitive remuneration linked to performance, we reward individuals for contributions to sustained company performance and delivery of shareholder 
value.

The Board considers that a significant portion of executive remuneration should be ‘at risk’ in order to support this framework.

Alignment of UGL’s executive remuneration framework with its business objectives over one, two and four year time horizons is shown in Diagram 1.

Diagram 1: UGL’s remuneration framework and its link to company performance

Business objective

To deliver superior, sustainable and responsible wealth creation to UGL shareholders by focusing on quality of earnings, exceptional customer service, disciplined 
financial and risk management and technology leadership. This focus is supported by our strong culture and values which are driven by our leadership team and 

entrenched within our global workforce.

Remuneration strategy, objectives and approach

Align executive remuneration with UGL’s 
performance and the creation of shareholder 

wealth.

Deliver a market competitive remuneration 
framework to attract, motivate and retain key talent 
– position total remuneration levels at the median of 

the relevant market.

Remuneration elements

Total employment cost (TEC)

•  Base level of remuneration that is reviewed 
annually.

•  Positioned at the median of the comparable 
market, being companies of similar size and 
complexity to UGL, and having regard to data 
relating to the Australian, Asia-Pacific, European 
and North American markets.

•  Varies based on the individual’s experience, 
skills and performance and the ability to retain 
key talent.

Short-term incentive (STI)

•  Award opportunity for the achievement of 
one year performance objectives linked to UGL’s 
business strategy and annual goals.

•  In general, no value is derived unless the 
gateway and financial and non-financial 
measures are met.

STI deferral

•  Deferral of half of the STI award provided to 
senior executives into UGL shares which are 
restricted for two years and subject to continued 
employment provides alignment with 
shareholder interests and enhances retention of 
key talent.

Medium-term 
incentive opportunity (MTI)

•  Share award provided to senior executives (to 
maximum value of 25% of the total STI award 
earned) may be made on achievement of 
challenging EBIT growth targets over a two year 
performance period, provided the executive 
remains employed with UGL.

•  Encourages executives to achieve sustained 
financial performance and increases their equity 
exposure.

Long-term incentive (LTI)

•  Award opportunity for the achievement of four 
year performance objectives.

•  No value is derived unless UGL meets or exceeds 
challenging total shareholder return (TSR) and 
earnings per share (EPS) growth performance 
conditions.

•  Grant of equity awards aligns shareholder and 
executive interests, enhances retention of key 
talent and focuses executives on long-term, 
sustainable business performance.
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Remuneration mix
The ratio between executive fixed and at risk pay incentivises executives to focus on UGL’s short, medium and long term performance. Diagram 2 shows the 
executives’ target remuneration mix for the 2012 financial year.

Diagram 2: Executive remuneration mix (as a percentage of target total remuneration)

0% 20% 40% 60%

Fixed      At Risk

80% 100%

Managing Director & CEO

23% 77%

0% 20% 40% 60%

Fixed      At Risk

80% 100%

35% 65%

Linking performance and pay
Our executive incentive arrangements directly link creation of shareholder value, sustained company performance and employee remuneration by 
requiring achievement against a number of performance-related goals, many of which directly impact shareholder wealth. Diagram 3 shows the 
relationship between performance and pay under UGL’s incentive arrangements.

Diagram 3: UGL’s approach to linking performance and pay

STI (Managing Director & CEO)

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

EPS Non-

Deferred STI

*  As the Succession Incentive grant relates only to the Managing Director & CEO, it has not been included in this diagram. The LTI grant for the Managing Director & CEO vests in March 2014 i.e. 4 years and 
9 months.
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Overview of Company performance
UGL’s business strategy continues to focus on delivering sustainable returns for its shareholders. Despite the challenging global economic conditions of 
the last few years, UGL’s resilient business model has continued to deliver stable earnings and profitable growth. We anticipate global economic uncertainty 
will continue to generate headwinds however, our diverse global platform and risk management framework ensures we are well positioned to respond to 
these challenges.

Key performance metrics for UGL are shown below and reflect the sustained performance of the Group over the long term. Diagram 4 demonstrates UGL’s 
sustained growth in underlying NPAT and underlying EPS. Diagrams 5 & 6 highlight the strong returns to shareholders with consistent payout of 
approximately 70% of underlying earnings and outperformance against the S&P/ASX 200.

Diagram 4: Underlying NPAT & Underlying EPS Diagram 5: Dividends per share Diagram 6: Total Shareholder Return
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Table 4: Historical key financial performance measures
 FY2012 FY2011 FY2010 FY2009 FY2008

Underlying net profit after tax and non-controlling interests $168.3m $164.4m $151.1m $150.3m $136.1m

Underlying earnings per share 101.3c 99.0c 91.7c 91.9c 84.9c

Return on equity (annualised) 11.6% 13.6% 12.5% 12.7% 12.4%

Dividends per share – fully franked 70c 70c 64c 64c 58c

Increase/(Decrease) in share price ($1.47) $0.33 $3.20 ($1.96) ($4.34)

Table 5: Cumulate Average Growth Rates of financial performance
CUMULATIVE AVERAGE GROWTH RATE (CAGR) 1 YEAR 3 YEARS 10 YEARS

Underlying net profit after tax and non-controlling interests 2% 4% 26%

Underlying earnings per share 2% 3% 16%

Dividends per share – fully franked 0% 3% 21%

Underlying net profit after tax and non-controlling interests is adjusted for 
acquisition related costs, restructuring costs and the amortisation of 
acquired intangibles. The Board believes that underlying NPAT and 
underlying EPS provide a more accurate comparison of operating 
performance for shareholders as the adjustments reflect costs incurred by 
the Group which are associated with business acquisitions and 
restructuring costs.

12.5 Executive remuneration
This section describes the executive remuneration arrangements during 
the 2012 financial year.

2012 developments
Following feedback received from shareholders last year, we have 
sought to provide further context in relation to the contractual
arrangements agreed with the Managing Director & CEO in 2009.

Managing Director & CEO arrangements
As noted in the Chairman’s letter to shareholders, UGL and its management 
team have been successful in delivering on our corporate strategy under 
the leadership of the Managing Director & CEO over the last twelve years. 
Our long term shareholders have been the beneficiaries of this success. 
Over the last 12 years:

•  we have grown by market capitalisation from a $99 million domestic 
company to a $2.1 billion global company;

•  annual underlying revenue has grown from $754 million to $4.8 billion; 
and

•  underlying EPS has grown at a cumulative average growth rate of 16% 
– from 17.5 cents per share to 101.3 cents per share.

In 2009, recognising Mr Leupen’s nine year tenure and strong performance 
in creating shareholder value, the Board entered into a fixed term contract 
with him in order to secure his leadership for a further five years and to 
ensure a suitable successor was put in place. The Board received 
independent advice in relation to remuneration quantum and structure, 
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having regard to contemporary market practice at the time. The Managing 
Director & CEO’s contract is for a fixed term, and expires on 31 March 2014.

On entering into the contract, in recognition of market practice at that 
time, Mr Leupen agreed to:

•  reduce his fixed remuneration from (as it was then) $2.6 million to 
$2 million;

•  increase the focus on performance related remuneration; and

•  a reduction in his termination entitlements (i.e. from 18 months’ salary 
to 12 months’ salary).

Mr Leupen also continues to maintain a significant shareholding in the 
Company, a proportion of which was acquired through personal investment, 
strategically aligning himself with shareholders and the overall success of 
the Group.

In return, the key terms of the contract agreed were:

•  Mr Leupen’s TEC was fixed for the first two years, and annually 
reviewed thereafter (see further ‘Total employment cost’ section, 
below) during the life of the contract;

•  details of short and long term incentives were set out in the contract, 
linked to the delivery of business plans, ongoing creation of value and 
management of key strategic issues. As such, Mr Leupen does not 
participate in UGL’s senior executive STI and LTI plans, and the terms 
that apply to him differ slightly from those that apply to the executives 
generally; and

•  Mr Leupen is entitled to a ‘succession incentive award’.

While it is not common practice now to award separate incentives for 
succession planning, it was considered appropriate at the time of entering 
into Mr Leupen’s contract in 2009 to provide such an incentive given the 
period of growth and changes undertaken by the Group to diversify its 
business model – from a domestic, engineering services company to a 
multinational leader in outsourced engineering, property services and 
asset management and maintenance. Finding the right successor to 
Mr Leupen will be critical to the Group’s ongoing success and ability to 
continue to make satisfactory returns to shareholders.

Under the terms of his 2009 employment contract, during each financial 
year between 2009 and 2014 (inclusive), Mr Leupen is granted a succession 
incentive award in the form of performance shares, to the value of 
$500,000 (except for the 2009 financial year, where the succession 
incentive award was equal to $421,466). Mr Leupen is eligible to receive 
dividends on the performance shares during the vesting period and is 
entitled to voting rights.

The succession incentive awards vest on 31 March 2014 based on 
achievement of the following conditions:

•  Mr Leupen’s continued service with the Company through to the end of 
his contract term (which expires on 31 March 2014); and

•  The Board’s assessment of reasonable satisfaction of the succession 
planning conditions, which include:

 –  developing the strength and depth of Group senior management 
and direct reports;

 –  assisting the Board with finding an appropriate successor for the 
role of Managing Director & CEO;

 –  providing annual progress reviews and half-yearly updates on the 
succession planning tasks set by the Board; and

 –  succession planning tasks were set by the Board and include 
identification of potential external and internal candidates.

During the 2012 financial year, the Board received regular updates and is 
satisfied with the progress reviews on succession planning efforts.

The Board is confident that UGL has the right leader in place, and intends 
to honour the Company’s pre-existing contractual arrangements with the 
Managing Director & CEO until expiry of the contract in March 2014.

At the time of appointment of a successor for Mr Leupen, the Board will, in 
accordance with its commitment to shareholders, review both the quantum 
and structure of remuneration arrangements in light of the prevailing 
market. It will also consider the contemporary governance environment 
to determine the appropriate terms for Mr Leupen’s successor.

2012 developments
For the successor CEO, the Board is committed to reflecting the
relevant remuneration practices at the time of appointment.

Total employment cost (TEC)
All executives receive a TEC component of remuneration, the basis for 
which is set out in Diagram 1.

TEC includes base salary, non-monetary benefits and superannuation. 
Executives may sacrifice part of their base salary for alternative benefits 
including additional superannuation and motor vehicles.

TEC of senior executives is reviewed annually based on role, external 
benchmarks, individual performance assessment and consideration of the 
relativities among other company executives. Independent advice from 
external consultants is sought as part of the review process. During the 
2012 financial year, the average increase in TEC for senior executives was 
4%, effective from 1 October 2011.

Mr Leupen’s remuneration arrangements are provided for in his fixed 
term contract, which was entered into in 2009 and expires in March 2014. 
Under the agreement, Mr Leupen was entitled to receive TEC (excluding 
non-monetary benefits) of $2,000,000 per annum, which was fixed until 
4 September 2011. Following this date, Mr Leupen’s TEC is adjusted annually 
in accordance with the average percentage increase in senior executive 
TEC that financial year. For the 2012 financial year, Mr Leupen received an 
increase in his TEC (excluding non-monetary benefits) of 4%.

While Mr Leupen’s TEC is above the median of UGL’s peers by market 
capitalisation, as a complex, international organisation, market 
capitalisation does not of itself provide a direct comparison. In addition 
to market capitalisation, a number of other comparator groups (including 
specific ASX Industrials comparisons, targeted comparator information for 
global property services companies) have been considered in analysing 
executive remuneration levels. The Board is also cognisant that over the 
last 12 years, under Mr Leupen’s leadership, UGL has generated total 
returns to shareholders at a cumulative average growth rate of 27% – 
well in excess of the 8% cumulative average growth rate of the 
S&P/ASX 200 over the same period.

Short-term incentive (STI)
Key features of the STI scheme are outlined in Table 6.

Table 6: Key features of the STI

Overview of the STI

What is the STI and who participates? An annual ‘at risk’ incentive scheme linked to the achievement of specific annual financial and non-financial targets. Each 
year, executives may receive an award that is, in general, a combination of cash and restricted shares if the performance 
measures are achieved.

All executives (including the Managing Director & CEO) participate in the STI.

The terms of the STI applicable to the Managing Director & CEO were agreed in 2009, and are set out in his employment 
contract. To the extent that they differ from the senior executives’ awards, they are separately outlined below.

Why does the Board consider the 
STI appropriate?

The STI focuses executives on the achievement of UGL’s annual targets and key business objectives and core values.

How much can executives earn? Each senior executive’s STI opportunity is capped at 100% of their TEC.

The Managing Director & CEO’s STI opportunity is capped at 125% of his TEC.
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Gateway and performance conditions

Is there a ‘gateway’? In general, yes, the gateway measure requires UGL to meet 90% of its global EBIT budget for the financial year before any 
entitlement to an STI award arises for senior executives.

The above gateway was not agreed as part of the Managing Director & CEO’s STI arrangements, however, the Board 
considers that the financial performance measures that apply to his STI are appropriate and sufficiently challenging. If a 
relevant financial measure is not met, no benefit accrues to the Managing Director & CEO in respect of that component of 
the STI.

Achievement of the gateway does not automatically entitle senior executives to an STI award. Financial and non-financial 
performance measures must also be met to earn an STI payment.

In order to support the importance that the Board places on safety in the workplace at UGL, the portion of the STI payment 
subject to the safety measure (10% of senior executives’ STI opportunity) is not subject to the gateway.

What are the performance conditions? Measures Managing Director & CEO Senior executives

Group financial measures

70% of STI opportunity

Assessed against:

•  EPS against budget (54% of target 
STI opportunity);

•  budgeted return on funds 
employed (ROFE) (8% of target STI 
opportunity);

•  budgeted net cash flow (4% of 
target STI opportunity); and

•  EBIT ratio to total sales (4% of 
target STI opportunity) must 
exceed prior year.

Assessed against:

•  Group EBIT/Divisional EBIT; and

•  Group operating cash flow.

Non-financial measures

30% of STI opportunity

Assessed against measures including:

•  achievement of safety record;

•  establishment of strategic 
alliances; and

•  achievement of risk management 
and effective capital management 
benchmarks.

Assessed against measures including:

•  achievement of key strategic 
initiatives or accommodation of key 
organisational risks; and

•  safety measures.

Setting and assessing performance

Who sets and assesses performance? The Managing Director & CEO sets the annual STI performance measures for the senior executives.

The Managing Director & CEO recommends each senior executive’s annual STI payment based on an assessment against 
performance measures. Senior executive STI payments are reviewed by the Nomination & Remuneration Committee.

The Nomination & Remuneration Committee in accordance with its responsibilities, assesses the Managing Director & CEO 
performance against set financial and non-financial measures, and makes a recommendation to the Board regarding the 
annual STI payment for the Managing Director & CEO.

How is the STI delivered? If the performance conditions are achieved, half of the STI award is paid in cash, and the other half is awarded as UGL shares, 
that are restricted for two years subject to the executive remaining employed.

Why was STI deferral introduced? As the deferred shares have been earned, senior executives are entitled to receive dividends on shares during the two-year 
restriction period. Senior executives are also entitled to voting rights during the restriction period.

Deferral of half of the STI payment into shares aligns shareholder and senior executives’ interests with UGL (as the shares 
are subject to share price movements over the period) and enhances retention of key talent (as, in general, the shares are 
forfeited if an executive leaves during the deferral period).

STI deferral was not agreed as part of the Managing Director & CEO’s STI arrangements. However, the Board considers 
Mr Leupen’s interests are aligned with those of shareholders and the overall success of the Group as a result of the 
significant shareholding in the Company that he holds, a proportion of which was acquired through personal investment.

Cessation of employment and change of control

What happens in the event of a change 
of control?

Generally, in the event of a takeover or change of control of the Company, the Board may determine to vest some or all of the 
shares under the STI deferral. In making such a determination, the Board will have regard to all relevant circumstances, 
including the performance up to the date of the determination and the portion of the performance period that has expired.

What happens in the event of cessation 
of employment?

In general, unvested STI awards are forfeited, unless the Board determines otherwise.

In most circumstances, STI is prorated for time and performance for the Managing Director & CEO’s awards.

2012 developments
Following feedback received from shareholders last year, to assist shareholders in understanding the link between pay and performance and eliminate
reporting lag, we have amended the manner in which the STI awards are disclosed (see Table 7) such that the STI payable and company performance
relate to the same periods.
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Table 7: STI for the 2012 financial year
    VESTED IN VESTING IN FORFEITED VALUE YET 

 CASH STI DEFERRED STI TOTAL STI THE YEAR FUTURE YEARS IN YEAR TO VEST 

 $ $ $ % % % MAX $

Executive Director

Mr R Leupen 1,806,000 – 1,806,000 69% – 31% –

Senior executives

Mr R Bonaccorso 259,850 259,850 519,700 34.5% 34.5% 31% 259,850

Mr W Nolan 125,842 125,842 251,684 44% 44% 12% 125,842

Mr R Shibuya 192,424 192,424 384,848 30% 30% 40% 192,424

Mr A Summers 156,125 156,125 312,250 15% 15% 70% 156,125

Mr M Wandmaker 34,436 34,436 68,872 32% 32% 36% 34,436

Former senior executive

Mr D Simpson – – – – – 100% –

Short term incentive payments for the 2012 financial year were determined based on senior executive performance against financial and non-financial 
targets. The Group achieved greater than 90% of budgeted EBIT and met the gateway hurdle for senior executives to be eligible for an STI. The table below 
provides a summary of how each senior executive’s STI was determined.

Table 8: STI and link to performance

EXECUTIVE

TOTAL SHORT-TERM 

INCENTIVE EARNED (A$)

PERCENTAGE OF MAXIMUM 

SHORT-TERM INCENTIVE 

PAYABLE LINK BETWEEN SHORT-TERM INCENTIVE AWARD AND PERFORMANCE

Mr R Leupen 1,806,000 69% Mr Leupen’s financial and non-financial targets are set out in his contract, a summary of which 
is contained in Table 6. An assessment against the STI measures as per Mr Leupen’s contract 
resulted in the following outcomes.

•  Mr Leupen partially met the financial hurdles required to deliver the financial component of 
his STI as set out in his contract. As a result, he will forfeit a portion of the financial 
component of his STI. The Board in its judgement determined that Mr Leupen has achieved 
the level of performance required to deliver the STI that relates to his non-financial incentive. 
In making this determination, the Board considered, amongst other things, Mr Leupen’s 
exceptional leadership and performance during challenging economic conditions, his effective 
management of risk and capital, and the critical role he played in the successful acquisition 
of DTZ.

Mr R Bonaccorso 519,700 69% •  Mr Bonaccorso partially met the targets required to deliver the financial component of his STI 
which is reflected in his STI outcome. In addition, the Board in conjunction with the Managing 
Director & CEO assessed Mr Bonaccorso’s performance against specific non-financial targets 
which included his performance during challenging economic conditions and his significant 
contribution to the successful acquisition of DTZ.

•  The overall safety target for the Group was achieved resulting in Mr Bonaccorso receiving his 
STI entitlement for his component.

 Mr W Nolan 251,684 88% Under Mr Nolan’s leadership, the Rail business exceeded the financial targets set for the 
financial year.

•  Mr Nolan exceeded his financial targets, which resulted in the full payment of his STI in 
relation to that component. The Board in conjunction with the Managing Director & CEO 
assessed Mr Nolan’s performance against specific non-financial targets set. This has resulted 
in Mr Nolan receiving a significant portion of his incentive for this component. The STI 
outcomes reflect Mr Nolan’s overall contribution during the financial year, including his strong 
leadership to drive the result achieved by the Rail business.

•  The safety target for the Rail business was not achieved and as a result Mr Nolan forfeits the 
safety component of his STI.

Mr R Shibuya 384,848 60% The Services business met the financial targets set for the financial year.

•  Mr Shibuya partially met the financial hurdles required to deliver the financial component of 
his STI. As a result, he will forfeit a portion of the financial component of his STI. The Board in 
conjunction with the Managing Director & CEO assessed Mr Shibuya’s performance against 
set non-financial targets, which included the successful acquisition and integration of DTZ, the 
development of a global technology platform and other strategic milestone objectives. This is 
reflected in his STI outcome for the financial year.

•  The safety target for the Services business was not achieved and Mr Shibuya forfeits the 
safety component of his STI.
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EXECUTIVE

TOTAL SHORT-TERM 

INCENTIVE EARNED (A$)

PERCENTAGE OF MAXIMUM 

SHORT-TERM INCENTIVE 

PAYABLE LINK BETWEEN SHORT-TERM INCENTIVE AWARD AND PERFORMANCE

Mr A Summers 312,250 30% •  For the majority of the financial year, Mr Summers’ was responsible for the Rail and 
Infrastructure businesses. Whilst the Rail business exceeded the financial targets set, the 
Infrastructure business did not meet the financial targets set for the payment of an STI.

•  As a result of the Infrastructure business failing to meet the financial hurdle set, the Board in 
conjunction with the Managing Director & CEO have determined that Mr Summers will forfeit a 
significant portion of his STI entitlement.

•  The safety target for the Rail and Infrastructure businesses was not achieved and 
Mr Summers forfeits the safety component of his STI.

Mr M Wandmaker 68,872 64% •  As Mr Wandmaker joined UGL on 16 January 2012, his STI has been determined based on his 
performance and contribution during the portion of the financial year in which he was 
employed.

•  In addition to relevant financial targets, the Board in conjunction with the Managing Director 
& CEO assessed Mr Wandmaker’s performance against a number of strategic milestones, 
including the successful set up of the Operations & Maintenance business. This is reflected in 
his STI outcome for the financial year.

Former senior executive

Mr D Simpson – – Mr Simpson forfeited his STI for the current year.

Medium-term incentive (MTI)
The Board considers it an important foundation of the executive 
remuneration framework that senior executives hold a significant number 
of UGL shares to encourage executives to behave like long-term ‘owners’.

In order to further encourage executives to achieve sustained financial 
performance and to increase their equity exposure, executives (other than 
the Managing Director & CEO who is not eligible to participate in the MTI) 
have an opportunity to receive shares up to a maximum value of 25% of 
any total STI award earned, provided challenging EBIT growth targets are 
achieved over a further two year performance period.

To set stretching goals for the senior executives, the Board takes into 
account the external business environment, business plans and strategies 
during the period.

Depending on their role, each executive’s MTI opportunities are subject to 
either a Group EBIT growth or Business Unit EBIT growth target over the 
two year performance period. The actual EBIT target figure varies for each 
senior executive. Table 9 below shows the relationship between EBIT 
performance and the value of the MTI delivered.

Table 9: MTI Performance Measures

COMPOUND ANNUAL EBIT GROWTH DURING  

THE TWO YEAR PERFORMANCE PERIOD MTI

Equal to or less than 5% None

Greater than 5%, but less than 10%  Value equal to 10%-25% of the STI 
earned, determined on a straight-line 
basis

10% or greater Value equal to 25% of the STI earned

The two year performance period in relation to the 2012 MTI will run from 
1 July 2012 to 30 June 2014. In addition to performance measures being 
achieved, senior executives must also be employed with the Group on 
1 September 2014, in order to be awarded shares.

Fully vested shares awarded under the MTI plan rank equally with ordinary 
shares of the Company.
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Long-term incentive (LTI)
Table 10 outlines the key features of the LTI plan during the 2012 financial year.

2012 developments
Following feedback from our 2011 AGM, we have reviewed our policy on the treatment of dividends on unvested LTI awards. As a result of this review,
senior executives will not be entitled to receive dividends on future LTI grants.

Table 10: Key features of the LTI

Overview of the LTI

What is the LTI and who participates? The LTI plan aligns executives’ long-term interests with those of shareholders by providing an allocation of equity awards 
which are subject to satisfaction of long term (in general, four years) performance conditions.

All executives (including the Managing Director & CEO) participate in the LTI.

The terms of the LTI applicable to the Managing Director & CEO were agreed in 2009, and are set out in his employment 
contract. To the extent that they differ from the senior executives’ awards, they are separately outlined below.

Why does the Board consider the 
LTI plan appropriate?

The LTI plan focuses executives on the long-term performance of the Group, and aligns executive rewards with sustained 
creation of shareholder value. The arrangement also encourages retention of key talent over the performance period.

What is awarded under the LTI plan? Senior executives receive an annual LTI award, which may comprise (at the election of the senior executive):

• performance shares;

• share options; or

• a mix of performance shares (50%) and share options (50%).

Selection of the LTI award vehicle does not impact the grant value of the LTI award, but does impact the number of 
instruments granted.

Pursuant to the terms of his contract, the Managing Director & CEO was granted 300,000 performance shares during the 
2012 financial year, the vesting of which is subject to achievement of the performance conditions set out below. Under his 
contract (due to expire in March 2014), the Managing Director & CEO is not due to receive any further LTI grants.

In the past, UGL has acquired shares on-market for the purposes of the grant of performance shares to the Managing 
Director & CEO, and so has not been required to obtain shareholder approval. The Board acknowledges comments made by 
some shareholders at its AGM last year that they would like to see UGL obtaining approval voluntarily, and will consider this 
in relation to future grants to executive directors.

Performance conditions

Over what period is performance 
measured?

LTI awards are subject to achievement of performance conditions over a four year period commencing 1 July in the year the 
award is granted.

The four year performance period for the LTI grant awarded during the 2012 financial year is 1 July 2011 to 30 June 2015.

The performance period for the Managing Director & CEO’s 2012 LTI award (together with the 2010 and 2011 grants) is 1 July 
2009 to 31 March 2014 i.e. just under five years.

What are the performance conditions? LTI awards are earned only upon achievement against two financial performance measures:

1. Relative TSR: 50% of the LTI grant; and

2. EPS: 50% of the LTI grant.
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How are the performance conditions 
assessed?

Relative TSR: UGL’s TSR is compared to the TSR of companies in the S&P/ASX 200 Industrials Accumulation Index at the 
beginning of the performance period.

EPS: UGL’s compound annual EPS growth rate is measured over the performance period.

• Relative TSR performance condition

 –  TSR is measured by the change in value of the Company’s cumulative index over the performance period compared 
to the median TSR of the comparator group over the same period. The comparator group consists of the companies 
in the S&P/ASX200 Industrials Accumulation index (ASX code XNJAI) as at the start of the performance period. 
The Board has the discretion to adjust the comparator group to take into account events including but not limited 
to takeovers, mergers or demergers that might occur during the performance period.

 TSR PERCENTILE % OF LTI ENTITLEMENT VESTING

 Below 50 Nil

 50 25%

 50 to 75 25% + 1% for every one percentile increase

 >75 50%

• EPS performance condition

 –  measured as the compound annual EPS growth over the performance period.

 EPS GROWTH PER ANNUM % OF LTI ENTITLEMENT VESTING

 Below 5% Nil

 5% 25%

 5% to 10% 5% for each additional 1% of growth

 >10% 50%

Why were the performance measures 
chosen?

Relative TSR and compound annual EPS growth were selected as the LTI performance measures because they provide a 
direct link between creation of shareholder value, UGL’s business objective and executive reward.

The Board considers these performance conditions to be appropriate because they ensure that a proportion of each 
executive’s remuneration is linked to the generation of profits (expressed on a per share basis) and shareholder value.

In particular, the use of a relative TSR based hurdle:

•  ensures alignment between comparative shareholder return and reward for the executive; and

•  provides a relative, external market performance measure, having regard to those companies with which the Group 
competes for capital, customers and talent.

An EPS growth based hurdle:

•  links executive reward to a fundamental indicator of financial performance; and

•  links directly to the Group’s long term objectives of maintaining and improving earnings.

The use of dual performance measures combines a strong external market based focus through share price growth and 
dividends (TSR), and a non-market based measure aimed at driving improved Company results and the creation of 
shareholder wealth (EPS).

Is performance subject to retesting? No, retesting of performance is not permitted.

Who assesses performance against 
targets?

The Nomination & Remuneration Committee based on independent external advice (relative TSR measure) and audited 
financial information (EPS measure) reviews performance against the LTI measures for the Managing Director & CEO. 
Seeking independent external advice and using audited financial information for measurement provides objectivity and 
independence from management influence.

Does the executive receive dividends 
and voting rights on unvested awards?

All LTI grants made prior to 1 July 2012 to senior executives are entitled to receive dividends on performance shares during 
the four year performance period. Dividends are not payable on options. Senior executives are entitled to voting rights on 
performance shares during the performance period.

Following feedback from our 2011 AGM, we have reviewed our policy on the treatment of dividends on unvested executive 
incentive awards. As a result of this review, senior executives will not be entitled to receive dividends on future grants of 
LTI awards.

Cessation of employment and change of controls

What happens in the event of a change 
of control?

Upon a change of control event, the Board may determine to vest some or all of the LTI awards. In making this determination, 
the Board will consider all relevant circumstances, including the performance against the TSR and EPS measures up to the 
date of the change of control event and the portion of the performance period that has expired.

The arrangements agreed with the Managing Director & CEO in 2009 provide that, upon a change of control event, the LTI 
awards vest pursuant to his contract.

What happens in the event of cessation 
of employment?

In general, unvested LTI awards are forfeited.

In limited circumstances, such as upon a senior executive’s death, serious injury or incapacity during the performance period 
or other reason approved by the Board, any unvested performance shares will vest at the end of the performance period if 
the relevant performance conditions have been satisfied. In addition, any vested share options may be exercised before the 
expiry date.

In most circumstances, the Managing Director & CEO’s LTI awards remain subject to performance conditions until the end of 
the performance period i.e. 31 March 2014.

Details of LTI awards made during the 2012 financial year are set out in Tables 16 and 17.
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Hedging, margin lending and insider trading policies
Hedging policy
UGL has the following policy regarding arrangements that limit risk 
attaching to equity instruments (commonly referred to as hedging):

•  Employees (including executive directors) and their closely related 
parties are prohibited from entering into a hedging arrangement in 
relation to an element of the employee’s remuneration that has not 
vested or has vested but remains subject to a holding lock; and

•  Non-executive Directors and their closely related parties are prohibited 
from entering into a hedging arrangement in relation to an element 
of the director’s remuneration that has not vested or has vested 
(irrespective of whether it remains subject to a holding lock).

Margin lending policy
Directors, officers and senior managers are prohibited from entering into 
margin loans or similar arrangements if the loan or other arrangement is 
secured by (among other things) securities in UGL that account for at least 
1% of its total issued capital. Where a margin loan or similar arrangement is 
in place, a director, officer or senior manager must not provide any inside 
information to the lender.

Insider trading policy
All employees are required to comply with insider trading laws when 
dealing in UGL securities. Directors, officers and senior executives are 
restricted from trading during ‘blackout’ periods occurring around the 
release of half-year and annual financial results. Trading is generally 
permitted at other times provided employees do not contravene the insider 
trading laws. Directors and senior executives (and their associates) are 
prohibited from engaging in short-term trading of UGL securities. In 
addition, directors and senior management must notify the Company 
Secretary before they or their associates buy or sell UGL securities.

The above is set out in the Company’s “Trading in Securities Policy” which 
is discussed in the statement of corporate governance practices. 
Compliance with this policy forms part of each employee’s contract of 
employment and any breach may result in dismissal.

Legacy arrangement – share option grants
Prior to the introduction of the current LTI scheme, UGL awarded share 
options under the LTI plan. The ability to exercise these options is 
conditional on UGL achieving the following performance hurdles during a 
three or five year performance period:

•  TSR is better than the S&P/ASX 200 Industrials Accumulation index; 
and

•  EPS growth of at least 12% per annum compound

The last grant of options with the above performance targets was made 
on 1 October 2008, with the last vesting date for these options being 
1 September 2013. During the 2012 financial year, UGL’s performance 
against the TSR and EPS measures for the performance period ended 
on 30 June 2011 resulted in no options vesting for executives other than 
Mr Summers.

Summary of service agreements
Managing Director & CEO
•  Termination by Mr Leupen: Mr Leupen must provide UGL 12 months’ 

notice if he intends to resign prior to 31 March 2014, and will receive 
a termination payment equal to 12 months’ TEC and vesting of the 
succession incentive (or a pro-rata reduced amount where termination 
occurs in the last year of his contract).

•  Termination by UGL due to fraud, dishonesty or a material breach of 
contract (that is not remedied): Mr Leupen will receive only his statutory 
entitlements and all unvested shares will be forfeited.

•  Termination due to other reasons by UGL: Mr Leupen will receive a 
termination payment equal to 12 months’ TEC and vesting of the 
succession incentive (or a pro-rata reduced amount where termination 
occurs in the last year of his contract).

Senior executives
No senior executive has a fixed-term contract. Termination provisions are 
summarised in Table 11.

Table 11: Senior executive termination provisions
  PERIOD OF NOTICE FROM 

SENIOR EXECUTIVE PERIOD OF NOTICE FROM GROUP THE SENIOR EXECUTIVE

Mr R Bonaccorso Six months’ notice  
 (or payment in lieu)  Six months’ notice

Mr W Nolan  Six months’ notice  
(or payment in lieu)  Six months’ notice

Mr R Shibuya  Six months’ notice  
(or payment in lieu)  Six months’ notice

Mr A Summers  Twelve months’ notice  
(or payment in lieu)   Six months’ notice

Mr M Wandmaker  Six months’ notice  
(or payment in lieu)  Six months’ notice

All contracts (including the Managing Director & CEO’s) provide that 
employment may be terminated without notice at any time for cause such 
as misconduct or fraud.
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Table 12 details the Group’s executive remuneration in accordance with the Corporations Act and accounting standards.

Table 12: Statutory executive remuneration
 SHORT-TERM POST-EMPLOYMENT SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TOTAL

              PROPOR-  

              TION OF  

              REMUN- VALUE OF 

              ERATION OPTIONS 

           VALUE OF   PERFORM- AS PRO- 

    NON-   RETIRE- TERMIN-   PERFOR-   ANCE- PORTION 

  SALARY STI CASH MONETARY SUB SUPER- MENT ATION SUB VALUE OF MANCE SUB  RELATED OF REM 

 YEAR AND FEES BONUS1 BENEFITS2 TOTAL ANNUATION BENEFITS BENEFITS TOTAL OPTIONS3 SHARES4 TOTAL $ % %

Executive Director

Mr R Leupen1 2012 2,050,379 1,806,000 110,077 3,966,456 15,775 –   –   15,775 –   2,089,924 2,089,924 6,072,155 64.2 –

Managing Director & CEO 2011 1,984,800 2,129,000 118,446 4,232,246 15,199 –   –   15,199 –   2,085,580 2,085,580 6,333,025 66.5 –

Senior executives

Mr R Bonaccorso 2012 725,825 259,850 4,564 990,239 15,775 –   –   15,775 206,388 348,908 555,296 1,561,310 52.2 13.2

Chief Financial Officer 2011 675,650 250,000 3,311 928,961 15,199 –   –   15,199 203,669 195,525 399,194 1,343,354 48.3 15.2

Mr W Nolan5

Group President 
Engineering 2012 253,427 125,842 1,431 380,700 6,573 –   –   6,573 21,659 82,659 104,318 491,591 46.8 4.4

Mr R Shibuya

Group President 2012 626,654 192,424 15,056 834,134 –   –   –   –   –   97,741 97,741 931,875 31.1 –

Property 2011 128,355 –   –   128,355 –   –   –   –   –   –   –   128,355 –   –

Mr A Summers

Group President 2012 1,004,955 156,125 15,478 1,176,558 15,775 –   –   15,775 33,330 523,694 557,024 1,749,357 40.8 1.9

UGL Group 2011 983,662 322,500 3,309 1,309,471 15,199 –   –   15,199 55,796 357,889 413,685 1,738,355 42.3 3.2

Mr M Wandmaker6 

Group President 
Operations &  
Maintenance 2012 105,704 34,436 612 140,752 2,629 –   –   2,629 –   –   –   143,381 24.0 –

Former senior executive

Mr D Simpson

Chief Executive 2012 374,731 –   6,808 381,539 9,202 –   –   9,202 6,555 44,317 50,872 441,613 11.5 1.5

UGL Resources 2011 261,334 117,500 1,380 380,214 7,118 –   –   7,118 50,887 217,908 268,795 656,127 58.9 7.8

Remuneration disclosures are for the period during which the person met the definition of key management personnel. Dates of individuals becoming or ceasing to be a KMP are disclosed in Table 1.
1.  Bonuses relate to short-term incentives. Disclosed for 2012 are bonuses payable for the 2012 financial year. Bonuses disclosed for 2011 are the bonuses payable for the 2011 financial year, paid in the 2012 

financial year. These bonuses represent the cash portion of the total STI award, which is paid 50% in cash and 50% in deferred performance shares which are subject to additional vesting hurdles. 
Mr Shibuya’s cash settled STI is payable in US$. The Managing Director & CEO received 100% of his bonus in cash.

2.  Non-monetary benefits include the cost to Company of fringe benefits tax (FBT), where applicable.
3.  The fair value of options is calculated at grant date using a binomial tree or Monte Carlo simulation options pricing model and allocated to each reporting period evenly over the period from grant date to 

vesting date. The value disclosed is the portion of the fair value of the options allocated to this reporting period.
4.  The fair value of performance shares is calculated at grant date using the fair value measured by reference to the vesting conditions specific to the grant, based on either the market price of the ordinary 

shares of UGL on the ASX at the grant date, or a binomial tree or Monte-Carlo simulation option-pricing model, and allocated to each reporting period evenly over the period from grant date to vesting date. 
The value disclosed is the portion of the fair value of the performance shares allocated to this reporting period.

5. Mr Nolan became a KMP on 8.02.2012 and the remuneration details as disclosed relates to the financial period when he was a KMP. 
6.  Mr Wandmaker became a KMP on 1.05.2012 and the remuneration details as disclosed relates to the financial period when he was a KMP.

12.6 Non-executive Director fees

Approach to setting Non-executive Director fees
UGL’s approach to Non-executive Director fees is designed to attract and retain suitably qualified and experienced individuals.

Non-executive Director fees are provided for under UGL’s Constitution, and are based on a fee for service. The Board determines Non-executive Director 
fees based on its policy of fees being at a level to attract and retain directors of the appropriate calibre, having regard to the roles and responsibilities of 
Non-executive Directors and external benchmarks. Fee arrangements are periodically reviewed by the Board to ensure continued alignment with the 
Company’s remuneration policy and external market practices. External benchmarks are based on board fee practices of companies with size and 
complexity similar to UGL, and include data relating to the Australian and North American markets. No changes were made to Non-executive Director fees 
during the 2012 financial year.

The aggregate annual fees payable to Non-executive Directors are limited to the maximum amount approved by shareholders. The maximum annual 
amount is currently $2,300,000 as approved by shareholders at the 2011 AGM, which includes superannuation contributions and the value of shares 
acquired under the Directors’ Share Plan.

Non-executive Director fee structure
Non-executive Directors receive a base fee plus a fee for membership or chairmanship of Board Committees. The Chairman, taking into account the greater 
time commitment required, receives a higher fee, but does not receive any additional fees for membership or chairmanship of Board Committees. 
Non-executive Directors receive compulsory superannuation contributions and participate in the Directors’ Share Plan. In order to maintain independence, 
Non-executive Directors do not participate in any performance-related incentive arrangements or incentive awards made to employees.

Table 13 sets out the fees policy for Non-executive Directors during the 2011 and 2012 financial years. These fees include compulsory superannuation 
contributions.
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Table 13: Non-executive Director Board and Committee fees
    HEALTH, SAFETY,    

    SECURITY & NOMINATION &  

   RISK & AUDIT ENVIRONMENT REMUNERATION BOARD 

  BOARD COMMITTEE COMMITTEE COMMITTEE SUB-COMMITTEE 

  ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

Chairman 2012 288,750 19,845 13,230 N/A1 N/A

 2011 288,750 19,845 13,230 N/A1 N/A

Members 2012 105,000 9,923 8,820 8,820 6,615

 2011 105,000 9,923 8,820 8,820 6,615

1.  The Nomination & Remuneration Committee is chaired by the Chairman of the Board who does not receive additional fees for Committee participation.

Directors’ Share Plan
In addition to the fees set out above, each Non-executive Director receives shares to the value of 30% of their gross fees per annum. Shares are purchased 
on market and must not be sold or transferred while the director remains in office, in order to maintain alignment with shareholders’ interests.

Total Non-executive Director fees
Non-executive Director fees are shown in Table 14, in accordance with statutory requirements and accounting standards for the 2012 and 2011 
financial years.

Table 14: Non-executive Director Remuneration
 SHORT-TERM POST-EMPLOYMENT TOTAL

   NON-  

  SALARY MONETARY SUB SUPER- OTHER TERMINATION SUB 

 YEAR AND FEES BENEFITS1 TOTAL ANNUATION BENEFITS2 BENEFITS TOTAL $

Mr T Rowe AO 2012 288,750 17,860 306,610 – 86,608 – 86,608 393,218

Chairman 2011 288,750 1,354 290,104 – 86,600 – 86,600 376,704

Mr G Cowan 2012 111,760 – 111,760 7,490 34,477 – 41,967 153,727

 2011 114,923 – 114,923 10,343 34,477 – 44,820 159,743

Mr B Denham 2012 35,074 – 35,074 3,157 11,405 – 14,562 49,636

Mr R Humphry AO 2012 124,845 161 125,006 – 37,454 – 37,454 162,460

 2011 124,845 204 125,049 – 37,454 – 37,454 162,503

Mr J Ingram AM 2012 148,867 161 149,028 – 40,100 – 40,100 189,128

 2011 118,470 204 118,674 – 40,100 – 40,100 158,774

Ms K Spargo 2012 111,482 – 111,482 8,855 37,123 – 45,978 157,460

 2011 76,516 – 76,516 9,213 25,846 – 35,059 111,575

Mr R White 2012 113,970 161 114,131 8,670 36,792 – 45,462 159,593

 2011 113,970 204 114,174 8,670 36,792 – 45,462 159,636

1. Non-monetary benefits include the cost to Company of fringe benefits tax (FBT), where applicable.
2. Other benefits are contributions to the Directors’ Share Plan.
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Additional statutory disclosures

Table 15: Outstanding share options granted as remuneration
Details on options over ordinary shares in the Group that were granted as remuneration to each director of the Group and relevant Group executives during 
the reporting period and details on options that vested, lapsed or were exercised during the reporting period are as follows:

  FAIR VALUE  FAIR EXERCISE  NUMBER OPTIONS   

 NUMBER GRANTED  VALUE AT PRICE  VESTED EXERCISED AMOUNT PAID EXERCISED 

 GRANTED DURING IN THE YEAR  GRANT DATE PER OPTION  DURING DURING PER SHARE IN THE YEAR 

 THE YEAR $ GRANT DATE $ $ EXPIRY DATE THE YEAR THE YEAR $ $

Executive Director

Mr R Leupen – – – – – – – – – –

Senior executives

Mr R Bonaccorso – – – – – – – – – –

Mr W Nolan – – – – – – – – – –

Mr R Shibuya – – – – – – – – – –

Mr A Summers – – – – – – 100,000 267,867 10.83 308,047

Mr M Wandmaker – – – – – – – – – –

Former senior executive

Mr D Simpson – – – – – – – – – –

All options refer to options over ordinary shares in the Company, exercisable on a one-for-one basis. All options expire on the earlier of their expiry date or 
termination of the individual’s employment. The ability to exercise options is conditional on continuing employment and the achievement of performance 
hurdles.

No options have been granted since the end of the financial year.

Table 16: Analysis of share options granted as remuneration
Details of the vesting profile of the options granted and held as at 30 June 2012 as remuneration to each director of the Group and relevant Group 
executives are presented in the table below:

     FINANCIAL 

     YEAR ENDED

  OPTIONS  % VESTED % FORFEITED IN WHICH GRANT

 NUMBER DATE IN YEAR IN YEAR1 MAY VEST

Executive Director

Mr R Leupen 750,000 17/12/2004 – – –

 540,000 13/10/2006 – 100% –

 810,000 13/10/2006 – 100% –

Senior executives

Mr R Bonaccorso 10,000 01/09/2007 – – 2013

 9,900 01/10/2008 – – 2014

 261,445 24/06/2010 – – 2015

Mr W Nolan 70,030 24/06/2010 – – 2015

Mr R Shibuya – – – – –

Mr A Summers 14,867 04/10/2005 – – –

 253,000 04/10/2005 33% – –

 35,890 01/09/2007 – – 2013

 35,428 01/10/2008 – – 2014

 40,747 20/12/2010   2015

Mr M Wandmaker2 – – – – –

Former senior executive

Mr D Simpson 122,757 14/06/2006 – 100% –

 20,706 01/09/2007 – 100% –

 23,106 01/10/2008 – 100% –

1. The options were forfeited due to the performance or service criteria not being met.
2. Mr Wandmaker became a KMP on 1 May 2012 and has not received any options.
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Table 17: Performance shares granted as remuneration
Details on performance shares granted over ordinary shares in the Company that were granted as remuneration to each director of the Company and 
relevant Group executives during the reporting period and details on performance shares that vested or lapsed during the reporting period are as follows:

  FAIR VALUE GRANTED  FAIR VALUE   

 NUMBER GRANTED DURING THE YEAR  AT GRANT DATE  NUMBER LAPSED 

 DURING THE YEAR $ GRANT DATE $ VESTING DATE DURING THE YEAR

Executive Director

Mr R Leupen 38,982 500,000 16/08/2011 12.83 31/03/2014 –

 300,0002 2,521,000 16/08/2011 8.40 31/03/2014 –

Senior executives

Mr R Bonaccorso 18,799 234,048 29/11/2011 12.45 01/10/2013 –

 43,013 470,358 29/11/2011 10.94 01/09/2015 –

Mr W Nolan 13,422 167,104 29/11/2011 12.45 01/10/2013 –

 37,599 411,145 29/11/2011 10.94 01/09/2015 –

Mr R Shibuya 3,759 46,800 29/11/2011 12.45 01/10/2013 –

 38,152 417,192 29/11/2011 10.94 01/09/2015 –

Mr A Summers 24,251 301,925 29/11/2011 12.45 01/10/2013 –

 55,240 604,049 29/11/2011 10.94 01/09/2015 –

Mr M Wandmaker1 – – – – – –

Former senior executive

Mr D Simpson 8,835 109,995 29/11/2011 12.45 01/10/2013 –

 36,805 402,464 29/11/2011 10.94 01/09/2015 –

1. Mr Wandmaker became a KMP on 1 May 2012 and has not received any performance shares.
2. For accounting purposes the performance shares granted to Mr Leupen are accounted for as an upfront grant on 24 June 2009 of 900,000 performance shares.



Annual Report 2012   53  

Table 18: Analysis of performance shares granted as remuneration
Details of the vesting profile of performance shares granted and held as at 30 June 2012 as remuneration to each director of the Company and relevant 
Group executives are presented in the table below.

     FINANCIAL YEAR  

 PERFORMANCE SHARES    ENDED IN WHICH VALUE YET TO VEST2

 NUMBER DATE % VESTED IN YEAR % FORFEITED IN YEAR1 GRANT MAY VEST MAX$3

Executive Director

Mr R Leupen 43,205 24/06/2009 – – 2014 536,174

 300,0004 19/08/2009 – – 2014 3,723,000

 36,242 19/08/2009 – – 2014 449,763

 300,0004 18/08/2010 – – 2014 3,723,000

 33,443 18/08/2010 – – 2014 415,028

 300,0004 16/08/2011 – – 2014 3,723,000

 38,982 16/08/2011 – – 2014 483,767

Senior executives

Mr R Bonaccorso 25,000 06/05/2009 100 – – –

 14,401 25/08/2010 – – 2013 178,716

 18,799 29/11/2011 – – 2014 233,296

 43,013 29/11/2011 – – 2016 533,791

Mr W Nolan 17,507 24/06/2010 – – 2015 217,262

 1,305 29/11/2011 – – 2016 16,195

 13,422 29/11/2011 – – 2014 166,567

 37,599 29/11/2011 – – 2016 466,604

Mr R Shibuya 3,759 29/11/2011 – – 2014 46,649

 38,152 29/11/2011 – – 2016 473,466

Mr A Summers 50,000 06/05/2009 100 – – –

 24,629 25/08/2010 – – 2013 305,646

 24,251 29/11/2011 – – 2014 300,955

 55,240 29/11/2011 – – 2016 685,528

Mr M Wandmaker5 – – – – – –

Former senior executive

Mr D Simpson 50,000 06/05/2009 100 – – –

 11,905 25/08/2010 – 100 – –

 6,083 20/12/2010 – 100 – –

 8,835 29/11/2011 – 100 – –

 36,805 29/11/2011 – 100 – –

1. The performance shares were forfeited due to the performance or service criteria not being met.
2. The minimum value of performance shares yet to vest is $nil as the performance criteria may not be met and consequently the performance shares may not vest.
3.  The maximum value of performance shares yet to vest is not determinable as it depends on the market price of ordinary shares of UGL on the ASX at the date the right vests. The maximum values presented 

above are based on the closing share price at 30 June 2012 of $12.41.
4. For accounting purposes the performance shares granted to Mr Leupen are accounted for as an upfront grant on 24 June 2009 of 900,000 performance shares.
5. Mr Wandmaker became a KMP on 1 May 2012 and has not received any performance shares.
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Table 19: Unquoted share options on issue as at date of this report
EXPIRY DATE EXERCISE PRICE NO. OF OPTIONS

31-Dec-12 $16.63 169,905

31-Dec-12 $18.26 477,492

31-Dec-13 $13.12 130,559

31-Dec-13 $13.30 55,582

31-Dec-15 $13.85 331,475

31-Dec-15 $14.59 149,330

31-Dec-15 $14.56 69,326

31-Dec-16 $11.49 703,273

  2,086,942

Further information on options can be found in Note 21 Share-based 
payments in the financial statements.

Table 20: Securities held by Directors
The directors have a relevant interest in the following number of shares in 
the Company as at the date of this report:

 NUMBER OF SHARES

Non-executive Director

Mr T Rowe AO – Chairman 129,075

Mr G Cowan 14,275

Mr R Denham 10,915

Mr R Humphry AO 178,017

Mr J Ingram AM 79,681

Ms K Spargo 20,721

Mr R White 37,329

Executive Director

Mr R Leupen 3,423,575

13. NON-AUDIT SERVICES

During the year KPMG, the Company’s auditor, has performed certain other 
services in addition to their statutory duties.

The Board has considered the non-audit services provided during the year 
by the auditor and, in accordance with advice provided by the Risk & Audit 
Committee is satisfied that the provision of those non-audit services during 
the year by the auditor is compatible with, and did not compromise, the 
auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the 
following reasons:

(a)  all non-audit services were subject to the corporate governance 
procedures adopted by the Group and have been reviewed by the Risk 
& Audit Committee to ensure they do not impact the integrity and 
objectivity of the auditor; and

(b)  the non-audit services provided do not undermine the general 
principles relating to auditor independence as set out in Professional 
Statement F1 Professional Independence, as they did not involve 
reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management 
or decision-making capacity for the Group, acting as an advocate for 
the Group or jointly sharing risks and rewards.

Details of the amounts paid to the auditor of the Company, KPMG, and its 
related practices for audit and non-audit services provided during the year 
are set out below:

 2012 2011 

  $

Amounts received or due and receivable by KPMG for:

Audit or review of the financial statements 2,173,596 2,058,958

Other services:

Taxation 148,472 142,294

Other 52,006 32,551

Sub total 200,478 174,845

Total 2,374,074 2,233,803

14. LEAD AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

The lead auditor’s independence declaration is set out on page 55 
and forms part of the Directors’ Report for the financial year ended 
30 June 2012.

15. ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS

The Company is of the kind specified in Australian Securities & Investments 
Commission Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998. In accordance with 
that class order, amounts in the financial report and the Directors’ Report 
have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars unless specifically 
stated to be otherwise.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

 
Trevor C Rowe AO Richard A Leupen 
Chairman Managing Director & CEO

Dated at Sydney this 10th day of August 2012.
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Lead auditor’s independence declaration Under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001

To: the directors of UGL Limited

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the financial year ended 30 June 2012 there have been:

(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

KPMG

Mark Epper 
Partner 
Sydney

10th August 2012

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Corporate (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.
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Statement of corporate governance practices

UGL maintains a robust corporate governance framework and is committed 
to achieving and maintaining high standards of corporate governance. The 
Board sees this as fundamental to delivering sustainable performance for 
its stakeholders. The Board attaches great importance to maintaining these 
standards and monitors local and global developments in corporate 
governance standards when reviewing and implementing standards of 
behaviour.

Compliance with the ASX Corporate Governance Council Guidelines
This statement outlines the main corporate governance practices in place 
throughout the financial year, which comply with the ASX Corporate 
Governance Principles & Recommendations with 2010 Amendments 
(the Guidelines). The following documents referred to in this statement, 
or a summary of these documents, are available on the corporate 
governance section of the Company’s website www.ugllimited.com:

•  Constitution

•  Board Charter

•  Nomination & Remuneration Committee Charter

•  Risk & Audit Committee Charter

•  Health, Safety, Security & Environment Committee Charter

•  Policy on the appointment of directors to the Board

•  Risk Management Policy

•  Trading in UGL Securities Policy

•  Continuous Disclosure Policy

•  Code of Conduct

•  Global Fraud & Anti-bribery Policy

•  Whistleblower Policy

•  Shareholder Communications Policy

PRINCIPLE 1: LAY SOLID FOUNDATIONS FOR MANAGEMENT 
AND OVERSIGHT

Responsibilities and delegations
The primary responsibility of the Board is to create wealth for the 
shareholders without compromising:

•  the health, safety and security of its employees;

•  the environment; and

•  the credit rating or the reputation of the Group.

Specific responsibilities of the Board are outlined in its charter and include:

•  formulating the direction, strategies and financial objectives for UGL 
and monitoring their implementation;

•  monitoring business risk exposures and risk management systems;

•  overseeing the integrity of financial and other reporting;

•  monitoring compliance with regulatory and ethical standards; and

•  appointing the Managing Director & CEO, and reviewing the 
performance of the CEO.

The Board discharges its responsibilities by holding structured meetings 
of the Board and its committees. Between meetings, the Chairman meets 
regularly with the CEO to discuss issues that may require guidance or that 
may need to be referred to the Board for decision. At Board meetings, 
strategic and policy issues, budgets, capital expenditure requirements 
and important operational issues are discussed and/or decided and the 
financial and operational performance of the Group is reviewed and 
monitored.

The Board’s practice is to involve senior executives where matters of 
strategic or operational importance are discussed by the Board.

The functions and responsibilities of the Board’s committees are discussed 
below and are outlined in the charters.

The Board appoints the CEO and is consulted on the appointment of senior 
management by the CEO. The CEO reports directly to the Board and is 
responsible for the day to day management and control of the Group, 
within the specified limits of authority approved by the Board. Delegations 

of authority by the CEO to senior executives are reviewed, communicated 
and monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Board, through the Nomination & Remuneration Committee, has 
established performance criteria for the CEO and conducts a performance 
review of the CEO at least annually. The CEO conducts an annual review 
of performance of senior executives and reports on their performance 
to the Nomination & Remuneration Committee. Further details on the 
performance review process for the CEO and senior executives is discussed 
in the Remuneration Report section of the Directors’ Report.

Board committees
The Board has established a number of committees to assist it in the 
execution of its duties and to allow detailed consideration of complex 
issues. The committee structure and membership is reviewed regularly.

Each of these committees has its own written charter setting out its role 
and responsibilities, composition, structure, membership requirements and 
the manner in which the committee is to operate. All charters are approved 
by the Board. All matters determined by committees are submitted to the 
Board as recommendations for decision.

Each committee chair provides a verbal update on the committee’s 
deliberations at the subsequent Board meeting. Minutes of committee 
meetings are tabled at Board meetings and directors have the opportunity 
to question and contribute on matters considered by the committees. 
Additional requirements for specific reporting by the committees to the 
Board are addressed in the charter of the individual committees.

In carrying out their duties, the committees are entitled to engage 
appropriately qualified external consultants to provide advice and 
recommendations.

Company Secretaries
Responsibilities of the secretarial function include compliance 
with corporate legislation and ASX requirements, providing advice to 
directors and officers on corporate governance matters, developing and 
implementing the corporate governance framework and giving practical 
effect to the Board’s decisions. All directors have access to the company 
secretaries.

During the 2012 financial year the Company had two secretaries, Dennis 
Mentzines and Lyn Nikolopoulos. Details of the qualifications and 
experience of the company secretaries can be found on pages 32 to 33 
of the Directors’ Report.

PRINCIPLE 2: STRUCTURE THE BOARD TO ADD VALUE

Board and committee membership and expertise
The Company has a Board of eight directors, seven of whom are 
non-executive directors and one of whom is an executive director.

Details of the members of the Board, including their experience, 
qualifications, committee membership and term of office are set out 
on pages 31 to 32 of the Directors’ Report. Attendance at Board and 
committee meetings is disclosed on page 33 of the Directors’ Report.

Succession planning of the Board
The individual directors and the Board as a whole recognise the importance 
for the Board to have the skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of 
background required to effectively steer UGL over time in response 
to market developments, opportunities and challenges. The Board is 
committed to identifying and attracting suitably experienced leaders 
to ensure that it has the right directors, including a successor to the 
Chairman.

The Board recognises certain core skills that are required for the Board to 
ensure effective stewardship of the Group. These include:

•  business and strategic expertise;

•  industry knowledge;

•  accounting and finance skills;

•  legal knowledge;

•  ability to manage risk;

•  ability to manage people and to drive change;
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•  experience with financial markets;

•  high standards of corporate governance;

•  geographical knowledge and experience; and

•  personal ethics, attributes and skills.

The Board also recognises the value and importance of diversity, including 
with respect to gender, ethnicity, geographical location, personal attributes 
and age. Further discussion on diversity is outlined on pages 58 to 61. It is 
the policy of the Board to increase the number of directors when it 
considers that additional expertise or diversity is required or an 
outstanding candidate is identified and available. The Board must comprise 
of a majority of directors who are assessed to be independent.

Non-executive directors are appointed subject to the Constitution of the 
Company which provides that:

•  at each annual general meeting one-third of the non-executive 
directors must retire and can offer themselves for re election by the 
members of the Company; and

•  if the number of directors is increased or if a vacancy exists, the Board 
may select a suitable candidate to fill that vacancy. That appointee 
must stand for re election at the next annual general meeting.

There is no limit on the number of terms to which a non-executive director 
can be appointed.

The Board has delegated to the Nomination & Remuneration Committee the 
task of seeking new directors and making recommendations when a suitable 
candidate is available. The committee may use external professional 
intermediaries to assist them in identifying a selection of suitable 
candidates.

During the reporting period, Robert Denham was appointed as an 
independent non-executive director. He will seek shareholder approval for 
his election as a director at the 2012 AGM.

As part of its succession plan, during the reporting period, the Board and 
the committee continued to work with an independent external adviser to 
assist in identifying suitable potential candidates as part of the Board 
renewal program. The Board is pleased with the progress being made and 
the depth of talent which have been identified which will ensure the Board’s 
orderly succession.

Where a resolution to appoint a new director to the Board is presented for 
shareholder consideration, the Board will disclose in the notes to the notice 
of meeting whether the Board supports the nomination of the proposed 
candidate.

Independent professional advice
Each director has the right to seek independent professional advice on 
matters that may be of concern. Such advice will be at the expense of the 
Group if approval is first given by the Chairman of the Board.

Directors’ independence
The Board assesses whether a director is independent on an ongoing basis. 
Generally, directors will not be regarded as independent if they fall within 
one of the following categories:

(a)  the director is a substantial shareholder of the Company or an officer 
of, or otherwise associated directly with, a substantial shareholder of 
the Company;

(b)  within the last three years the director was employed in an executive 
capacity by the Group, or was a director in an executive capacity by the 
Group, or was a director after ceasing to hold any such employment;

(c)  within the last three years the director was a principal of a professional 
adviser or a consultant to the Group, or an employee materially 
associated with the service provider and the adviser or consultant is 
a material provider of services to the Group;

(d)  the director is a supplier or customer of the Group or an officer of, or 
otherwise associated directly or indirectly with, a supplier or customer 
and the supplier or customer is a material provider to the Group; and

(e)  the director has a contractual relationship with the Group (other than 
as a director of the Group) and the contractual relationship is material 
to the operations of the Group.

Materiality for the above purposes is determined on both quantitative and 
qualitative bases. An amount of over 5% of annual turnover of the Group 
or 5% of the individual director’s net worth is considered material for 
these purposes. In addition, a transaction of any amount or a relationship 
is deemed material if knowledge of it impacts the shareholders’ 
understanding of the director’s performance.

After considering the above criteria, the Board has concluded that each of 
its non-executive directors is independent.

Chairman and CEO
The Board elects one of its independent non-executive directors to be 
Chairman.

Under the Board’s charter the position of Chairman cannot be held by a 
major shareholder.

The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board, ensuring that Board 
activities are organised and conducted efficiently and directors are 
properly briefed for meetings. The CEO is responsible for implementing 
Group strategies and policies. The Board’s charter specifies that the 
Chairman cannot be a current or former CEO of UGL.

Commitment, induction and training
Each newly appointed director receives a formal letter of appointment that 
outlines the key terms and conditions relative to their appointment. Prior 
to appointment, each non-executive director must acknowledge that they 
have and will continue to have the time available to discharge their 
responsibilities to the Company.

Following the appointment to the Board, an induction program is organised 
for new directors that includes meeting members of management and 
visits to key sites. The purpose of the program is for newly appointed 
directors to become familiar with UGL’s people, operations and the culture 
and values of UGL.

The Board holds at least eight scheduled meetings and an additional 
corporate strategy workshop each calendar year. Additional meetings 
are held as required. A number of the scheduled meetings are held at 
operational sites of the Group to provide the directors the opportunity to 
meet the staff and tour the facilities. In addition, directors have unfettered 
access to each other, the CEO, senior executives and other employees as 
required to enable them to properly discharge their duties.

Non-executive directors are expected to spend at least 40 days a year 
preparing for and attending Board and committee meetings and associated 
activities.

Other commitments of non-executive directors that might affect their 
contribution are considered prior to a director’s appointment to the Board 
and are reviewed each year.

Directors have access to continuing education to update and enhance their 
skills and the Board is kept informed of key developments within the 
Company and the industry sectors in which UGL operates.

Conflicts of interest
The Board is aware of its obligations to ensure that directors avoid conflicts 
of interest and has adopted a procedure to ensure that conflicts and 
potential conflicts of interest are disclosed to the Board each month. Any 
director with a material personal interest may not participate in boardroom 
discussions or vote on the matter unless the Board resolves otherwise.

No material conflicts of interest were identified during the period.

Review of Board performance
The Board continually assesses and reviews its performance to ensure 
individual directors, the Board as a whole and its committees work 
efficiently and effectively including identifying any gaps in the skills and 
experience of individual directors and the composition and diversity of 
the Board. The process for conducting the performance review is agreed 
to by the Board and where appropriate the Board may appoint external 
consultants to assist with the process.
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It is important for the Board to have the skills, knowledge and experience 
required to effectively steer UGL in the future in response to market 
developments, opportunities and challenges. As part of its succession 
planning program, during the year the Board appointed an independent 
external provider to undertake a review of the composition of the Board 
to ensure that the Board’s three to five year succession plan meets the 
needs of the Company. As a result, the Board has deferred conducting a 
performance assessment during the 2012 financial year so that it can focus 
on the succession plan. It is proposed that a formal performance 
assessment will be conducted in the 2013 financial year following the 
conclusion of the search for two new additional non-executive directors.

PRINCIPLE 3: PROMOTE ETHICAL AND RESPONSIBLE 
DECISION-MAKING

UGL has a number of policies and guidelines which provide employees and 
its officers with direction to promote ethical and responsible decision 
making. All Group policies are published on the Company’s intranet and 
material policies and guidelines are communicated to each new employee 
as part of their induction training.

Code of Conduct
The Group strives to achieve the highest standards of behaviour and 
accountability and demands that its directors and employees be honest in 
their dealings with each other, and all counterparties. Under the Group’s 
Corporate Code of Conduct, officers and employees are required to comply 
with all laws, avoid actual or potential conflicts of interest, not engage 
in unethical business practices and refrain from giving or receiving any 
improper payments, benefits or other gains and provide quality service 
and good stewardship of assets to all stakeholders.

Global Fraud and Anti-bribery Policy
While bribery and corruption have always been taken very seriously by 
UGL, the increasing globalisation of our businesses has led to a refinement 
of our policies to more effectively address the increasingly complex 
environments in which we operate. As the Board believes it is imperative 
to ensure ethical business conduct at all levels across the organisation, 
we have introduced a specific policy addressing Global Fraud and 
Anti-bribery, in addition to our Code of Conduct and Whistleblower policies. 
The policy is supported by guidelines which outline:

•  the anti-bribery control framework, including procedures that are in 
place to prevent bribery;

•  the duties and responsibilities of all employees; and

•  how allegations of fraud and other illegal acts are managed.

Whistleblower policy
Group policy requires employees who are aware of unethical, unlawful or 
undesirable conduct practices within the Group or breaches of the Group’s 
policies to report these using the Company’s whistleblower program. 
This can be done anonymously. Where whistleblowers act in good faith and 
make a report in accordance with the policy, such persons are protected 
from dismissal, demotion, any form of harassment, discrimination or bias.

Insider trading, securities trading, margin lending and hedging policies
It is the Group’s policy that under all circumstances, its officers and 
employees comply with the letter and the intention of the insider trading 
laws when dealing in UGL securities. Also, directors, officers and senior 
management must not trade in UGL securities during the following 
blackout periods:

•  the period commencing 1 January of each year and ending 24 hours 
after the release of the half-year results for that financial year; and

•  the period commencing 1 July of each year and ending 24 hours after 
the release of the annual results for the previous financial year.

Trading is generally permitted at other times provided that employees do 
not contravene the insider trading laws. Directors and senior management 
(and their associates) are prohibited from engaging in short term trading of 
UGL securities. In addition, directors and senior management must notify 
the Company Secretary before they or their associates buy or sell UGL 
securities.

The Trading in Securities policy also extends to dealings in securities 
of other companies with which UGL may be dealing (including UGL’s 
customers or business partners). If an officer or employee is aware of 
inside information about another company they should not either directly 
or indirectly deal or procure or encourage another person to deal in those 
securities.

The Group’s policies also restrict employees’ hedging and margin loan 
activities in respect of the Company’s shares and options as follows.

Directors, officers and senior managers are prohibited from entering into 
margin loans or similar arrangements if the loan or other arrangement is 
secured by (among other things) securities in UGL that account for at least 
1% of its total issued capital. Where a margin loan or similar arrangement is 
in place, a director, officer or senior manager must not provide any inside 
information to the lender.

For the 2012 financial year, UGL adopted the following policy regarding 
arrangements that limit risk attaching to equity instruments (commonly 
referred to as hedging):

•  Employees (including executive directors) and their closely related 
parties are prohibited from entering into a hedging arrangement in 
relation to an element of the employee’s remuneration that has not 
vested or has vested but remains subject to a holding lock; and

•  Non-executive Directors and their closely related parties are prohibited 
from entering into a hedging arrangement in relation to an element 
of the director’s remuneration that has not vested or has vested 
(irrespective of whether it remains subject to a holding lock).

Sustainability
The Group recognises the importance of adopting a sustainable approach 
to its business operations. Our sustainability strategy incorporates the 
key elements of corporate social responsibility, corporate governance, 
environment and labour practices. Through a combination of programs, 
UGL aims to:

•  Ensure that our workforce is as diverse as the broader global 
community in which we operate and that we fulfill our commitments 
to our people.

•  Work with our clients, partners and suppliers to achieve better 
environmental and social sustainability outcomes.

•  Monitor and report on our environmental performance.

•  Strengthen our connection with the communities in which we operate.

•  Maintain a supportive work environment where our people are 
encouraged to support community causes, and we provide the 
flexibility to enable them to do that.

Details on the activities undertaken in relation to our sustainability 
practices during the 2012 financial year are discussed on pages 26 to 29 
of the Annual Report.

Diversity
Attracting and retaining the right employees continues to be a core focus 
for the Board as we believe there is a real competitive advantage from 
leveraging our diverse workforce. We see UGL’s Diversity Program as more 
than just meeting our compliance obligations. For the Board, it means that 
every UGL employee should have the tools, support and opportunities to 
reach their individual potential. With this in mind, we have undertaken 
measurable steps to improve UGL’s diversity agenda and we are proud to 
have delivered on all 11 measurable objectives previously set to strengthen 
diversity across the company in the 2012 financial year – see discussion 
below.

The Group is committed to ensuring all employees are treated fairly, 
equally and with respect when employment decisions are made, without 
regard to any factor which is not applicable to the inherent requirements of 
a position. Selection is based purely on merit.

To support the Group’s commitment to a culture of diversity in its broadest 
sense, the Board has set measurable objectives for achieving greater levels 
of diversity for the 2013 financial year and beyond – see discussion below. 
The Company regularly reviews progress against these stated objectives.
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Diversity on the Board
Through periodic strategic reviews of the Board composition and succession 
planning, the Board seeks to ensure that the skills and diversity of the Board 
are appropriate for the present and future requirements of the Group and 
the Board actively seeks to identify and recruit directors whose skills and 
attributes complement and enhance the effective operation of the Board. 
Currently of the eight directors, one is female (12.5%).

In addition to the Group’s commitment to gender diversity, UGL’s Chairman, 
Mr Trevor Rowe AO and Ms Kathryn Spargo are both highly active in 
the Australian Institute of Company Directors Mentoring Program. 
This program is designed to introduce women, who may be suitable for 
director roles, to the chairmen and other experienced directors of ASX 200 
listed companies.

Diversity in the workplace
At present 35% of our direct workforce (excluding subcontractors) is 
female, a 5% increase from our last reporting period. This reflects the 
reality of the industry in which the Group operates and the generally low 
participation rates of women in the engineering and manual trades both 
domestically and internationally. We have a greater proportion of females 
in our Property operations with 41% in roles and job grades such as 
property managers, project managers, surveyors and associates. Female 
participation rates are also considerably higher across the Group’s service 
functions (such as legal, finance, marketing, communications, HR, project 
support and office administration). For example: with respect to the Head 
Office functions, 34% of permanent employees are female.

At the senior level, currently 12% of the Global Leadership Team, being 
the top 150 leaders within the Group (including senior executives), are 
female. We are committed to increasing and promoting our female talent 
particularly at an executive level – progress towards this is evident with an 
increase in the number of females identified as successors to our Global 
Leadership Team.

Progress against stated measurable objectives for the 2012 financial year
Excellent progress was made during the last reporting year with all 
measurable objectives fulfilled and in some instances our commitment was 
exceeded. Key highlights were:

•  Employee data on workforce diversity, employee learning and 
development, succession planning and recruitment, are now being 
more efficiently reported.

•  Unconscious bias training sessions conducted globally which targeted 
line managers and those specifically involved in our hiring practices.

•  Greater proportion of flexible working arrangements in place, 
particularly for women. The number of women working part time has 
increased by 68% since the last reporting period.

•  Female successors for our Global Leadership Team in Engineering have 
more than doubled as a percentage increase. This team comprises the 
organisations ‘Top 150’ both women and men.

•  Two Global Leadership Programs (future leaders) were conducted with 
participants from a variety of diverse backgrounds including 36% 
female participation. This program also included formal mentoring for 
all participants.

•  Indigenous survey conducted to assist in identifying opportunities for 
greater engagement of Indigenous Australians across all our 
businesses and the industries we operate in.
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Statement of corporate governance practices

Further details on how we progressed against our stated objectives are set out below.

OBJECTIVE MEASURE WHEN PROGRESS

Pay Audit – review gender parity 
across all key roles within the 
businesses and implement an action 
plan to address any key areas of 
concern

1.  Undertake pay audit using Equal Opportunity for Women in the 
Workplace Agency (EOWA) Pay Equity Tool over a payroll period 
(1 month);

2.  Undertake qualitative analysis using staff surveys, focus groups 
etc;

3.  Analyse differences for any gender pay gaps equivalent or pay 
gaps greater than 5%;

4.  Identify reasons for any pay gaps; and

5.  Report to the Nomination & Remuneration Committee on 
outcomes of review and make recommendations.

End of Financial Year 
2012

Complete

Training & Development Conduct three training sessions for line managers on unconscious 
bias in promotion.

End of Financial Year 
2012

Exceeded 
15 sessions completed

Workforce Consultation Build on current measurement and survey practices to facilitate 
identification of issues and areas for improvement by consultation 
with the workforce. Commit to four focus groups and one Employee 
Survey across Australia.

End of Financial Year 
2012

Complete

Regular report of strategic Diversity 
issues to the Board

Quarterly reports to be provided to the Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee on key diversity issues including any matters to be 
addressed with recommendations.

End of Financial Year 
2012

Complete

Increase Graduate Candidate Pipeline Implement a program to engage women graduate engineers through 
university visits. Five university visits are planned.

End of Financial Year 
2012

Complete

Implementation of formal training 
programs i.e. Mentoring Program

Implement a Mentoring Program for career development to include 
mentoring specifically designed to support women to help progress 
their careers into senior management roles. This program is currently 
being run in all of our core businesses. Commit to three sessions 
targeted specifically for women on executive mentoring, including 
publishing of guidebooks on the intranet and communication with 
employees.

End of Financial Year 
2012

Complete

Diversity Performance Indicators Develop and align diversity initiatives and outcomes to Senior 
Executive key performance indicators.

End of Financial Year 
2012

Complete

HR Practices Develop and implement policies & practices that will more effectively 
drive workforce participation rates of key diversity segments.

End of Financial Year 
2012

Complete

Indigenous Awareness Identify target areas and measurement and reporting methods for 
indigenous recruitment, promotion and retention.

Establish, implement and communicate indigenous career 
development policies.

End of Financial Year 
2012

Complete

Risk & Compliance Re-communicate to employees Equal Employment Opportunity Policy 
and procedures.

Review and update Harassment & Bullying policies and conduct 
internal training.

End of Financial Year 
2012

Complete

Flexible Work Practices Review current flexible work place practices, implement 
improvements where identified and communicate to employees.

End of Financial Year 
2012

Exceeded
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Measurable objectives 2013 financial year and beyond

OBJECTIVE MEASURE WHEN

Set up Global Diversity Team •  Four hubs – Sydney (Australia), Hong Kong (Asia), Los Angeles (Americas), London (EMEA); 
Championed by Group HR

•  Each main hub will have accountability for measurable objectives

•  Quarterly reporting back to Group HR on key diversity issues including any matters to be 
addressed with recommendations

End of Financial Year 2013

Build a Strong Global Infrastructure •  Strong infrastructure is needed to support moving to a global platform; Processes and 
Systems

•  Improved Human Resources capabilities to manage a diverse workforce. Implement global 
structure to support diversity objectives

End of Financial Year 2014

Global Workforce Management & 
Recruitment

•  Increase our talent profile by global recruitment solution; 
Insource recruitment – one process across UGL globally

•  Extrapolate Engineering Graduate Program across Property Services

End of Financial Year 2014

•  Formal assessment and selection methods will be implemented for our Global Leadership 
Team. To ensure selection is based on merit and ability

End of Financial Year 2013

Expand our Indigenous Program 
globally

•  Expand and extrapolate UGL’s domestic based Indigenous Program globally.

•  Undertake workshops and broader survey to identify target areas and measurement and 
reporting methods for indigenous recruitment, promotion and retention

End of Financial Year 2014

Global Learning & Development •  Remove any cultural barriers that may exist – cultural step change; Conduct 15 sessions on 
unconscious bias globally

•  Increase training for middle and senior management on identifying talent and potential. 
This will be included in our ‘Management Essentials’ program. 10 sessions are planned

End of Financial Year 2013

Global Values Program •  Develop and refresh UGL’s core values through communication, training and competency 
alignment. Diversity should be embedded in our fundamental attitudes, values, behaviours, 
and practices

•  Incorporate values into our global Performance Review Process to include formal 
monitoring of ‘living with UGL Values’

End of Financial Year 2013

Improve Global Diversity Profile •  Continue to engage women graduate engineers through university visits. Commitment to 
another 5 visits for 2013 financial year

•  Identify opportunities to increase Corporate Social Responsibility capability and charity 
partnership

End of Financial Year 2013

Progress against these stated measurable objectives will be reported on to internal and external stakeholders at least annually via annual reports to 
shareholders.
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PRINCIPLE 4: SAFEGUARD INTEGRITY IN FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Risk & Audit Committee assists the Board in discharging its obligations 
for financial reporting, risk management and internal control.

The Risk & Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive 
directors. The Chairman of the Board is not the Chairman of the Risk & 
Audit Committee. The CEO and Chief Financial Officer and representatives 
from the external auditors attend meetings by invitation. An officer of 
the Group attends meetings and deals with administrative matters. 
The committee meets at least four times during the year.

The principal functions of the committee are:

•  to assist the Board in relation to reviewing and monitoring:

 –  the keeping and reporting of financial information in accordance 
with the policies of the Group and the law;

 – the half-yearly and annual financial statements;

 – compliance with Australian accounting standards;

 – the Group’s internal control systems;

 – the compliance with applicable policies and laws; and

 –  reviewing the Group’s risk management policy, its application and 
effectiveness. Discussion of the Risk & Audit Committee’s 
involvement in business risk is disclosed under principle 7;

•  to provide a forum for communication between the Board, the internal 
and external auditors and senior management in relation to the 
matters above;

•  to review and monitor related party transactions;

•  to review and monitor internal and external audit functions;

•  to review the independence and performance of the external auditors; 
and

•  to consider any other matter which the Board may refer to the 
committee for consideration.

External Auditor
The external auditor is KPMG. At least twice a year, the Risk & Audit 
Committee meets with representatives of KPMG without management 
in attendance. KPMG attend each committee meeting and each year they 
are required to confirm their independence. The committee has also 
implemented a policy to ensure that any material non-audit work is 
approved.

The Risk & Audit Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board 
the selection and appointment of the external auditor. A change in the 
external auditor would require UGL to go to tender and the following 
would be considered by the committee as part of the review process:

•  independence;

•  experience in the sectors that UGL operates in;

•  jurisdictions that the auditor is able to cover; and

•  fees.

The lead signing audit partner is rotated every five years and must rotate 
off the engagement for a minimum of two years. The current signing 
partner was appointed for the 2010 financial year audit and is due to rotate 
at the completion of the 2014 financial year audit. Any other partner with 
significant involvement must rotate after 7 continuous years on an 
engagement. The current engagement partner was appointed during the 
2007 financial year and the committee is in the process of reviewing the 
next appointed engagement partner.

PRINCIPLE 5: MAKE TIMELY AND BALANCED DISCLOSURE

The Company Secretaries have been nominated as the officers responsible 
for communications with the ASX. The CEO is primarily responsible for 
ensuring compliance with the continuous disclosure obligations under the 
ASX listing rules and the Corporations Act.

The Group has written policies and procedures requiring disclosure of any 
information concerning the Group that a reasonable person would expect 
to have a material effect on the price of the Company’s securities.

All information disclosed to the ASX is posted on the Group’s website 
following confirmation from the ASX that the information has been 
disclosed to the market. When analysts are briefed on aspects of the 
Group’s operations, the material used in the presentation is released to 
the ASX and posted on the Group’s website. Internal records are kept of 
all briefings with stakeholders and/or analysts including a record of those 
present and the subjects discussed.

PRINCIPLE 6: RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS

Where they elect, shareholders receive a copy of the Group’s annual report 
and provision is made for shareholders to receive email alerts notifying 
them of the release of information by the Company. The Company’s website 
www.ugllimited.com also includes a feedback mechanism and a direct link 
to the Group’s share registry.

The Company also communicates with its stakeholders via its corporate 
website. The dedicated investor section includes published financial 
reports, notices, corporate governance policies, ASX announcements, 
webcasts, investor briefings and a calendar of events.

The Company views the annual general meeting as an opportunity for 
shareholders to meet with and question the Board and senior management 
and encourages shareholders to attend. The Company’s external auditor 
is invited to attend all general meetings of shareholders. At the annual 
general meeting, the auditors are available to answer shareholder 
questions regarding the conduct of the audit and the preparation and 
content of the audit report.

PRINCIPLE 7: RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISK

Risk Management
Risk management plays an active and visible role within the Group 
supported by processes and structures to effectively manage opportunities 
and adverse effects within its operating environment. By effectively 
managing risk, UGL aims to increase the certainty of business outcomes, 
which leads to growth in shareholder value and an increased understanding 
of the Company’s obligations to shareholders and key stakeholders 
including employees, customers and the community.

The Group’s risk management policy sets the approach in managing 
financial, commercial, technical and strategic activities undertaken by the 
Company. UGL’s approach to risk management is aligned to the Standards 
Australia’s risk management principles and guidelines. The policy outlines 
the key elements of how the Company proactively and systematically 
manages risk and details the integrated elements of the Group’s risk 
management program. The Risk & Audit Committee assists the Board by 
reviewing the Group’s risk management policy and its application including 
the financial reporting aspects. UGL maintains a dynamic risk management 
program that concentrates management attention to the control and 
mitigation or removal of risks that have the greatest potential to affect the 
achievement of organisational objectives. These risks include but are not 
limited to: tendering and contract negotiation; contract/project delivery; 
occupational health and safety; business process improvement; liquidity 
and solvency risk management; recruitment and retention of personnel; 
interest rate and foreign currency exposure; corporate strategy and 
operational compliance.
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A key focus of the risk management function of the Group has been the 
standardisation of business practices for risk analysis, correction and 
mitigation strategy and control regime for these key risk areas. This regime 
is routinely monitored and evaluated for effectiveness by nominated 
personnel and governance committees. A report on key business risks is 
provided to the Risk & Audit Committee at each of its meetings.

The Company reviews, updates and monitors all risk identification, analysis, 
evaluation and actions to mitigate risk elements on a regular basis.

Internal audit and assurances
The internal audit function provides independent assessments on the 
appropriateness of the Group’s risk management policies and procedures 
and internal controls. The results of the assessments are reported to the 
Risk & Audit Committee.

The CEO and the Chief Financial Officer have confirmed to the Board, 
in writing, that:

•  the Group’s financial reports are complete and present a true and fair 
view, in all material respects, of the financial condition and operating 
results of the Company and Group; and

•  the financial reporting risk management and associated compliance 
and controls are assessed as operating effectively in all material 
aspects.

This representation is founded on a sound system of internal control and 
risk management that implements the policies adopted by the Board.

Health, Safety, Security & Environment Committee
The Health, Safety, Security & Environment Committee comprises two 
independent non-executive directors and the Managing Director & CEO. 
The committee meets at least twice annually.

The principal functions of the committee are to set strategies for 
occupational health, safety, security and environment issues, and monitor 
compliance with policies and procedures that have been put in place to 
underpin the following goals:

•  no one should suffer injury or illness arising from their working 
responsibilities or from the wider context surrounding their work 
location, either within or on behalf of the Group; and

•  the Group’s operations should not infringe on the quality of the 
environment, the aim being to contribute to improving the environment 
wherever this rests within the Group’s capabilities.

PRINCIPLE 8: REMUNERATE FAIRLY AND RESPONSIBLY

The Nomination & Remuneration Committee assists the Board to discharge 
its responsibilities for remuneration and human resources arrangements, 
the structure of the Board and executive management team, and UGL’s 
diversity strategy.

The Nomination & Remuneration Committee comprises four independent 
non-executive directors, chaired by the Chairman of the Board. The 
committee meets at least twice annually.

The principal remuneration activities considered by the committee include:

•  reviewing the Group’s overall remuneration and human resources 
strategy;

•  reviewing share schemes applying to employees and directors;

•  reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on remuneration 
by gender;

•  annually reviewing the CEO’s remuneration package and performance 
indicators as set by the Board;

•  providing guidance to the CEO on the principles applying to his direct 
reports’ total employment cost packages;

•  considering the composition of the Board, including whether 
succession plans are in place to maintain an appropriate mix of skills, 
experience and diversity;

•  reviewing and advising on appropriate fee structures for non-executive 
directors of the Board; and

•  reviewing the superannuation administration and management 
arrangements across the Group.

The committee reviews remuneration strategy and policy on an annual 
basis for all employees including the CEO and senior executives. 
The decisions of the committee are subject to approval by the Board. 
The committee obtains independent advice on the appropriateness of 
remuneration packages including information on trends in comparative 
companies both locally and internationally. No senior executive is directly 
involved in deciding their own remuneration.

The principal nomination activities considered by the committee include:

•  reviewing succession plans for the CEO, non-executive directors and 
the Board committees;

•  monitoring the succession plans of the CEO’s direct reports;

•  identifying and recommending to the Board nominees for Board 
membership, including re election and election of directors;

•  reviewing the size, composition and skills of the Board required to meet 
the needs of the Group; and

•  developing and implementing procedures for the Board’s periodic 
evaluation of its performance and effectiveness.

The Company’s principles in relation to the remuneration of directors and 
senior executives are set out in the Remuneration Report section of the 
Directors’ Report.
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Consolidated income statement for the year ended 30 June 2012

  2012 2011 

 NOTE  $’000 $’000

Revenue 4 4,454,412 4,285,096

Other income 5 2,414 2,499

Raw materials and consumables  (1,208,169) (1,226,196)

Employment costs  (2,137,587) (1,984,166)

Depreciation and amortisation  (63,336) (59,759)

Sub-contractor expenses  (424,898) (427,769)

Finance costs (net) 7 (33,207) (27,495)

Rental and occupancy expenses  (73,408) (54,551)

Communication expenses  (13,717) (13,914)

Insurance  (31,675) (27,057)

Plant and equipment expenses  (34,995) (46,980)

Motor vehicle expenses  (45,789) (37,287)

Travel  (60,453) (50,702)

Other expenses  (144,535) (123,599)

Share of (losses)/profit of equity accounted investees (net of tax) 14 (7,269) 7,718

Profit before income tax  177,788 215,838

Income tax expense 8 (42,396) (57,170)

Profit for the year  135,392 158,668

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company  134,322 158,510

Non-controlling interests  1,070 158

Profit for the year  135,392 158,668

 

  CENTS CENTS

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 34 80.8 95.5

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 34 80.8 95.3

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June 2012

 2012 2011 

 $’000 $’000

Profit for the year 135,392 158,668

Other comprehensive income:

Foreign currency translation differences – foreign operations 4,316 (37,520)

Cash flow hedges (285) 507

Cash flow hedges – equity accounted investees (217) –

Defined benefit plans actuarial losses (6,949) –

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (3,135) (37,013)

Total comprehensive income for the year 132,257 121,655

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the Company 131,268 121,495

Non-controlling interests 989 160

Total comprehensive income for the year 132,257 121,655

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2012

  2012 2011 

 NOTE $’000  $’000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 9 177,375 236,688

Trade and other receivables 10 589,640 479,664

Inventories 11 359,747 385,998

Income tax receivable 12 23,025 831

Other financial assets 13 190 170

Total current assets  1,149,977 1,103,351

Non-current assets

Trade and other receivables 10 3,166 2,411

Other financial assets 13 24,380 21,611

Investments accounted for using the equity method 14 43,117 30,007

Property, plant and equipment 15 176,674 157,461

Intangible assets 16 1,310,914 1,039,547

Deferred tax assets 17 39,421 54,113

Total non-current assets  1,597,672 1,305,150

Total assets  2,747,649 2,408,501

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 18 513,783 509,421

Loans and borrowings 19 6,382 1,153

Employee benefits 20 215,529 180,155

Other financial liabilities 22 3,865 1,741

Income tax payable 12 12,831 26,333

Provisions 23 57,865 37,736

Total current liabilities  810,255 756,539

Non-current liabilities

Loans and borrowings 19 606,354 413,765

Employee benefits 20 36,620 17,951

Other financial liabilities 22 30,342 4,960

Deferred tax liabilities 17 18,518 12,607

Provisions 23 70,178 31,257

Total non-current liabilities  762,012 480,540

Total liabilities  1,572,267 1,237,079

Net assets  1,175,382 1,171,422

Equity

Share capital 24 908,775 905,875

Reserves  (55,649) (41,824)

Retained earnings  316,554 301,877

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company  1,169,680 1,165,928

Non-controlling interests  5,702 5,494

Total equity  1,175,382 1,171,422

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 June 2012

 ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

   EMPLOYEE RESERVE      NON-  

   EQUITY FOR PENSION     CON-  

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 TRANSLATION HEDGING BENEFIT TREASURY VALUATION TOTAL SHARE RETAINED  TROLLING TOTAL 

$’000 RESERVE RESERVE RESERVE SHARES RESERVE RESERVES CAPITAL EARNINGS TOTAL INTERESTS EQUITY

Balance at 1 July 2011 (44,015) 105 20,889 (18,803) – (41,824) 905,875 301,877 1,165,928 5,494 1,171,422

Profit for the year – – – – – – – 134,322 134,322 1,070 135,392

Foreign currency exchange differences –  
foreign operations 4,397 – – – – 4,397 – – 4,397 (81) 4,316

Gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges taken  
to equity – (205) – – – (205) – – (205) – (205)

Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges  
transferred to the initial carrying amount of the  
hedged item – (80) – – – (80) – – (80) – (80)

Gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges taken to  
equity – equity accounted investees – (217) – – – (217) – – (217) – (217)

Defined benefit plans actuarial losses – – – – (6,949) (6,949) – – (6,949) – (6,949)

Total comprehensive income for the year 4,397 (502) – – (6,949) (3,054) – 134,322 131,268 989 132,257

Transactions with owners in their capacity  
as owners:

Shares issued – – – – – – 2,900 – 2,900 – 2,900

Share-based payments – – 7,070 – – 7,070 – – 7,070 – 7,070

Treasury shares purchased – – – (18,010) – (18,010) – – (18,010) – (18,010)

Transfer of vested shares – – (4,051) 4,051 – – – – – – –

Dividends to owners – – – – – – – (119,645) (119,645) (4,618) (124,263)

Non-controlling interests investment in  
new subsidiary – – – – – – – – – 300 300

Acquired on purchase of subsidiaries – – – – – – – – – 3,537 3,537

Income tax related to transactions with owners – – – 169 – 169 – – 169 – 169

Total transactions with owners – – 3,019 (13,790) – (10,771) 2,900 (119,645) (127,516) (781) (128,297)

Balance at 30 June 2012 (39,618) (397) 23,908 (32,593) (6,949) (55,649) 908,775 316,554 1,169,680 5,702 1,175,382

 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011

Balance at 1 July 2010 (6,493) (402) 16,432 (10,638) – (1,101) 904,911 254,577 1,158,387 729 1,159,116

Profit for the year – – – – – – – 158,510 158,510 158 158,668

Foreign currency exchange differences –  
foreign operations (37,522) – – – – (37,522) – – (37,522) 2 (37,520)

Gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges taken  
to equity – 734 – – – 734 – – 734 – 734

Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges  
transferred to the initial carrying amount of  
the hedged item – (227) – – – (227) – – (227) – (227)

Total comprehensive income for the year (37,522) 507 – – – (37,015) – 158,510 121,495 160 121,655

Transactions with owners in their capacity  
as owners:

Shares issued – – – – – – 964 – 964 – 964

Share-based payments – – 4,457 – – 4,457 – – 4,457 – 4,457

Treasury shares purchased – – – (8,483) – (8,483) – – (8,483) – (8,483)

Dividends to owners – – – – – – – (111,210) (111,210) (1,828) (113,038)

Adjustment for 2006 acquisition – – – – – – – – – 6,433 6,433

Income tax related to transactions with owners – – – 318 – 318 – – 318 – 318

Total transactions with owners – – 4,457 (8,165) – (3,708) 964 (111,210) (113,954) 4,605 (109,349)

Balance at 30 June 2011 (44,015) 105 20,889 (18,803) – (41,824) 905,875 301,877 1,165,928 5,494 1,171,422

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2012

  2012 2011 

 NOTE $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers  4,786,858 4,576,869

Cash payments to suppliers and employees  (4,601,820) (4,365,216)

Interest received  6,538 5,122

Interest and other costs of finance paid  (32,570) (26,635)

Distributions from equity accounted investees  10,409 6,311

Income taxes paid  (58,405) (45,814)

Net cash from operating activities 25(b) 111,010 150,637

Cash flows from investing activities

Payment for plant and equipment  (27,652) (31,400)

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment  1,082 3,469

Payment for software  (17,969) (15,546)

Payment for other intangibles  (22,395) (4,521)

Project establishment costs  (9,881) (5,198)

Non-controlling interests investment in new subsidiary  300 –

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 26 (103,390) –

Investments in equity accounted investees  (22,009) (16,004)

Net cash used in investing activities  (201,914) (69,200)

Cash flows from financing activities

Net proceeds from issue of shares and conversion of options 24 2,900 964

Proceeds from borrowings  309,763 193,647

Repayment of borrowings  (141,763) (200,326)

Payment for treasury shares  (18,010) (8,483)

Payment of finance lease liabilities  (1,032) (1,054)

Dividends paid to owners 24 (119,645) (111,210)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  (4,618) (1,828)

Net cash used in financing activities  27,595 (128,290)

Net decrease in cash and cash  
equivalents  (63,309) (46,853)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July  236,688 296,585

Effects of exchange rate fluctuations on the balances of cash held in foreign currencies  902 (13,044)

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 25(a) 174,281 236,688

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 1: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Reporting entity
UGL Limited (the Company or the parent entity or UGL) is a company 
domiciled in Australia. The consolidated financial statements of the 
Company for the year ended 30 June 2012 comprise the Company and its 
subsidiaries (together referred to as the Group or the consolidated entity) 
and the Group’s interest in associates and jointly controlled entities. The 
Group is a diversified engineering, maintenance, facilities management and 
property services group operating internationally in the rail, water, power, 
transport, resources and property sectors.

(b) Statement of compliance
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) adopted by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB), and the Corporations Act 
2001. The consolidated financial statements of the Group comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and interpretations 
adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the 
directors on 10 August 2012.

(c) Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian 
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. The Company is of 
a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in 
accordance with that Class Order, all information presented in Australian 
dollars has been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless 
otherwise stated.

The Group is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the 
consolidated financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the historical cost convention and except for derivative financial 
instruments, which are stated at fair value, does not take into account 
changing money values or fair values of assets.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with AASBs requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses.

These estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making 
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 
In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty 
and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most 
significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements are 
described in Note 2: Critical accounting estimates and judgements.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to 
all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements. Where 
relevant, the accounting policies applied to the comparative period 
have been disclosed if they differ from the current reporting period. 
The accounting policies used have been consistently applied by each 
entity in the Group.

(d) Basis of consolidation
Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition 
method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control 
is transferred to the Group. Judgement is applied in determining the 
acquisition date and determining whether control is transferred from one 
party to another. For every business combination, the Group identifies the 
acquirer, which is the combining entity that obtains control of the other 
combining entities or businesses. Control is the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefit from its 
activities. In assessing control, the Group takes into consideration potential 
voting rights that are currently exercisable.

The Group measures goodwill as the fair value of the consideration 
transferred including the recognised amount of any non-controlling interest 
in the acquiree, less the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, all measured as of the 
acquisition date.

Consideration transferred includes the fair values of the assets transferred, 
liabilities incurred by the Group to the previous owners of the acquiree, 
and equity interests issued by the Group. Consideration transferred also 
includes the fair value of any contingent consideration and share-based 
payment awards of the acquiree that are replaced mandatorily in the 
business combination. If a business combination results in the termination 
of pre-existing relationships between the Group and the acquiree, then the 
lower of the termination amount, as contained in the agreement, and the 
value of the off-market element is deducted from the consideration 
transferred and recognised in other expenses.

A contingent liability of the acquiree is assumed in a business combination 
only if such a liability represents a present obligation and arises from a 
past event, and is recognised if its fair value can be measured reliably.

Transaction costs that the Group incurs in connection with a business 
combination, such as finders’ fees, legal fees, due diligence fees, and other 
professional and consulting fees, are expensed as incurred.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when 
the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial 
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefit from its activities. 
In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are exercisable 
or convertible are taken into account. The financial statements of 
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from 
the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary 
to align them with policies adopted by the Group.

Investment in associates and jointly controlled entities (equity accounted 
investees)
Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, 
but not control, over the financial and operating policies. Significant 
influence is presumed to exist where the Group holds between 20% and 
50% of the voting power of another entity. Jointly controlled entities are 
those entities over whose activities the Group has joint control, established 
by contractual agreement and requiring unanimous consent for strategic 
financial and operating decisions.

In the consolidated financial statements, investments in associates 
and jointly controlled entities, including partnerships, are accounted for 
using equity accounting principles and are initially recognised at cost. 
Investments in equity accounted investees are carried at the lower of the 
equity-accounted amount and the recoverable amount. The Group’s share 
of the equity accounted net profit or loss of the investee is recognised in 
the consolidated income statement from the date significant influence or 
joint control commences until the date it ceases.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the equity 
accounted investee, the carrying amount of the interest is reduced to zero, 
and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent 
that the Group has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the 
investee.

Accounting for acquisition of non-controlling interests
Acquisition of non-controlling interests are accounted for as transactions 
with owners in their capacity as owners and therefore no goodwill is 
recognised as a result of such transactions.

Jointly controlled operations
A jointly controlled operation is a joint venture carried on by each venturer 
using its own assets in pursuit of the joint operation. The consolidated 
financial statements include the assets that the Group controls and the 
liabilities that it incurs in the course of pursuing the joint operation, and the 
expenses that the Group incurs and its share of the income that it earns 
from the joint operation.
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Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intragroup balances, and any unrealised gains and losses or income and 
expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are eliminated in preparing 
the consolidated financial statements.

(e) Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in 
business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, 
including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of 
the Group’s other components.

Internal reporting provides discrete financial information for each 
operating segment enabling the segments’ operating results to be regularly 
reviewed by the Group’s CEO to make decisions about resources to be 
allocated to the segment and assess its performance.

Segment results that are reported to the CEO include items directly 
attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a 
reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets, 
head office expenses, and income tax assets and liabilities.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to 
acquire property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets other than 
goodwill.

(f) Revenue recognition
Goods sold and services rendered
Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable, net of returns, trade discounts and 
volume rebates. Revenue from sale of goods is recognised in the income 
statement when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been 
transferred to the buyer.

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the income statement in 
proportion to the stage of completion of the transaction at reporting date. 
The stage of completion is assessed by reference to work performed. 
No revenue is recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding 
recovery of the consideration due or if the costs incurred or to be incurred 
cannot be measured reliably.

Construction contracts
Contract revenue and expenses are recognised on an individual contract 
basis using the percentage of completion method when the stage of 
contract completion can be reliably determined, costs to date can be 
clearly identified, and total contract revenue and costs to complete can be 
reliably estimated. Two or more contracts are treated as a single contract 
where the contracts are negotiated as a single package, are closely 
interrelated and are performed concurrently or in a continuous sequence.

Profit recognition for lump sum fixed price contracts does not commence 
until cost to completion can be reliably measured. This is generally between 
15% and 30% complete.

Stage of contract completion is generally measured by reference to 
physical completion. An assessment of total labour hours and other costs 
incurred to date as a percentage of estimated total costs for each contract 
is used if it is an appropriate proxy for physical completion. Task lists, 
milestones, etc. are also used to calculate or confirm the percentage of 
completion if appropriate.

Where the outcome of a contract cannot be reliably estimated, contract 
costs are expensed as incurred. Where it is probable that the costs will 
be recovered, revenue is recognised to the extent of costs incurred. 
An expected loss is recognised immediately as an expense.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised as revenue when the right to receive payment is 
established. This applies even if they are paid out of pre-acquisition profits.

(g) Finance costs (net)
Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of 
discount on provisions, impairment losses recognised on financial assets, 
and losses on hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss, 
and are disclosed net of interest revenue.

Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest 
method.

Borrowing costs for the construction of qualifying assets are capitalised 
during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the 
asset for its intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

(h) Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax 
expense is recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it 
relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or 
in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income 
or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 
years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes 
and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised 
for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or 
liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to 
investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent 
that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
In addition, deferred tax is not recognised for the taxable temporary 
differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is 
measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary 
differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable 
right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income 
taxes levied by the same authority on the same taxable entity, or on 
different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and 
assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised 
simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and 
deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. 
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will 
be realised.

Tax consolidation
The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities are 
part of a tax-consolidated group. As a consequence, all members of the 
tax-consolidated group are taxed as a single entity. The head entity within 
the tax-consolidated group is UGL Limited.

Current tax expense/income, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets 
arising from temporary differences of the members of the tax-consolidated 
group are recognised in the separate financial statements of the members 
of the tax-consolidated group using the Group allocation approach.

Any current tax liabilities (or assets) and deferred tax assets arising from 
unused tax losses of the subsidiaries are assumed by the Company and are 
recognised as amounts payable (receivable) to (from) other entities in the 
tax-consolidated group in conjunction with any tax funding arrangement 
amounts.

The Company recognises deferred tax assets arising from unused tax 
losses of the tax-consolidated group to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profits of the tax consolidated group will be available against 
which the asset can be utilised.

Nature of tax funding agreements and tax sharing agreements
The head entity, in conjunction with other members of the tax consolidated 
group, has entered into a tax funding arrangement which sets out the 
funding obligations of members of the tax consolidated group in respect of 
tax amounts. The tax funding arrangements require payments to/from the 
head entity equal to the current tax liability/(asset) assumed by the head 
entity and any tax loss deferred tax asset assumed by the head entity, 
resulting in the head entity recognising an inter-entity receivable/(payable) 
equal in amount to the tax liability/(asset) assumed. The inter-entity 
receivables/(payables) are at call.
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Contributions to fund the current tax liabilities are payable in accordance 
with the tax funding arrangement and reflect the timing of the head 
entity’s obligation to make payments for tax liabilities to the relevant tax 
authorities.

The head entity, in conjunction with other members of the tax consolidated 
group, has also entered into a tax sharing agreement. The tax sharing 
agreement provides for the determination of the allocation of income tax 
liabilities between entities should the head entity default on its tax payment 
obligations. No amounts have been recognised in the financial statements 
in respect of this agreement as payment of any amounts under the tax 
sharing agreement is considered remote.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with 
original maturities of three months or less.

(j) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course 
of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. 
Cost is assigned on a standard cost basis with the exception of contract 
specific requirements to use an average cost basis.

Construction work in progress
Construction work in progress represents the gross unbilled amount 
expected to be collected from customers for contract work performed to 
date. It is measured at cost plus profit recognised to date less progress 
billings and recognised losses. Cost includes all expenditure related directly 
to specific projects and an allocation of fixed and variable overheads 
incurred in the Group’s contract activities based on normal operating 
capacity.

If progress billings exceed costs incurred plus recognised profits, then the 
difference is presented as billings in advance in the statement of financial 
position.

(k) Property, plant and equipment
Owned assets
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure 
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of 
self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour, an 
appropriate portion of production overheads, and capitalised borrowing 
costs. The cost of self-constructed and acquired assets includes: (i) the 
initial estimate at the time of installation and during the period of use, when 
relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring 
the site on which they are located; and (ii) changes in the measurement of 
existing liabilities recognised for these costs resulting from changes in the 
timing or outflow of resources required to settle the obligation or from 
changes in the discount rate.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different 
useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of property, plant 
and equipment.

Leased assets
Leases with terms under which the Group assumes substantially all of the 
risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance 
leases are stated at an amount equal to the lower of fair value and the 
present value of minimum lease payments at inception of the lease, 
less accumulated depreciation (see below) and impairment losses 
(see accounting policy (m)).

Other leases are operating leases and these leased assets are not 
recognised on the Group’s statement of financial position.

Sale of non-current assets
The net gain or loss on disposal is included in the income statement at the 
date control of the asset passes to the buyer, usually when an unconditional 
contract for sale is signed.

The gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between the 
carrying amount of the asset at the time of disposal and the net proceeds 
on disposal (including incidental costs).

Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised in the carrying amount if it is probable that the future economic 
benefits embodied within the item will flow to the Group, and the cost of 
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced 
part is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, 
plant and equipment are recognised in the income statement as an 
expense as incurred.

Depreciation
The depreciable amount of fixed assets including building and capitalised 
leased assets, but excluding freehold land, is depreciated over their useful 
lives on a straight line basis commencing from the time the asset is ready 
for use.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are 
as follows:

•  Buildings – 40 years

•  Plant and equipment – 3 to 20 years or the term of the lease

The residual value, the useful life and the depreciation method applied to 
an asset are reassessed at least annually.

(l) Intangibles
Goodwill
Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in 
intangible assets. For the measurement of goodwill at initial recognition 
see accounting policy (d).

Subsequent measurement
Following initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses. In respect of equity-accounted investees, the carrying 
amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment, 
and an impairment loss on such an investment is not allocated to any asset, 
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the equity 
accounted investee.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is not amortised but 
is tested annually for impairment (see accounting policy (m)), or more 
frequently if indicators of impairment exist.

Software
Software acquired by the Group is stated at cost less accumulated 
amortisation (see below) and impairment losses (see accounting policy 
(m)). Internally developed software is capitalised once the project is 
assessed to be feasible. Costs incurred in determining project feasibility are 
expensed as incurred. The costs capitalised include consulting, licensing 
and direct labour costs.

Project establishment costs
Expenditure incurred in tendering and establishing facilities to provide 
construction or maintenance or other services under specific contracts 
are capitalised and amortised over the initial term of the contract.

Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost 
less accumulated amortisation (see below) and impairment losses 
(see accounting policy (m)).

Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible assets is capitalised only 
when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific 
asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred.

Amortisation
Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight line basis 
over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets unless such lives are 
indefinite. Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are 
systematically tested for impairment annually. Software and other 
intangible assets are amortised from the date that they are available 
for use.



Annual Report 2012   73  

The estimated useful lives in the current and comparative periods are 
as follows:

•  Software – 1 to 10 years

•  Project establishment costs – Initial contract term

•  Other intangible assets – 5 to 15 years

(m) Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets (including 
receivables), and non-financial assets, other than cash and cash 
equivalents, inventories, construction contract assets, and deferred tax 
assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there 
is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated.

For goodwill, assets that have an indefinite useful life and intangible assets 
that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated 
annually.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the 
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows 
(cash-generating units).

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of 
an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement unless the 
asset has previously been revalued, in which case the impairment loss is 
recognised as a reversal to the extent of that previous revaluation with 
any excess recognised through the income statement.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to 
the cash-generating unit (group of units) and then to reduce the carrying 
amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro-rata basis.

Reversal of impairment
Impairment losses, other than in respect of goodwill, are reversed when 
there is an indication that the impairment loss has decreased or no longer 
exists or there has been a change in the estimate used to determine 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not 
reversed.

An impairment loss in respect of a held to maturity security, or receivable 
carried at amortised cost, is reversed if the subsequent increase in 
recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after 
the impairment loss was recognised.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the assets carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss 
had been recognised.

Recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a post-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset.

Where the carrying amount of a non-current asset is greater than its 
recoverable amount, the asset is considered to be impaired and is written 
down to its recoverable amount. Where net cash inflows are not largely 
independent, recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating 
unit to which the asset belongs. The decrement in the carrying amount is 
recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which the impairment 
loss occurs.

Impairment of receivables is not recognised until objective evidence is 
available that a loss event has occurred. Significant receivables are 
individually assessed for impairment.

(n) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than not 
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and 
the amount can be reliably estimated. If the effect is material, provisions 
are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

Warranties
Provision is made for the estimated liability on all products still under 
warranty at reporting date. This provision is estimated having regard to 
service warranty experience.

Contract
Provision is made for the expected loss when it is probable that the total 
contract costs will exceed total contract revenue.

Claims
Provision is made for claims and legal costs where litigation has been 
commenced, or it is probable that litigation will commence, where such 
claims are not covered by professional indemnity insurance.

Public liability and workers’ compensation insurances
The Group self-insures for various risks, including workers’ compensation in 
some states. Provision is made for the Group’s obligations for both incurred 
and incurred but not reported insurance claims through assessment based 
on prior claims history.

(o) Financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments
The Group has the following non-derivative financial instruments: 
investments in subsidiaries; trade and other receivables; cash and cash 
equivalents; loans and borrowings; and trade and other payables.

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value 
plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, non-derivative financial instruments are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any 
impairment losses.

A financial instrument is recognised if the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognised 
if the Group’s contractual rights to cash flows from the financial assets 
expire or if the Group transfers the financial asset to another party 
without retaining control or substantially all risks and rewards of the asset. 
Financial liabilities are derecognised if the Group’s obligations specified 
in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits 
with original maturities of three months or less. Bank overdrafts that 
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash 
management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents 
for the purpose of the statement of cash flows.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage specifically 
identified foreign currency and interest rate risks. The Group does not 
speculate in foreign currency or interest rate dealings. Specific derivative 
instruments are used as follows:

•  Foreign currency – Foreign currency forward exchange contracts are 
purchased to hedge project-specific transactions. These are used to 
hedge the functional currency dollar value of contractual risks and 
benefits and are set at the beginning of each relevant project.

•  Interest rates – The Group may raise term debt at both fixed and 
floating rates. The Group may from time to time enter into interest 
rate swap arrangements to manage the mix between fixed and 
floating debt.

Derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value. The fair value of 
forward exchange contracts is calculated by reference to current forward 
exchange rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles. The fair value of 
interest rate swaps is determined by reference to market values for similar 
instruments.

(p) Derivatives and hedging activities
The Group designates certain derivatives as either:

•  Hedges of probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedges);

•  Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net investment 
hedges);

•  Hedges of fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm 
commitment (fair value hedges); or

•  Economic hedges (not subject to hedge accounting).
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On entering into a hedging relationship, the Group formally designates and 
documents the hedge relationship and the risk management objective and 
strategy for undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes 
identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, 
the nature of the risk being hedged and how the entity will assess the 
hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to changes 
in the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. 
Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting 
changes in fair value or cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing basis 
to determine that they actually have been highly effective throughout the 
financial reporting periods for which they are designated.

Cash flow hedges
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify 
as cash flow hedges which hedge exposure to variability in cash flows of 
a recognised asset or liability, or a highly probable forecasted transaction 
are recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
the hedging reserve. The ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss 
within other income or other expenses.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or 
is sold, terminated or exercised, or the entity revokes designation of the 
hedge relationship. At that point in time, any cumulative gain or loss on 
the hedging instrument recognised in equity is kept in equity until the 
forecasted transaction occurs. When the hedged item is a non-financial 
asset, the amount recognised in other comprehensive income is transferred 
to the carrying amount of the asset when it is recognised. In other cases 
the amount recognised in other comprehensive income is transferred to 
profit or loss in the same period that the hedged item affects profit or loss.

Net investment hedge
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly 
to cash flow hedges.

Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion 
of the hedge is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in the hedging reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss within other income or other 
expenses.

Gains or losses accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss when 
the foreign operation is partially disposed or sold.

Fair value hedges
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as 
fair value hedges are recorded in profit or loss, together with any changes 
in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability attributable to the hedged 
risk. The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of interest rate swaps 
hedging fixed rate borrowings is recognised in profit or loss within finance 
costs, together with changes in the fair value of the hedged fixed rate 
borrowings attributable to interest rate risk. The gain or loss relating to 
the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss within other income 
or other expenses.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the 
adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item for which the effective 
interest method is used is amortised to profit or loss over the period to 
maturity using a recalculated effective interest rate.

Economic hedges
Hedge accounting is not applied to derivative instruments that 
economically hedge monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies. Changes in fair value of such derivatives are recognised in 
profit or loss as part of foreign currency gains and losses in other income 
or other expenses.

(q) Foreign currencies
Transactions
Foreign currency transactions are initially translated into the functional 
currency at the rate of exchange at the date of the transaction. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting 
date are retranslated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange 
rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation 
are recognised in the income statement. Foreign currency differences 

arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss, except for 
differences arising on the retranslation of a financial liability designated 
as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation, or qualifying cash 
flow hedges, which are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated within equity in the hedging reserve.

Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities including goodwill and fair value adjustments 
arising on consolidation of foreign operations are translated into Australian 
currency at rates of exchange current at the reporting date, while revenues 
and expenses are translated at approximately the foreign exchange rates 
ruling at the date of the transaction. Exchange differences arising on 
translation are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated within equity in the translation reserve.

(r) Lease payments
Operating lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income 
statement on a straight line basis over the term of the lease. Lease 
incentives received are offset against the total lease expense and spread 
over the lease term on a straight line basis.

Finance lease payments
Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and 
reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated to 
each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

(s) Employee benefits
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in relation to 
wages and salaries, annual leave, long service leave, workers’ compensation 
and vested sick leave. No provision is made for non-vesting sick leave.

Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries, annual leave and sick 
leave represent present obligations resulting from employees’ services 
provided to reporting date and are calculated at undiscounted amounts 
based on wage and salary rates that the Group expects to pay as at the 
reporting date including related on-costs, such as workers’ compensation 
insurance and payroll tax.

The portions of annual leave, long service leave and workers’ compensation 
provisions, expected to be settled later than one year, are discounted using 
interest rates on national government guaranteed securities with terms to 
maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash 
outflows.

Liability for termination benefits is recognised when a detailed plan for the 
termination has been developed and a valid expectation has been raised in 
those employees affected that the termination will be carried out.

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which 
an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and will have no 
legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for 
contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an 
expense in the income statement as incurred.

A defined benefit plan provides defined lump sum benefits based on years 
of service and final average salary. The liability recognised in the statement 
of financial position is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at 
the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets, together 
with adjustments for unrecognised past service costs. The defined benefit 
obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the 
projected unit credit method.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by 
discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high 
quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the 
benefits will be paid, and maturity dates approximating the terms of the 
Group’s obligations. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience 
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised in the 
period in which they occur, directly in other comprehensive income.
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(t) Share-based payments
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to certain employees. 
Information relating to employee share and option schemes is set out in 
Note 21: Share-based payments.

The grant date fair value of share-based payment awards made to 
employees is recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding 
increase in equity, over the period that the employees become 
unconditionally entitled to the awards. The amount recognised as an 
expense is adjusted over the period to reflect the number of awards for 
which the related service and non-market vesting conditions are expected 
to be met, but is not adjusted when market performance conditions are 
not met.

When the Company grants awards over its shares to employees of 
subsidiaries, the fair value at grant date is recognised as an increase in the 
investments in subsidiaries, with a corresponding increase in equity over 
the vesting period of the grant.

(u) Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing net profit after income 
tax attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company, excluding any 
costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, 
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.

Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of 
basic earnings per share to take into account the after income tax effect 
of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential 
ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed 
to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential 
ordinary shares.

(v) Share capital

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are 
accounted for as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Treasury shares
The amount of the consideration paid for the Company’s ordinary shares, 
purchased on-market by the UGL Limited Employee Share Plan Trust for 
UGL employee share plans, is recognised as a deduction from equity in the 
reserve for treasury shares, net of any tax effects.

When treasury shares subsequently vest to employees under the UGL 
Employee share plans, the carrying value of the vested shares is 
transferred to the employee equity benefit reserve.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are 
declared.

(w) Australian goods and services tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods 
and services tax (GST), except where the amount of GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the taxation authority. In these circumstances, the GST 
is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of 
the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable or payable is included as a current 
asset or liability in the statement of financial position.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. 
The GST components of cash flows arising from investing and financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority 
are classified as operating cash flows.

(x) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published 
that are relevant to the Group’s operations but are not mandatory for the 
30 June 2012 accounting period. The Group’s assessment of the impact of 
these is set out below.

•  AASB 9 Financial Instruments will become mandatory for the Group’s 
annual reporting period ended 30 June 2014, and could change the 
classification and measurement of financial assets. The Group does not 
plan to adopt this standard early, and the extent of the impact has not 
yet been determined.

•  AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements; AASB 127 Separate 
Financial Statements (2011); AASB 11 Joint Arrangements; AASB 128 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (2011); and AASB 12 
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities. This suite of standards, 
applicable retrospectively to accounting periods commencing on or 
after 1 January 2013, introduce a new approach to the recognition of 
related entities, including determining which investees should be 
consolidated based on when the investor is exposed, or has rights, 
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 
Accounting for joint arrangements is based on assessment of 
respective rights and obligations, rather than legal structure. 
Additional disclosure requirements apply to interests in subsidiaries, 
joint arrangements, associates and/or unconsolidated structured 
entities. The Group does not intend to adopt these standards early. 
They will be first applied in the financial statements for the Group’s 
annual reporting period ending 30 June 2014. Any potential effect is 
expected to be on the Group’s disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements.

•  AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement is applicable prospectively to 
accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013, and 
explains how to measure fair value when required by other standards. 
The standard will be first applied in the financial statements for the 
Group’s annual reporting period ending 30 June 2014. The Group 
does not intend to adopt this standard early and it is not expected to 
have a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements of 
the Group.

•  Revised AASB 119 Employee Benefits is applicable retrospectively to 
accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013, and will 
first apply to the Group’s annual reporting period ending 30 June 2014. 
The amendments focus on but are not limited to the accounting for 
defined benefit plans. The standard requires the recognition of all 
re-measurements of defined benefit liabilities/assets immediately 
in other comprehensive income (removal of the so-called ‘corridor 
method’) and the calculation of a net interest expense or income by 
applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. 
This replaces the expected return on plan assets that is currently 
included in profit or loss. Had the Group adopted the standard in the 
current reporting period, profit or loss would have been lower 
by $233,000. The Group has not yet decided when to adopt the 
new standard.

There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that are 
expected to have a material impact on the Group in the current or future 
reporting periods.
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NOTE 2: CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Capitalisation of tender costs
In accordance with accounting policy Note 1: Significant accounting policies 
(l), expenditure incurred in relation to a tender is capitalised and amortised 
over the initial term of the contract, where the costs can be separately 
identified and measured reliably and it is probable that the contract will be 
obtained. Judgement is exercised in determining whether it is probable 
that the contract will be obtained. An error in judgement would result in 
capitalised tender costs being recognised in the income statement in the 
following year.

Goodwill and intangibles
Significant judgements are made with respect to identifying and valuing 
intangible assets on acquisitions of new businesses. The Group assesses 
whether goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful lives are impaired 
at least annually in accordance with the accounting policy in Note 1: 
Significant accounting policies (m).

These calculations involve an estimation of the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating units to which the goodwill and intangibles with indefinite 
useful lives are allocated.

Construction contracts
In accordance with Note 1: Significant accounting policies (f), revenue from 
construction contracts is recognised using the percentage of completion 
method. Judgement is exercised in determining the stage of completion of 
the contract, and in reliably estimating the total contract revenue and 
contract costs to completion.

Self-insurance provisions
Where the Group self-insures for various risks, provision is made for 
both reported and incurred but not reported insurance claims through 
assessment based on current and prior claims experience. Significant 
judgement is required in making this assessment. Future claims on 
incidents unreported at balance date could result in additional costs being 
recognised in the income statement in the following year.

Income taxes
The Group is subject to income taxes in Australia and jurisdictions where 
it has foreign operations. Judgement is required in determining the 
worldwide provision for income taxes. Judgement is also required in 
assessing whether deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are 
recognised on the statement of financial position. Assumptions about the 
generation of future taxable profits depend on management’s estimates of 
future cash flows. Changes in circumstances will alter expectations, which 
may impact the amount of deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised on 
the balance sheet and the amount of other tax losses and temporary 
differences not yet recognised.

Share-based payments
The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees 
by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which 
they are granted. The fair value is determined by management using a 
binomial tree or Monte-Carlo simulation option-pricing model using the 
assumptions detailed in Note 21: Share-based payments, including the 
likelihood of achieving non-market vesting conditions. The accounting 
estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled share based payments 
would have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next annual reporting period but may impact expenses 
and equity.

NOTE 3: OPERATING SEGMENTS

For management purposes, the Group is organised into four business units 
based on their products and services:

UGL Infrastructure: a multi-service business offering construction, 
engineering, operational and maintenance services to the water, power, 
road and rail transport, communications and defence industries.

UGL Rail: Australia’s largest, vertically integrated provider of passenger 
and freight rolling stock and rail maintenance solutions as well as a growing 
player in the Asian rail industry.

UGL Resources: a long-term solutions provider of project delivery and asset 
services to clients in the resources industry.

UGL Services: a global provider of outsourcing property services. Services 
include corporate real estate, facilities management, project management, 
finance and accounting, valuations, consulting, research and procurement. 
This business includes UGL Services – Premas Operations in Asia; UGL 
Services – Equis Operations and UGL Services – Unicco Operations in North 
America; UGL Services – ANZ in Australia and New Zealand; and from 
acquisition on 5 December 2011, the DTZ group of companies.

Management measures performance based on segment profit before 
interest and income tax (EBIT); and after adjusting for acquisition costs, 
amortisation of intangibles associated with acquisitions, and restructuring 
costs. Group financing (including finance costs and finance income) and 
income taxes are managed on a group basis and are not allocated to 
operating segments.

Revenue from external customers is measured in a manner consistent with 
that in the income statement except for the proportional consolidation of 
the results of associates and joint ventures for management reporting 
purposes.

Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis.

Segment assets reported to management are measured in a manner 
consistent with that of the financial statements, based on the operations 
of the segment.

Since 1 July 2010, there has been no change to the basis of segmentation 
other than the acquisition of the DTZ group of companies on 5 December 
2011, and no change to the measurement basis for the segment profit 
or loss.

As detailed in the Directors’ Report, on 1 July 2012 the Group announced a 
reorganisation of its management structure into Engineering; Operations 
and Maintenance; and Property business units. Revised management 
accounting to support this will commence from 1 July 2012, with the 
revised management structure forming the basis of segment reporting 
as at 31 December 2012.
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 ENGINEERING  PROPERTY

     REPORTABLE CORPORATE/   

$’000 INFRASTRUCTURE RAIL RESOURCES SERVICES SEGMENTS UNALLOCATED ELIMINATIONS TOTAL

2012

Reportable segment revenue

External revenues 1,158,537 1,198,474 844,358 1,601,628 4,802,997 – – 4,802,997

Inter-segment revenue 4,861 130 12,188 1,618 18,797 – (18,797) –

Total reportable segment revenue 1,163,398 1,198,604 856,546 1,603,246 4,821,794 – (18,797) 4,802,997

Reconciliation:

Revenue – joint ventures and associates       (348,585) (348,585)

Consolidated revenue        4,454,412

Reportable segment profit (loss) 57,958 85,062 45,040 95,375 283,435 (36,471) – 246,964

Reconciliation:

Interest income 565 1,257 93 3,877 5,792 714 – 6,506

Interest expense      (31,256) – (31,256)

Amortisation of intangibles associated  
with acquisitions      (11,524) – (11,524)

Acquisition related costs      (13,987) – (13,987)

Restructuring costs      (15,764) – (15,764)

Tax on equity accounted income      – (3,151) (3,151)

Consolidated profit before income tax        177,788

2011

Reportable segment revenue

External revenues 1,059,953 1,248,996 947,328 1,327,322 4,583,599 – – 4,583,599

Inter-segment revenue 5,677 631 11,635 1,540 19,483 – (19,483) –

Total reportable segment revenue 1,065,630 1,249,627 958,963 1,328,862 4,603,082 – (19,483) 4,583,599

Reconciliation:

Revenue – joint ventures and associates       (298,503) (298,503)

Consolidated revenue        4,285,096

Reportable segment profit (loss) 83,338 84,755 44,027 76,490 288,610 (39,199)  249,411

Reconciliation:

Interest income 408 2,156 127 702 3,393 1,624 – 5,017

Interest expense      (25,795) – (25,795)

Amortisation of intangibles associated  
with acquisitions      (9,807) – (9,807)

Tax on equity accounted income      – (2,988) (2,988)

Consolidated profit before income tax        215,838

Other segment information

2012

Reportable segment assets 355,698 631,726 282,212 1,328,556 2,598,192 149,457 – 2,747,649

Depreciation and amortisation 6,394 10,324 8,377 23,092 48,187

Share of profit/(loss) of equity  
accounted investees (14,055) 6,873 (1,795) 1,708 (7,269)

Equity accounted investments 2,611 16,271 11,472 12,763 43,117

Capital expenditure 9,919 31,348 3,953 24,051 69,271

2011

Reportable segment assets 332,947 642,986 421,959 837,120 2,235,012 173,489 – 2,408,501

Depreciation and amortisation 6,515 12,930 9,754 19,898 49,097

Share of profit/(loss) of equity  
accounted investees 1,227 6,861 (476) 106 7,718

Equity accounted investments 7,667 13,545 8,030 765 30,007

Capital expenditure 7,705 13,556 7,143 10,913 39,317
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 2012 2011 

 $’000 $’000

NOTE 3: OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

Geographical information

Revenues from external customers based on the  
location of the customer:

Australia 2,932,871 3,023,933

United States 909,934 864,733

Other countries 611,607 396,430

 4,454,412 4,285,096

Non-current assets based on geographical location  
of assets:

Australia 583,528 564,055

United States 539,498 509,945

Other countries 280,950 5,525

 1,403,976 1,079,525

NOTE 4: REVENUE

Services 2,526,826 2,180,730

Construction contracts 1,840,264 2,017,609

Sale of goods 87,322 86,757

 4,454,412 4,285,096

NOTE 5: OTHER INCOME

Net gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 258 717

Other 2,156 1,782

 2,414 2,499

NOTE 6: EXPENSES

Profit before income tax includes the following  
specific expenses:

Rental expenses – operating leases 79,030 59,822

DTZ acquisition costs 13,987 –

Restructuring and redundancy costs 15,764 –

Defined contribution plans contributions 86,616 75,798

Equity settled share-based payments 7,070 4,457

Net realised foreign exchange losses 3 1,982

Net unrealised foreign exchange losses 761 621

NOTE 7: FINANCE COSTS (NET)

Interest expense 31,256 25,795

Other borrowing costs 8,457 6,717

 39,713 32,512

Interest revenue (6,506) (5,017)

 33,207 27,495

 2012 2011 

 $’000 $’000

NOTE 8: INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Income tax recognised in profit or loss

Current year expense 23,854 60,685

Deferred tax expense – origination and reversal of  
temporary differences 22,506 (2,758)

Adjustments for prior years (3,964) (757)

 42,396 57,170

Income tax recognised directly in equity

Current tax – relating to share-based payments (169) (318)

Deferred income tax (revenue)/expense included in  
tax expense comprises:

Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax assets 6,214 (17,946)

Increase in deferred tax liabilities 16,292 15,188

 22,506 (2,758)

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Accounting profit before income tax 177,788 215,838

Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2011: 30%) 53,337 64,751

Adjusted for:

– equity-settled share-based payments 117 (179)

– research and development expenses (1,800) (150)

– other non-deductible/assessable items 920 448

– finance costs (6,134) (6,534)

– equity accounted investee income (2,062) (2,089)

– overseas tax rate differential (123) 376

– tax losses (recouped)/not recognised (1,947) 1,049

– amortisation of intangibles 1,222 255

– acquisition costs 2,830 –

Over provision in prior years (3,964) (757)

Income tax expense 42,396 57,170

NOTE 9: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances 157,902 177,883

Call deposits 19,302 58,738

Cash on hand 171 67

 177,375 236,688

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis 
for financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in Note 35: Financial 
instruments.
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 2012 2011 

 $’000 $’000

NOTE 10: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current

Trade and other receivables 582,606 470,170

Allowance for impairment of trade receivables (15,045) (3,309)

 567,561 466,861

Prepayments 21,008 12,202

Retentions withheld on contracts in progress 1,071 601

 589,640 479,664

Non-current

Trade and other receivables 799 615

Prepayments 2,367 1,796

 3,166 2,411

The Group’s exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses 
related to trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 35: Financial 
instruments.

 2012 2011 

 $’000 $’000

NOTE 11: INVENTORIES

Current

Raw materials and stores 77,987 74,621

Construction work in progress (refer below) 281,760 311,377

 359,747 385,998

Contracts in progress

Aggregate of costs and profits recognised on  
contracts in progress 7,540,498 8,281,366

Progress billings and advances received on  
contracts in progress (7,339,089) (8,108,771)

Net construction work in progress 201,409 172,595

Net construction work in progress comprises:

Amounts due from customers – work in progress 281,760 311,377

Amounts due to customers – included in amounts  
payable on construction contracts and billings  
in advance (80,351) (138,782)

 201,409 172,595

NOTE 12: CURRENT TAX RECEIVABLE AND PAYABLE

The current tax receivable of $23,025,000 (2011: $831,000) represents the 
amount of income tax recoverable in respect of current and prior financial 
periods that arises from the payment of tax in excess of amounts due 
to the relevant tax authority. The current tax liability of $12,831,000 
(2011: $26,333,000) represents the amount of income tax payable in 
respect of current and prior financial periods.

 2012 2011 

 $’000 $’000

NOTE 13: OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Current

Foreign currency forward contracts 190 170

Non-current

Loan to associate 9,750 9,750

Deferred compensation plan assets 14,137 11,856

Other 493 5

 24,380 21,611
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 2012 2011 

 $’000 $’000

NOTE 14: INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR  
USING THE EQUITY METHOD

Equity accounted investees 43,117 30,007

Interests in joint venture entities and associates
Details of interests in significant joint venture entities and associates are as follows:

  INVESTMENT 

 INTERESTS HELD CARRYING AMOUNT

  2012 2011 2012 2011 

NAME PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES % % $’000 $’000

Joint ventures:

Aker Kvaerner Australia/United Group Infrastructure  Construction and maintenance of oil and  
gas facilities 50 50 27 1,063

United Group Infrastructure/Balfour Beatty High voltage transmission line installation 50 50 2,612 7,666

PREMAS (Thailand) Co. Ltd Integrated real estate management services 49 49 875 753

Texmaco UGL Rail Private Ltd  Manufacture and supply of rolling stock  
components 50 50 6,064 3,400

UGL KAEFER  General maintenance services and field  
managed modifications 50 50 11,445 6,967

UGL Services LLC  Integrated facilities and property management  
services 50 – 1,596 –

Zadelhoff Participates Property advisory 50 – 8,036 –

Associate:

Metro Trains Melbourne Pty Ltd  Operation and maintenance of Melbourne  
passenger train network 20 20 10,205 10,146

    40,860 29,995

Other equity accounted investees    2,257 12

    43,117 30,007
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 2012 2011 

 $’000 $’000

The shares of the equity accounted investees’ results  
consist of:

Revenues 348,585 298,503

Expenses (352,703) (287,753)

 (4,118) 10,750

Income tax expense (3,151) (3,032)

Net (loss)/profit accounted for using the equity method (7,269) 7,718

Statement of financial position

Share of the equity accounted investees’ assets and  
liabilities consist of:

Current assets 158,261 110,488

Non-current assets 37,811 9,010

Total assets 196,072 119,498

Current liabilities 119,478 74,828

Non-current liabilities 37,194 14,663

Total liabilities 156,672 89,491

Net assets 39,400 30,007

Goodwill included in carrying value 3,717 –

Carrying amount at end of year 43,117 30,007

Movements in carrying amount of equity accounted  
investees

Carrying amount at beginning of year 30,007 12,745

Acquisition 10,980 –

Reclassification (to)/from joint venture operations (18) 9

Impairment of investment – (28)

Investment in investees 22,009 16,004

Share of other comprehensive income (217) –

Foreign exchange movements (1,966) (130)

Share of equity accounted investees’ net profit (7,269) 7,718

Distributions from equity accounted investees (10,409) (6,311)

Carrying amount at end of year 43,117 30,007

Group’s share of equity accounted investees’ capital  
commitments 2,093 –
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     PLANT 

   PLANT AND LEASEHOLD AND EQUIPMENT  

$’000 FREEHOLD LAND BUILDINGS EQUIPMENT IMPROVEMENTS UNDER LEASE TOTAL

NOTE 15: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost

Balance at 1 July 2010 17,894 67,194 200,363 25,296 4,069 314,816

Additions – 1,097 29,185 832 865 31,979

Transfers and reclassifications – – (510) – – (510)

Disposals – – (12,996) (197) (2,453) (15,646)

Effect of movements in exchange rates – (8) (8,603) (1,144) (1,151) (10,906)

Balance at 30 June 2011 17,894 68,283 207,439 24,787 1,330 319,733

Balance 1 July 2011 17,894 68,283 207,439 24,787 1,330 319,733

Additions – 3,736 18,093 2,276 3,542 27,647

Acquisition of subsidiaries – – 10,636 15,647 – 26,283

Transfers and reclassifications – – (8,060) 8,186 – 126

Disposals – – (16,091) (587) (609) (17,287)

Effect of movements in exchange rates – – 635 418 200 1,253

Balance at 30 June 2012 17,894 72,019 212,652 50,727 4,463 357,755

Depreciation

Balance at 1 July 2010 – (23,737) (118,014) (9,025) (2,665) (153,441)

Depreciation for the year – (2,441) (23,865) (3,446) (583) (30,335)

Disposals – – 11,150 197 1,544 12,891

Effect of movements in exchange rates – 4 6,640 864 1,105 8,613

Balance at 30 June 2011 – (26,174) (124,089) (11,410) (599) (162,272)

Balance at 1 July 2011 – (26,174) (124,089) (11,410) (599) (162,272)

Depreciation for the year – (2,942) (25,873) (4,582) (837) (34,234)

Transfers and reclassifications – – 7,142 (7,142) – –

Disposals – – 15,452 528 609 16,589

Effect of movements in exchange rates – – (663) (311) (190) (1,164)

Balance at 30 June 2012  (29,116) (128,031) (22,917) (1,017) (181,081)

Carrying amounts

At 1 July 2010 17,894 43,457 82,349 16,271 1,404 161,375

At 30 June 2011 17,894 42,109 83,350 13,377 731 157,461

At 1 July 2011 17,894 42,109 83,350 13,377 731 157,461

At 30 June 2012 17,894 42,903 84,621 27,810 3,446 176,674

Transfers and reclassification refer to transfers and adjustments between asset categories.
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        OTHER  

  PROJECT  SOFTWARE TRADEMARKS   IDENTIFIED  

  ESTABLISHMENT  UNDER AND TRADE CUSTOMER DEVELOPMENT INTANGIBLE  

$’000 GOODWILL COSTS SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT NAMES CONTRACTS COSTS ASSETS TOTAL

NOTE 16: INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost

Balance at 1 July 2010 940,375 29,373 72,656 3,129 35,287 148,575 11,765 9,092 1,250,252

Additions – – 8,245 – – – – – 8,245

Costs capitalised – 5,198 – 7,301 – – 5,170 – 17,669

Goodwill on prior acquisition 6,433 – – – – – – – 6,433

Transfers and reclassifications – – 1,913 (1,403) (700) – – 700 510

Costs written off – (5,720) – – – – – – (5,720)

Disposals – (2,227) (2,136) – – – – – (4,363)

Effect of movements in exchange rates (100,827) (666) (1,604) – (6,828) (30,142) – (1,376) (141,443)

Balance at 30 June 2011 845,981 25,958 79,074 9,027 27,759 118,433 16,935 8,416 1,131,583

Balance 1 July 2011 845,981 25,958 79,074 9,027 27,759 118,433 16,935 8,416 1,131,583

Additions – – 1,548 152 – – – – 1,700

Costs capitalised – 9,881 5,449 10,820 – – 22,396 – 48,546

Acquisition of subsidiaries 151,063 – – 173 42,309 25,380 – 6,778 225,703

Transfers and reclassifications – – 7,089 (7,215) – – – – (126)

Costs written off – (3,089) – – – – – – (3,089)

Disposals – (2,047) (1,446) – – – – – (3,493)

Effect of movements in exchange rates 20,763 32 484 28 1,361 6,202 – 277 29,147

Balance at 30 June 2012 1,017,807 30,735 92,198 12,985 71,429 150,015 39,331 15,471 1,429,971

Amortisation

Balance at 1 July 2010 – (11,038) (24,823) – – (30,686) (4,527) (4,272) (75,346)

Amortisation for the year – (3,679) (10,010) – – (9,369) (4,958) (1,407) (29,423)

Costs written off – 1,856 – – – – – – 1,856

Disposals – – 2,145 – – – – – 2,145

Effect of movements in exchange rates – 118 1,285 – – 6,648 – 681 8,732

Balance at 30 June 2011 – (12,743) (31,403) – – (33,407) (9,485) (4,998) (92,036)

Balance at 1 July 2011 – (12,743) (31,403) – – (33,407) (9,485) (4,998) (92,036)

Amortisation for the year – (2,989) (11,426) – – (9,411) (2,972) (2,304) (29,102)

Costs written off – 968 – – – – – – 968

Disposals – 2,047 1,331 – – – – – 3,378

Effect of movements in exchange rates – (43) (276) – – (1,763) – (183) (2,265)

Balance at 30 June 2012 – (12,760) (41,774) – – (44,581) (12,457) (7,485) (119,057)

Carrying amounts

At 1 July 2010 940,375 18,335 47,833 3,129 35,287 117,889 7,238 4,820 1,174,906

At 30 June 2011 845,981 13,215 47,671 9,027 27,759 85,026 7,450 3,418 1,039,547

At 1 July 2011 845,981 13,215 47,671 9,027 27,759 85,026 7,450 3,418 1,039,547

At 30 June 2012 1,017,807 17,975 50,424 12,985 71,429 105,434 26,874 7,986 1,310,914

Trademarks and trade names are not amortised as they are considered to have indefinite useful lives.

Trademarks and trade names are allocated to the following operating divisions: Infrastructure $1,500,000 (2011: $1,500,000); Services – Equis Operations 
and Unicco Operations $27,671,000 (2011: $26,259,000); and Services – DTZ $42,258,000 (2011: $Nil).
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NOTE 16: INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing goodwill
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Group’s 
operating divisions which represent the lowest level within the Group at 
which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes as follows.

 2012 2011 

 $’000 $’000

Infrastructure 103,414 103,414

Rail 232,844 232,844

Resources 22,534 22,534

Services 100,106 100,106

Services – DTZ 150,879 –

Services – Equis Operations and Unicco Operations 408,030 387,083

Total goodwill 1,017,807 845,981

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill resulted from:

•  Services – DTZ: Acquisition of the DTZ group of companies, and foreign 
exchange translation. (Refer: Note 26: Business Combination).

•  Services – Equis Operations and Unicco Operations: Difference due to 
foreign exchange translation.

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is based on value in 
use calculations. The calculations use cash flow projections based on the 
following year’s budget and plan, extended over a period of five years. 
Cash flows into perpetuity are extrapolated using a growth factor relevant 
to the sector and business plan. A post-tax discount rate is applied adjusted 
for the risk of the industry in which each unit operates.

Key assumptions used for value in use calculations
A growth rate of 3-3.5% has been applied to extrapolate cash flows. 
The growth rate does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for 
the business in which the cash-generating units operate.

Post-tax discount rates have been applied to discount the forecast future 
attributable post-tax cash flows as follows:

•  Services – Equis Operations and Unicco Operations: 9.5%

•  Services – DTZ: 10.5%

•  All other cash-generating units: 10.6%

The discount rates used reflect specific risks relating to the relevant 
cash-generating units and their country of operation.

The recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit exceeds its 
carrying amount.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
The estimation of the recoverable amount of cash-generating units was 
tested for sensitivity using reasonable possible changes in key assumptions; 
being a decrease of 1 percentage point in the terminal growth rate, or an 
increase in the post tax discount rate of 1 percentage point, with all other 
assumptions remaining constant.

Neither of these tests resulted in a possible impairment loss as at 30 June 
2012 (2011: $Nil impairment for both tests).

 2012 2011 

 $’000 $’000

NOTE 17: DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(a) Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the  
following:

Gross deferred tax assets

Provisions 46,157 43,563

Employee benefits 39,410 42,969

Property, plant and equipment 7,749 6,912

Inventories 2,477 2,155

Equity 578 647

Unrealised foreign exchange 11 125

Tax credits 2,039 3,772

Other 105 7

 98,526 100,150

Amount netted against deferred tax liabilities (59,105) (46,037)

Net deferred tax assets 39,421 54,113

Gross deferred tax liabilities

Property, plant and equipment (9,232) (7,807)

Intangible assets (53,236) (40,445)

Research and development (5,400) (1,945)

Income recognition (2,992) (2,928)

Deferred expenditure (5,927) (4,354)

Treasury shares (833) (593)

Other (3) –

Foreign exchange – (572)

 (77,623) (58,644)

Amount netted against deferred tax assets 59,105 46,037

Net deferred tax liabilities (18,518) (12,607)



Annual Report 2012   85  

 DEFERRED TAX DEFERRED TAX 

 ASSETS LIABILITIES 

 $’000 $’000

(b) Deferred tax movements

At 1 July 2010 87,587 (51,051)

(Charged)/credited:

– to profit or loss 17,946 (15,188)

– transfers 1,018 (1,018)

– foreign exchange differences (6,401) 8,613

At 30 June 2011 100,150 (58,644)

(Charged)/credited:

– to profit or loss (6,214) (16,292)

– directly to equity 375 (324)

– transfers (230) 230

– acquisition of subsidiaries 2,508 (432)

– foreign exchange differences 1,937 (2,161)

At 30 June 2012 98,526 (77,623)

Set off of deferred tax within the same tax jurisdiction (59,105) 59,105

Net deferred tax 39,421 (18,518)

 2012 2011 

 $’000 $’000

(c) Unrecognised deferred tax balances

Deferred tax assets

Tax losses – revenue 36,740 1,631

Tax losses – capital 3,385 3,385

 40,125 5,016

The deferred tax assets arising from tax losses of  
subsidiaries have not been recognised as an asset  
because it is not probable that future tax profit will be  
available against which the Group can utilise this benefit. 40,125 5,016

 2012 2011 

 $’000 $’000

NOTE 18: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Current

Unsecured:

– trade payables and accruals 374,962 280,310

– work in progress accruals 58,470 90,329

– billings in advance under construction contracts 80,351 138,782

 513,783 509,421

The Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and 
other payables is disclosed in Note 35: Financial instruments.

Financial guarantees
In accordance with the deed of covenant and note agreements entered 
into by the Company with its providers of finance facilities and the US note 
holders, the Company has agreed to be guarantor, together with a number 
of wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, for the principal and interest 
payments.

Bank guarantees and surety bonds are issued to third parties arising out 
of dealings in the normal course of business by subsidiaries (see Note 19: 
Loans and borrowings – other finance facilities (a) and (b)).

The Company has also entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee with certain 
subsidiaries as described in Note 31: Subsidiaries(b). Under the terms of the 
Deed, the Company has guaranteed the repayment of all current and future 
creditors in the event of any of the entities party to the Deed being wound 
up. Details of the consolidated position of the Company and subsidiaries 
party to the Deed are set out in Note 31: Subsidiaries(b).

No liability has been recognised by the Group in relation to these 
guarantees, as the fair value of the guarantees is immaterial.

 2012 2011 

 $’000 $’000

NOTE 19: LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Current

Unsecured:

– bank overdraft 3,094 –

– bank loans – 647

– other loan 1,995 183

Secured:

– finance lease liabilities 1,293 323

 6,382 1,153

Non-current

Unsecured:

– bank loans 354,799 179,719

– other loan 511 623

– US notes 245,314 232,796

Secured:

– finance lease liabilities 2,381 627

– bank loans 3,349 –

 606,354 413,765

The other loan is a term debt facility, fully utilised, which matures on 
30 June 2015.

Interest rates on bank and other loans are floating and the average interest 
rate applicable at 30 June 2012 was 2.48%

US notes are US$250 million of debt raised in the US private placement 
note market in three tranches at fixed interest rates at weighted average of 
6.62% over the three tranches.

In accordance with the deed of covenant and note agreements entered into 
by the Company with its providers of finance facilities and the US note 
holders, the Company has agreed to be guarantor, together with a number 
of wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, for the principal and interest 
payments. The Group has agreed, among other things, not to grant any 
security over its assets (subject to certain exceptions) and to maintain 
specified financial ratios.

All borrowing covenant ratios and limits have been complied with during 
the financial year.
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NOTE 19: LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

Debt maturities and amounts utilised

Bank loans and US notes are drawn under the following term debt facilities:

  PRINCIPAL 

  FACILITY CURRENCY PRINCIPAL   

  AMOUNT FACILITY AMOUNT AMOUNT UTILISED AMOUNT UNUTILISED 

 MATURITY DATE THOUSANDS A$’000 A$’000 A$’000

2012

Bank loans

Term debt July 2013 USD 90,000 88,313 88,313 –

Term debt July 2014 GBP 175,000 268,035 165,416 102,619

Term debt August 2014 AUD 50,000 50,000 – 50,000

Term debt March 2015 HKD 26,400 3,349 3,349 –

Term debt June 2015 AUD 100,000 100,000 – 100,000

Term debt July 2015 USD 95,000 93,220 76,538 16,682

Term debt July 2015 AUD 60,000 60,000 – 60,000

Term debt June 2016 AUD 110,000 110,000 24,532 85,468

    772,917 358,148 414,769

US notes

Tranche 1 September 2016 USD 50,000 49,063 49,063 –

Tranche 2 June 2018 USD 150,000 147,188 147,188 –

Tranche 3 September 2018 USD 50,000 49,063 49,063 –

    245,314 245,314 –

2011

Bank loans

Term debt February 2012 RMB 5,000 722 647 75

Term debt July 2011 AUD 20,000 20,000 – 20,000

Term debt July 2012 AUD 60,000 60,000 – 60,000

Term debt July 2012 USD 75,000 69,839 55,871 13,968

Term debt July 2013 USD 90,000 83,807 83,807 –

Term debt June 2016 AUD 110,000 110,000 40,041 69,959

    344,368 180,366 164,002

US notes

Tranche 1 September 2016 USD 50,000 46,559 46,559 –

Tranche 2 June 2018 USD 150,000 139,678 139,678 –

Tranche 3 September 2018 USD 50,000 46,559 46,559 –

     232,796 232,796 –
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 2012 2011 

 $’000 $’000

Other finance facilities:

(a) Bank guarantee and/or letter of credit facilities  
provided by several financial institutions:

Guarantee and/or letter of credit 762,476 763,168

Amount utilised 522,487 521,164

Unused guarantee facilities 239,989 242,004

(b) Unsecured bond facilities provided by surety entities:

Bonds in aggregate 39,250 37,247

Amount utilised 14,341 12,107

Unused bonds 24,909 25,140

Finance lease liabilities:

Payable:

– not later than one year 1,317 489

– later than one year but not later than five years 2,635 789

– later than five years – –

Minimum lease payments 3,952 1,278

Less future finance charges (278) (328)

Total lease liability 3,674 950

Reconciled to:

– current liabilities 1,293 323

– non-current liabilities 2,381 627

 3,674 950

Finance leases have been entered into as a means of funding the 
acquisition of minor items of plant and equipment and acquiring access to 
property and vehicles. Rental payments are generally fixed, with no special 
terms or conditions attaching to the leases.

Lease liabilities are secured by a charge over the leased assets.

NOTE 20: EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

 2012 2011 

 $’000 $’000

Current

Salaries and wages accrued 45,121 37,549

Liability for long service leave 30,764 27,485

Liability for annual leave 73,760 68,636

Other employee benefits 65,884 46,485

 215,529 180,155

Non-current

Liability for long service leave 6,693 5,438

Liability for annual leave 761 657

Defined benefit obligations 15,029 –

Deferred compensation plan liabilities 14,137 11,856

 36,620 17,951

Non-current deferred compensation plan liabilities are supported by an 
equal and opposite plan asset (refer Note 13).

Superannuation
Defined contribution superannuation plans
The majority of the Group’s employees are entitled to benefits on 
retirement, disability or death from defined contribution superannuation 
funds to which the Group contributes based on accumulated contributions 
and earnings for each employee. The Group has a legal obligation to 
contribute to the funds in accordance with the superannuation guarantee 
charge legislation in Australia and similar obligations in overseas 
jurisdictions. The Group’s legal or constructive obligation is limited to these 
contributions. Contributions to these superannuation plans are charged as 
an expense as the contributions are paid or become payable.

Defined benefit plans
As a result of the acquisition of the trading operations of DTZ Holdings plc 
in December 2011, the Group provides funded defined benefit plans to 
certain employees and former employees, and has an obligation to pay 
unfunded pensions to seven former employees or their surviving spouses.

The defined benefit plan provides benefits based on final pensionable 
salary, and has been closed to new members and future accrual since 
31 October 2009. As the pension obligation to certain former employees 
is in substance that of a defined benefit scheme, this obligation has been 
recognised as a retirement benefit liability and is reported together with 
the funded defined benefit plan.

Retirement benefit obligation liability

  2012 

  $’000

Present value of unfunded obligations  (3,370)

Present value of funded obligations  (95,268)

  (98,638)

Fair value of defined benefit plan assets  83,609

Net liability  (15,029)

The Group has no legal obligation to settle the liabilities with an immediate 
contribution or additional one-off contribution. The Group intends to 
continue to contribute to the defined benefit plans at a rate in line with 
the latest recommendations provided by the plans’ actuary.

Employer contributions to the defined benefit plan are based on the 
recommendations of the plan actuary. Actuarial assessments are made 
every three years, with the last assessment made as at 30 April 2011. 
Total employer contributions expected to be paid for the year ending 
30 June 2013 are $2.3 million.

Reconciliations

  $’000

Present value of defined benefit obligations:

At acquisition  (91,009)

Interest cost  (2,598)

Actuarial losses  (6,949)

Benefits paid  1,834

Foreign exchange movement  84

  (98,638)

Fair value of defined benefit plan assets:

At acquisition  80,356

Expected return on assets  4,203

Contributions by employer  993

Benefits paid  (1,834)

Foreign exchange movement  (109)

  83,609

Amounts recognised in the income statement

Interest cost  (2,598)

Expected return on assets  4,203

Total included in finance costs  1,605

Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income

Actuarial (loss) recognised in the period  (6,949)
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NOTE 20: EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Actual return on plan assets

 2012 AT ACQUISITION

Principal actuarial assumptions – 30 June 2012

Consumer price index 2.2% 2.7% pa

Discount rate 4.4% 5.3% pa

Pension increases in payment:

5% or inflation 2.9% 3.3% pa

2.5% or inflation 2.1% 2.2% pa

Life expectancy of male aged 60 at report date 27.5 years 27.4 years

Life expectancy of male aged 60, 20 years after  
report date 29.6 years 29.5 years

The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to the following 
key assumptions:

 APPROX CHANGE IN LIABILITIES:

Change in assumptions

Discount rate by 0.1% pa +/– $1.7 million

Increase in life expectancy by one year + $2.5 million

 2012 AT ACQUISITION

Categories of plan assets

Major categories of plan assets:

Equity instruments 26% 37%

Debt, cash and other instruments 74% 63%

 100% 100%

 2012 AT ACQUISITION 

 $’000 $’000

Historical information

Present value of defined benefit obligations (98,638) (91,009)

Fair value of defined benefit plan assets 83,609 80,356

Net liability (15,029) (10,653)

Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities – –

Experience adjustments arising on plan assets – –

The Group’s obligation for the liabilities of the defined benefit plans 
commenced on the acquisition of the DTZ business on 5 December 2011.

NOTE 21: SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Employee share plans and share-based payments
Deferred short-term incentive scheme (DSTI)
The short-term incentive scheme for certain key senior executives which 
commenced in the 2011 financial year includes a deferred component 
whereby a proportion of cash bonuses due are converted into performance 
shares. Shares will vest if the executive remains employed by a Group 
company for approximately two years from grant. During the year, 196,414 
performance shares (2011: 161,780) were issued under the DSTI. Dividends 
are received over the vesting period and no amount is payable on vesting 
of the shares.

The DSTI includes an opportunity for additional shares defined as the 
Medium Term Incentive (MTI) which may be granted and will vest if the 
executive remains employed by a Group company for two years and the 
Group or executive’s business unit achieves EBIT growth of between 
greater than 5% and 10% averaged over those two years. During the year 
no shares (2011: $Nil) were granted and vested under this performance 
measure. No amount is payable on vesting of the shares.

Long-term incentive scheme (LTI)
Certain senior executives are awarded an LTI in the form of either; options, 
performance shares, or a mix of both, at the individual’s choice. The 
calculation methodology applied ensures relative parity in the composite 

value of shares and options granted. The award will vest subject to TSR 
and EPS hurdles over a four year performance period, and continuing 
employment. Each award of performance shares and options is split into 
two equal tranches, with one tranche being measured against the TSR 
hurdle; and the other tranche against the EPS hurdle.

Performance conditions broadly align with the hurdles applicable to the 
Managing Director & CEO.

During the year, 851,035 performance shares (2011: 129,622) and 
746,935 options (2011: 338,215) were issued under the LTI.

The exercise price of options is $11.49 (2011: $14.59). Dividends on the 
performance shares are received over the vesting period and no amount 
is payable in respect of the shares.

Other UGL share schemes
Permanent employees of the Group who have completed 24 months’ 
continuous service are entitled to participate in the Employee share plan. 
Employees are entitled to contribute from $500 to $4,500 from their 
salary per annum in order to acquire shares in UGL. UGL matches this 
contribution by purchasing on-market additional shares to the value of 
$500 or $1,000 to match the first $500 or $1,000 of the employees’ salary 
sacrifice in each year.

The non-executive Directors’ Share Plan, and the Managing Director & 
CEO’s succession plan continued in the 2012 financial year (refer to the 
Remuneration Report section in the Directors’ Report, for further 
information).

Share-based payments
Share options
The Company previously issued options to employees under the legacy 
Employee Share Option Plan closed to new participants from May 2009, 
and issues options to employees under the LTI scheme. All options are 
issued subject to performance hurdles consistent with the objective of 
aligning the interest of employees with shareholders. (Refer to the 
Remuneration Report section in the Directors’ Report, for further 
information).

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are 
as follows:

 WEIGHTED  WEIGHTED  

 AVERAGE  AVERAGE  

 EXERCISE NUMBER OF EXERCISE NUMBER OF 

 PRICE OPTIONS PRICE OPTIONS 

 2012 2012 2011 2011

Outstanding at the beginning  
of the period $13.08 5,360,991 $13.48 6,806,189

Forfeited during the period $15.24 (652,717) $13.45 (762,993)

Expired during the period $13.65 (2,350,409) $17.07 (901,954)

Exercised during the period $10.83 (267,867) $8.14 (118,466)

Granted during the period $11.49 746,935 $14.59 338,215

Outstanding at the end of  
the period $11.90 2,836,933 $13.08 5,360,991

Exercisable at the end of  
the period  750,000  917,867

The options outstanding at 30 June 2012 have an exercise price in the 
range of $18.26 to $11.49 and a weighted average contractual life of 
4.8 years.

During the financial year 267,867 share options were exercised 
(2011: 118,466). The share price at the date of exercise was $11.98 
(2011: $15.21).

The fair value of services received in return for share options granted 
to employees is measured by reference to the fair value of share options 
granted. The estimate of the fair value of the services received is measured 
based on a binomial tree or Monte Carlo simulation option-pricing model.
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 2012 2011

Fair value of share options granted during the  
year and assumptions

Fair value at measurement date $1.72 – $2.01 $2.71 – $3.26

Share price at grant date $12.45 $14.13

Exercise price $11.49 $14.56 – $14.59

Expected volatility (historic average share  
price volatility) 30% 35%

Option life 4.4 years 4.4 years

Expected dividends 7.5% 5.0%

Risk-free interest rate 3.30% 5.31%

Share options issued in the year are granted under a service condition and 
exercise is also dependent on the Group achieving certain performance 
hurdles.

Performance shares
The Company has previously issued performance shares to employees, 
including the Managing Director & CEO, under employee share plans. 
Performance shares were granted during the year under the DSTI and 
LTI schemes (Refer to the Remuneration Report section in the Directors’ 
Report for further information). All performance shares granted vest from 
September 2012 to September 2015, subject to various performance 
conditions, for no consideration.

The number of performance shares is as follows:

 NUMBER NUMBER 

 OF SHARES OF SHARES 

 2012 2011

Outstanding at the beginning of the period 1,813,487 1,587,855

Forfeited during the period (207,369) (99,213)

Granted during the period 1,086,432 324,845

Vested during the period (395,647) –

Outstanding at the end of the period 2,296,903 1,813,487

The fair value of services received in return for performance shares 
granted to employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the 
performance shares granted. The estimate of the fair value of the services 
received is measured by reference to the vesting conditions specific to the 
grant; based on either a binomial tree or Monte-Carlo simulation 
option-pricing model.

 2012 2011

Fair value of performance shares granted  
during the year and assumptions

Fair value at measurement date $9.42 – $12.45 $10.07 – $14.95

Share price at grant date $12.45 $14.13 – $14.95

Rights life 1.8 – 3.8 years 2 – 3.7 years

Expected dividends 7.5% 5.0%

Risk-free interest rate 3.14% – 3.21% 4.30% – 5.25%

Performance shares issued in the year are granted under a service 
condition and vesting is also dependent on the Group achieving certain 
performance hurdles.

 2012 2011 

 $’000 $’000

NOTE 22: OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Current

Foreign currency forward contracts 135 115

Lease liabilities and incentives 3,730 1,626

 3,865 1,741

Non-current

Foreign currency forward contracts 16 –

Lease liabilities and incentives 30,326 4,960

 30,342 4,960

NOTE 23: PROVISIONS

Current

Warranty and contract 9,067 13,227

Workers’ compensation 11,126 10,104

Public liability 8,527 8,866

Claims 11,217 –

Other 17,928 5,539

 57,865 37,736

Non-current

Warranty and contract 261 1,828

Workers’ compensation 9,959 8,822

Public liability 16,352 14,695

Claims 24,807 –

Other 18,799 5,912

 70,178 31,257

Total provisions 128,043 68,993
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NOTE 23: PROVISIONS (continued)

Movement in provisions
   PUBLIC 

 WARRANTY WORKERS’ LIABILITY    

 AND CONTRACT  COMPENSATION INSURANCE CLAIMS OTHER TOTAL 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 July 2011 15,055 18,926 23,561 – 11,451 68,993

Provisions made during the year 9,111 13,891 6,685 – 13,398 43,085

Acquisition of subsidiaries – – – 38,414 41,439 79,853

Provisions used during the year (7,316) (12,334) (4,620) (900) (30,999) (56,169)

Provisions reversed during the year (7,539) (610) (1,827) – (373) (10,349)

Foreign exchange movement 17 1,212 1,080 (1,490) 1,536 2,355

Unwinding of discount – – – – 275 275

Balance at 30 June 2012 9,328 21,085 24,879 36,024 36,727 128,043

Warranties and contracts
Provision is made for the estimated liability on all products still under warranty at balance date, and known claims arising under service and construction 
contracts. The provision is estimated having regard to previous claims experience.

Public liability and workers’ compensation insurance

The Group self-insures for various risks, including workers’ compensation in some states. Provision is made for the Group’s obligations for incurred and 
incurred but not reported (IBNR) insurance claims, based on assessment using prior claims history.

Claims
Provision is made for claims and legal costs where litigation has been commenced, or it is probable that litigation will commence, where such claims are not 
covered by professional indemnity insurance.

Other
Other provisions include provisions for rectification and maintenance obligations, and onerous contracts.

NOTE 24: CAPITAL AND RESERVES

 2012 2011 

 $’000 $’000

Share capital

Issued and paid-up capital

165,565,038 (2011: 165,297,171) ordinary shares 908,775 905,875

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared 
from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at shareholders’ 
meetings.

 2012 2011

 NUMBER OF  NUMBER OF  

 ORDINARY  ORDINARY  

 SHARES $’000 SHARES $’000

Movements in  
contributed equity

Opening balance 165,297,171 905,875 165,178,705 904,911

Shares issued pursuant to 
Employee Share Option  
Plan (refer to Note 21:  
Share-based payments,  
and(i) below) 267,867 2,900 118,466 964

Closing balance 165,565,038 908,775 165,297,171 905,875

(i)  In December 2011, the Company issued 267,867 shares, pursuant to the exercise of options under 
the Employee Share Option Plan, at an exercise price of $10.38.

Total ordinary shares of 166,315,038 are held by the share registry, which 
includes an additional 750,000 shares, treated for accounting purposes 
as options.

The Company does not have authorised capital or par value in respect of 
its issued shares. All issued shares are fully paid.

 2012 2011 

 $’000 $’000

Dividends

Dividends recognised in the current year by the  
Company are:

Final dividend for 2011 of 38 cents (2010: 35 cents)  
per share, fully franked paid on 8 September 2011 63,098 58,075

Interim dividend of 34 cents (2011: 32 cents) per share,  
fully franked paid on 16 March 2012 56,547 53,135

Total dividends paid 119,645 111,210

Dividends not recognised at year end:

Since the year end the directors have recommended  
the payment of a final dividend of 36 cents  
(2011: 38 cents) per share fully franked based on tax  
paid at 30%. The aggregate amount of the proposed  
dividend expected to be paid on 7 September 2012 out  
of retained profits at 30 June 2012 not recognised as  
a liability at year end. 59,873 63,098

Dividend franking account – Company

Franking credits at a tax rate of 30% (2011: 30%)  
available to shareholders of UGL for subsequent  
financial years 17,263 41,393

The above amounts represent the balance of the dividend franking account 
at year end adjusted for:

(i)  franking credits that will arise from the payment of the current tax 
liability;

(ii)  franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends 
recognised as a liability at the year end; and

(iii)  franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised 
as receivables by the tax-consolidated group at the year end.

The ability to utilise the franking credits is dependent upon there being 
sufficient available profits to declare dividends. The impact on the dividend 
franking account of dividends proposed after the balance sheet date, but 
not recognised as a liability, is to reduce it by $25,660,000. (2011: 
$27,042,000).The final dividend for 2012 will be franked out of existing 
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franking credits and out of franking credits arising from the payment of 
income tax after year end. In accordance with the tax consolidation 
legislation, the Company as the head entity in the tax consolidated group 
has assumed the benefit of all franking credits.

Capital risk management
The Board’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the ability of 
the Group to continue as a going concern whilst providing adequate returns 
to shareholders and maintaining an optimal capital structure to reduce the 
cost of capital.

The Board monitors the return on capital, which is defined as net operating 
income divided by total shareholders’ equity, excluding non-controlling 
interests. The Board of Directors also establishes the dividend payout 
policy which is targeted as being 65% to 75% of underlying earnings. 
Dividend payout for the year ended 30 June 2012 was 87% (2011:73%).

Capital is monitored on the basis of the gearing ratio. The strategy is to 
maintain a gearing ratio of net debt/(net debt + equity) for the Group 
within 20% to 40%. The gearing ratios at 30 June 2012 and 30 June 2011 
were as follows:

  2012 2011 

 NOTE $’000 $’000

Total borrowings 19 612,736 414,918

Less: cash and cash equivalents 9 (177,375) (236,688)

Net debt  435,361 178,230

Total equity  1,169,680 1,165,928

Total capital  1,605,041 1,344,158

Gearing ratio  27.1% 13.3%

As disclosed in Note 19: Loans and borrowings, the Group is required to 
maintain specified financial ratios. The Group complied with all borrowing 
covenant ratios and other capital requirements during the year.

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management 
during the year.

Reserves
Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising 
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations 
where their functional currency is different to the presentation currency 
of the reporting entity.

Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net 
change in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments related to hedged 
transactions where settlement has not yet occurred.

Employee equity benefit reserve
The employee equity benefit reserve represents the cumulative expense 
associated with equity-settled compensation, under employee option and 
share plans.

Treasury shares
The reserve for treasury shares comprises the cost of the Company’s 
shares purchased and held by the trustee of the UGL Limited Employee 
Share Plan Trust being unvested shares issued under UGL employee share 
plans. As at 30 June 2012 the Trust held 2,551,987 of the Company’s shares 
(2011: 1,586,820 shares).

  2012 2011 

 NOTE $’000 $’000

NOTE 25: CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a) Reconciliation of cash

Cash and cash equivalents 9 177,375 236,688

Bank overdraft 19 (3,094) –

Cash and cash equivalents in statement  
of cash flows  174,281 236,688

For the purposes of the statement of  
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents  
includes cash on hand and in banks and  
deposits at call, net of overdrafts, and  
investments in money market instruments  
with less than 90 days to maturity.

(b) Reconciliation of profit after tax to  
cash flow from operations

Profit after tax  135,392 158,668

Adjustment for:

 Depreciation and amortisation  63,336 59,759

 Equity-settled share-based payments  7,070 4,457

 Profit on sale of property, plant  
 and equipment 5 (258) (717)

 Unrealised foreign exchange loss  138 2,337

 Share of equity accounted investees net  
 profit/distribution  17,695 (1,416)

 Interest defined benefit plan  (1,605) –

 Interest discount unwind  286 252

 Movement in income taxes payable  (39,761) 13,811

 Movement in deferred taxes  22,506 (4,970)

Changes in assets and liabilities:

 Trade and other receivables  13,563 (29,355)

 Inventories  36,632 (44,104)

 Other financial assets  (3,768) (3,204)

 Trade and other payables  (96,360) (14,602)

 Provisions and employee benefits  (43,856) 9,721

Cash flow from operations  111,010 150,637
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NOTE 26: BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 5 December 2011, UGL Europe Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary of 
UGL Limited) acquired all of the trading operations of the global real estate 
services company DTZ Holdings plc (DTZ), for a cash consideration of 
$148.0 million comprising $119 million (GBP 77.5 million) and assumed cash 
of $29 million (GBP 19.0 million). UGL Europe Limited purchased the DTZ 
subsidiaries from the administrator of DTZ immediately after DTZ entered 
administration.

DTZ is a leading real estate services group of companies, operating across 
43 countries, providing services in occupational and development markets, 
professional services, valuation, investment agency and consulting and 
research.

In the period from 5 December 2011 to 30 June 2012, the business 
contributed revenue of $276,519,000 and net profit after tax of 
$12,852,000 to the consolidated results for the year. The Group considers 
it impractical to disclose pro forma results for the year to include the 
business acquired due to the difficulties of restating the results of DTZ with 
the exclusion of the holding company and inter-related group transactions.

 $’000 $’000 $’000

    

IDENTIFIABLE ASSETS ACQUIRED AND PROVISIONAL ON  PROVISIONAL 

LIABILITIES ASSUMED ACQUISITION ADJUSTMENTS JUNE 2012

Property, plant and equipment 26,310 (27) 26,283

Intangible assets 74,640 – 74,640

Equity accounted investments 11,932 (952) 10,980

Other financial assets 893 (438) 455

Inventories 10,382 (1) 10,381

Income tax receivable 1,414 159 1,573

Trade and other receivables 123,471 (1,289) 122,182

Deferred tax assets 2,702 (194) 2,508

Cash and cash equivalents 47,556 – 47,556

Loans and borrowings (8,728) (3,121) (11,849)

Deferred tax liabilities (267) (165) (432)

Provisions (42,786) (37,067) (79,853)

Trade and other payables (92,599) (5,059) (97,658)

Other financial liabilities (28,922) (2) (28,924)

Income tax payable (5,694) – (5,694)

Employee benefits (59,134) (12,556) (71,690)

Total net identifiable assets 61,170 (60,712) 458

The Group is continuing the review of assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed. If new information is obtained within one year of the acquisition 
date, the acquisition accounting will be revised.

Trade receivables comprise gross contractual amounts due of $94,182,000 
of which $11,966,000 was expected to be uncollectible at the acquisition 
date.

Contingent liabilities
In the normal course of business, entities within the DTZ business may be 
involved in threatened or pending legal actions arising from its activities; 
including property management and valuations. Provision has been made 
for claims and for legal costs where litigation has been commenced, or it is 
probable that litigation will commence. The business carries professional 
indemnity insurance and no separate disclosure is made of the cost of 
claims covered by insurance as to do so could seriously prejudice the 
position of the Group. As the ultimate outcome of these claims cannot be 
reliably determined at the date of this report, contingent liabilities may 
exist for any amounts that ultimately become payable in excess of current 
provisioning levels.

GOODWILL $’000

Goodwill was recognised as a result of the acquisition as follows:

Total consideration transferred 147,984

Non-controlling interests, based on their proportionate interest in  
the recognised amounts of the assets and liabilities of the acquiree 3,537

Fair value of identifiable net assets (458)

Goodwill  151,063

Goodwill is attributable mainly to the skills and specialised knowledge and 
experience of the DTZ work force, and the synergies expected to be 
received from integrating the DTZ business into UGL’s existing property 
service business. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be 
deductible for income tax purposes.

OUTFLOW OF CASH $’000 $’000

Cash consideration  147,984

Less: cash balances acquired

Cash (47,556) 

Bank overdrafts 2,962 (44,594)

Outflow of cash  103,390

Acquisition related costs
The Group incurred acquisition related costs of $13,987,000 related to 
external legal fees and due diligence costs. These costs have been included 
in other expenses in the Group’s consolidated income statement.

 2012 2011 

 $’000 $’000

NOTE 27: OPERATING LEASES

Non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

– not later than one year 81,316 42,528

– later than one year but not later than five years 160,037 82,149

– later than five years 120,415 24,218

 361,768 148,895

The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain motor vehicles 
and office premises. These leases have average lives of between one and 
10 years. There are no financial restrictions placed upon the lessee by 
entering into these leases.
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 2012 2011 

 $’000 $’000

NOTE 28: CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure commitments

Contracted but not yet provided for and payable:

– Plant and equipment purchases 5,209 3,812

 5,209 3,812

Other commitments – –

NOTE 29: CONTINGENCIES

The directors are of the opinion that provisions are not required in respect 
of the matters noted below, as it is not probable that a future sacrifice of 
economic benefits will be required or the amount is not capable of reliable 
measurement:

(i)  Under the provisions of joint venture agreements undertaken by 
entities controlled by UGL, the controlled entities are jointly and 
severally liable for all liabilities incurred by the joint venture. As at 
30 June 2012, the assets of the joint ventures exceed such liabilities.

(ii)  In the normal course of business, entities within the Group may incur 
contractors’ and product liability or be subject to litigation in relation 
to performance obligations for specific contracts. Such liability 
includes the potential costs to carry out further works and/or litigation 
by or against those Group entities. Provision is made for the potential 
costs of carrying out further works based on known claims and 
previous claims history, and for legal costs where litigation has 
been commenced, or it is probable that litigation will commence. 
The business carries professional indemnity insurance and no separate 
disclosure is made of the cost of claims covered by insurance as to do 
so could seriously prejudice the position of the Group.

Based on previous experience, amounts specifically provided, and the 
circumstances of specific claims outstanding, no additional costs are 
anticipated. However, as the ultimate outcome of these claims cannot be 
reliably determined at the date of this report, contingent liabilities may 
exist for any amounts that ultimately become payable in excess of current 
provisioning levels.

NOTE 30: PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES

For the financial years ended 30 June 2012 and 2011, the parent entity of 
the Group was UGL Limited.

 2012 2011 

 $’000 $’000

Results of the parent entity

Profit for the year 139,364 89,401

Other comprehensive income – –

Total comprehensive income for the year 139,364 89,401

Financial position of the parent entity at year end

Current assets 175,732 96,124

Total assets 1,352,854 1,192,159

Current liabilities 53,015 86,469

Total liabilities 275,124 140,055

Total equity of the parent entity comprises:

Share capital 908,775 905,875

Employee equity benefit reserve 23,908 20,889

Retained earnings 145,047 125,340

Total equity 1,077,730 1,052,104

Parent entity capital commitments for acquisition of  
property, plant and equipment Contracted but not  
yet provided for and payable 816 1,079

Parent entity guarantees in respect of debts of its subsidiaries.

The Company has entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee with the effect 
that the Company guarantees debts in respect of its subsidiaries, and the 
subsidiaries may provide financial assistance to the Company.

The directors of subsidiaries who are parties to the Deed of Cross 
Guarantee detailed in Note 31: Subsidiaries(b) have given an undertaking 
that they will provide financial assistance to the Company and that they 
guarantee each creditor payment in full. The effect of this undertaking is 
to ensure sufficient financial assistance is provided to the Company as and 
when it is needed to enable the Company to continue its operations and 
fulfil all of its financial obligations now and in the future.

Further details of the Deed of Cross Guarantee and the subsidiaries subject 
to the deed, are disclosed in Note 31: Subsidiaries (b).

The parent entity has no contingent liabilities.
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NOTE 31: SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Significant subsidiaries
The financial statements at 30 June 2012 include the following significant 
subsidiaries:

 PARTIES COUNTRY OF 

 TO DEED INCORPORATION OWNED

 OF CROSS AND 2012 2011 

 GUARANTEE OPERATION % %

Parent entity:

UGL Limited (b) Australia

Significant subsidiaries:

UGL Infrastructure Pty Ltd (b) Australia 100 100

Inspection Testing & Certification Pty Ltd (b) Australia 100 100

Olympic Dam Maintenance Pty Ltd (b) Australia 100 100

United KG Construction Pty Ltd (b) Australia 100 100

United KG Maintenance Pty Ltd (b) Australia 100 100

United Group Pty Ltd (b) Australia 100 100

United KG (No. 1) Ltd (b) Australia 100 100

United KG (No. 2) Pty Ltd (b) Australia 100 100

United KG Engineering Services Pty Ltd (b) Australia 100 100

UGL FM Services Pty Ltd (b) Australia 100 100

United Group Infrastructure (Services) Pty Ltd (b) Australia 100 100

United Group International Pty Ltd (b) Australia 100 100

UGL Rail Pty Ltd (b) Australia 100 100

UGL Rail Services Pty Limited (b) Australia 100 100

UGL Resources (Services) Pty Limited (b) Australia 100 100

UGL Rail (North Queensland) Pty Ltd (b) Australia 100 100

UGL (NZ) Limited (b) New Zealand 100 100

United Group Infrastructure (NZ) Limited (b) New Zealand 100 100

UGL Services Pty Ltd (b) Australia 100 100

UGL Process Solutions Pty Ltd (b) Australia 100 100

UGL Procurement Services Pty Ltd (b) Australia 100 100

UGL HR Services Pty Ltd (b) Australia 100 100

UGL Resources Pty Ltd (b) Australia 100 100

UGL Rail Fleet Services Pty Limited (b) Australia 100 100

UGL Services PREMAS Operations Limited  Singapore 100 100

PREMAS Property Services (Shanghai) Co. Ltd  China 100 100

UGL Services ESMACO Operations Pte Ltd  Singapore 100 100

ESMACO Township Management Pte Ltd  Singapore 100 100

United Group Investment Partnership  USA 100 100

United Group USA Inc.  USA 100 100

UGL Services Equis Operations Co  USA 100 100

UGL Services Unicco Operations Co  USA 100 100

UGL Europe Limited (formerly United Group  
Europe Limited)  UK 100 100

DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited  UK 100 –

DTZ International Limited  UK 100 –

DTZ Asset Management SAS  France 100

DTZ Deutschland Holdings GmbH  Germany 100 –

DTZ Pacific Holdings Limited  British Virgin 
  Islands –  
  operations  
  Hong Kong  
  and China 100 –

Edmond Tie & Company Holdings Pte Ltd  Singapore 61 –

DTZ France SA  France 100 –

DTZ Debenham Tie Leung International  
Property Advisers (Shanghai) Co Ltd  China 100 –

DTZ Zadelhoff Tie Leung Central & Eastern  
Europe BV  Netherlands 100 –

(b) Deed of Cross Guarantee
Pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418 (as amended) dated 13 August 1998, 
the wholly owned subsidiaries listed above as parties to the Deed of Cross 
Guarantee are relieved from the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for 
preparation, audit and lodgement of financial reports and directors’ 
reports.

It is a condition of the Class Order that the Company and each of the 
subsidiaries enter into a Deed of Cross Guarantee. The effect of the Deed 
is that the Company guarantees to each creditor payment in full of any 
debt in the event of winding up of any of the subsidiaries under certain 
provisions of the Corporations Act 2001. If a winding up occurs under other 
provisions of the Act, the Company will only be liable in the event that after 
six months any creditor has not been paid in full. The subsidiaries have also 
given similar guarantees in the event that the Company is wound up.

During the year no entities were added to the Deed of Cross Guarantee, 
and Western Water Services Pty Ltd was released from its obligations 
under the Deed by Notice of Disposal on 17 February 2012.

A consolidated statement of comprehensive income and statement of 
financial position, comprising the Company and controlled entities which 
are party to the Deed, after eliminating all transactions between parties to 
the Deed of Cross Guarantee, at 30 June 2012 are set out as follows:

 2012 2011 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND RETAINED EARNINGS $’000  $’000

Revenue 3,088,811 3,233,444

Expenses (2,910,700) (3,019,999)

Finance costs expense (14,444) (10,237)

Share of profit of equity accounted investees (8,977) 7,612

Profit before tax 154,690 210,820

Income tax expense (27,147) (48,447)

Profit after tax 127,543 162,373

Other comprehensive income (2,999) 5,514

Total comprehensive income for the year 124,544 167,887

Retained earnings at beginning of year 261,720 210,557

Transfers to and from reserves 2,999 (5,514)

Dividends recognised during the year (119,645) (111,210)

Retained earnings at the end of the year 269,618 261,720
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 2012 2011 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION $’000  $’000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 67,211 142,774

Trade and other receivables 266,215 309,488

Inventories 348,995 383,190

Income tax receivable 18,189 –

Other financial assets 74 –

Total current assets 700,684 835,452

Non-current assets

Trade and other receivables 43,836 23,744

Investments accounted for using the equity method 30,354 28,967

Other financial assets 461,893 304,305

Property, plant and equipment 136,083 144,615

Intangible assets 513,890 485,746

Deferred tax assets 39,421 53,678

Total non-current assets 1,225,477 1,041,055

Total assets 1,926,161 1,876,507

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 341,639 441,253

Loans and borrowings 601 506

Employee benefits 90,372 118,470

Other financial liabilities 1,791 1,741

Income tax payable – 23,420

Provisions 23,716 27,668

Total current liabilities 458,119 613,058

Non-current liabilities

Loans and borrowings 243,248 52,800

Employee benefits 7,454 5,955

Other financial liabilities 3,489 4,960

Deferred tax liabilities 5,400 332

Provisions 3,778 5,459

Total non-current liabilities 263,369 69,506

Total liabilities 721,488 682,564

Net assets 1,204,673 1,193,943

Equity

Share capital 908,775 905,875

Reserves 26,280 26,348

Retained earnings 269,618 261,720

Total equity 1,204,673 1,193,943

NOTE 32: RELATED PARTIES

Key management personnel compensation
 2012 2011 

 $ $

Short-term employee benefits 8,823,469 10,800,552

Post-employment benefits 377,860 646,188

Share-based payments 3,455,175 3,648,412

 12,656,504 15,095,152

Individual directors and executives compensation disclosures
Information regarding individual directors and executive compensation 
and some equity instruments disclosures as required by Corporations 
Regulation 2M.3.03 is provided in the Remuneration Report section of the 
Directors’ Report.

Apart from the details disclosed in this note, no director has entered into 
a material contract with the Group since the end of the previous financial 
year and there were no material contracts involving directors’ interest 
existing at year end.

Loans to key management personnel and their related parties
No loans were outstanding or made to key management personnel and 
their related parties at any time during the 2011 and 2012 financial years.

Key management personnel transactions
From time-to-time key management personnel (KMP), or their related 
parties, may hold positions or interests in other entities that result in them 
having control or significant influence over the financial or operating 
policies of these entities.

Where these entities transacted with the Group in the reporting period, 
the terms and conditions of the transactions were no more favourable than 
those available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, 
on similar transactions to non-key management personnel related entities 
on an arm’s length basis.



Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2012

96  UGL Limited

NOTE 32: RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Option holdings
The movement during the reporting period in the number of options over ordinary shares in UGL, held directly or indirectly by each KMP, including their 
related parties, is as follows:

      VESTED AND 

 HELD AT GRANTED AS   HELD AT EXERCISABLE AT 

2012 1 JULY 2011 COMPENSATION EXERCISED OTHER CHANGES 30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2012

Executive Director

Mr R Leupen 2,100,000 – – (1,350,000) 750,000 750,000

Executives

Mr R Bonaccorso 281,345 – – – 281,345 –

Mr W Nolan 70,030 – – – 70,030 –

Mr R Shibuya – – – – – –

Mr D Simpson 166,569 – – (166,569) – –

Mr A Summers 379,932 – (267,867) – 112,065 –

Mr M Wandmaker – – – – – –

      VESTED AND 

 HELD AT GRANTED AS   HELD AT EXERCISABLE AT 

2011 1 JULY 2010 COMPENSATION EXERCISED OTHER CHANGES 30 JUNE 2011 30 JUNE 2011

Executive Director

Mr R Leupen 2,100,000 – – – 2,100,000 750,000

Executives

Mr J Birman 128,348 16,035 – (144,383) – –

Mr R Bonaccorso 281,345 – – – 281,345 –

Mr G Keches 133,974 12,198 – – 146,172 –

Mr L Lanzillo 133,974 12,198 – – 146,172 –

Mr R Shibuya – – – – – –

Mr D Simpson 166,569 – – – 166,569 –

Mr A Summers 357,651 40,747 (18,466) – 379,932 167,867

Other changes represent options that expired or were forfeited during the year.

All options that have vested are exercisable.

Options vested and exercisable at 30 June 2012 and 30 June 2011 include 750,000 shares issued to Mr R Leupen under the Long Term Incentive 
Performance Share Plan. These shares (treated as options for accounting purposes) have vested following the achievement of performance hurdles but are 
restricted from trading until the corresponding loan is repaid.
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Performance shares holdings
The movement during the reporting period of performance shares in UGL, held directly or indirectly by each KMP, including their related parties, 
is as follows:

 HELD AT GRANTED AS   HELD AT VESTED AT

2012 1 JULY 20112 COMPENSATION EXERCISED OTHER CHANGES3 30 JUNE 20124 30 JUNE 2012

Executive Director

Mr R Leupen1 1,012,890 38,982 – – 1,051,872 –

Executives

Mr R Bonaccorso 39,401 61,812 (25,000) – 76,213 –

Mr W Nolan 18,812 37,599 – – 56,411 –

Mr R Shibuya – – – – – –

Mr D Simpson 67,988 45,640 (50,000) (63,628) – –

Mr A Summers 74,629 67,264 (50,000) – 91,893 –

Mr M Wandmaker – – – – – –

 HELD AT GRANTED AS   HELD AT VESTED AT

2011 1 JULY 2010 COMPENSATION EXERCISED OTHER CHANGES3 30 JUNE 20114 30 JUNE 2011

Executive Director

Mr R Leupen1 979,447 33,443 – – 1,012,890 –

Executives

Mr J Birman 50,000 27,773  (77,773) – –

Mr R Bonaccorso 25,000 14,401 – – 39,401 –

Mr G Keches 50,000 20,636 – – 70,636 –

Mr L Lanzillo 50,000 20,636 – – 70,636 –

Mr R Shibuya – – – – – –

Mr D Simpson 50,000 17,988 – – 67,988 –

Mr A Summers 50,000 24,629 – – 74,629 –

1.  Consists of performance shares granted as compensation as long-term incentives and succession incentive shares. For accounting purposes the long-term incentive shares were recognised as an up-front 
grant of 900,000 performance shares

2.  Represents the shares held at 1 July 2011 or at the date first classified as a KMP.
3.  Other changes represent performance shares that were forfeited during the year.
4.  Where the KMP have left UGL or ceased to be classified as a KMP during the period, the balance held is the balance at the date they left the company or date ceased to be classified as a KMP.



Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2012

98  UGL Limited

NOTE 32: RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Equity holdings
The movement during the current year in the number of ordinary shares of UGL held directly or indirectly by each KMP, including their related parties, 
is as follows:

    RECEIVED 

   RECEIVED ON THROUGH 

 HELD AT  EXERCISE OF COMPANY  HELD AT

2012 1 JULY 20111 PURCHASES OPTIONS SHARE PLAN SALES 30 JUNE 20122

Directors

Mr T Rowe AO 121,591 – – 6,907 – 128,498

Mr R Leupen 1,624,361 – – – – 1,624,361

Mr G Cowan 9,295 2,000 – 2,750 – 14,045

Mr R Denham – 10,000 – 705 – 10,705

Mr R Humphry AO 174,780 – – 2,987 – 177,767

Mr J Ingram AM 76,216 – – 3,198 – 79,414

Ms K Spargo 8,514 9,000 – 2,960 – 20,474

Mr R White 34,154 – – 2,930 – 37,084

Executives

Mr R Bonaccorso 350 –  25,000 – 25,350

Mr W Nolan – – – – – –

Mr R Shibuya – – – – – –

Mr D Simpson 606 – – – – 606

Mr A Summers 147,156 – 267,867 50,000 – 465,023

Mr M Wandmaker – – – – – –

1.  Represents the shares held at 1 July 2011 or at the date first classified as a KMP.
2.  Where the KMP have left UGL or ceased to be classified as a KMP during the period, the balance held is the balance at the date they left the Company, or date ceased to be classified as a KMP.

    RECEIVED 

   RECEIVED ON THROUGH 

 HELD AT  EXERCISE OF COMPANY  HELD AT

2011 1 JULY 2010 PURCHASES OPTIONS SHARE PLAN SALES 30 JUNE 20111

Directors

Mr T Rowe AO 115,763 – – 5,828 – 121,591

Mr B Camarri AM (retired 21 October 2010) 94,879 – – 1,270 – 96,149

Mr R Leupen 1,624,361 – – – – 1,624,361

Mr G Cowan 6,975 – – 2,320 – 9,295

Mr R Humphry AO 172,260 – – 2,520 – 174,780

Mr J Ingram AM 73,517 – – 2,699 – 76,216

Ms K Spargo – 7,000 – 1,514 – 8,514

Mr R White 31,678 – – 2,476 – 34,154

Executives

Mr J Birman 323,012 – – – – 323,012

Mr R Bonaccorso 350 – – – – 350

Mr G Keches 108,349 – – – – 108,349

Mr L Lanzillo 108,349 – – – – 108,349

Mr R Shibuya – – – – – –

Mr D Simpson 606 – – – – 606

Mr A Summers 128,690 – 18,466 – – 147,156

1.  Where the KMP have left UGL during the period, the balance held is the balance at the date they left the Company.
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Non-key management personnel transactions
Contributions to superannuation funds on behalf of employees are 
disclosed in Note 6: Expenses.

Transactions with equity accounted investees
Details of equity accounted investees are set out in Note 14: Investments 
accounted for using the equity method.

Aggregate amounts included in the determination of profit before income 
tax that resulted from transactions with equity accounted investees were 
as follows:

 2012 2011 

 $ $

Sale of goods and services 129,589,760 61,184,648

Interest received 733,523 731,390

Purchase of goods and services 372,835 32,891

Aggregate amounts receivable from equity  
accounted investees at balance sheet date were  
as follows:

Loan to associate 9,750,000 9,750,000

Receivable from equity accounted investees 14,646,961 7,393,653

Payable to equity accounted investees 43,883 –

Terms and conditions
Outstanding balances are unsecured and repayable in cash.

Loans to equity accounted investees are made on normal commercial 
terms and repayable at the end of the initial franchise term. The average 
interest rate on loans during the year was 7.5% (2011: 7.5%).

 2012 2011 

 $ $

NOTE 33: AUDITOR REMUNERATION

Amounts received or due and receivable by KPMG for:

Audit or review of the financial statements 2,173,596 2,058,950

Other services

Taxation 148,472 142,294

Other 52,006 32,551

 200,478 174,845

 2,374,074 2,233,795

 2012 2011 

 $’000 $’000

NOTE 34: EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following reflects the income and share data  
used in the calculations of basic and diluted  
earnings per share:

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of  
the Company used in calculating basic and diluted  
earnings per share 134,322 158,510

 2012 2011 

 NO. NO.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares  
used in calculating basic earnings per share 166,187,691 166,008,007

Effect of dilutive securities:

– options 60,117 374,574

Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary  
shares used in calculating diluted earnings  
per share 166,247,808 166,382,581

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 80.8 95.5

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 80.8 95.3

NOTE 35: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial risk management
Overview
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk; 
liquidity risk; and market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk).

The Group’s overall financial risk management processes and procedures 
seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of 
the Group that may arise from the unpredictability of financial markets.

Liquidity and market risk management is carried out by a central treasury 
department (Group Treasury) in accordance with risk management policies. 
Financial risk management policies are reviewed periodically to reflect 
changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. Group Treasury 
identifies, evaluates and hedges these financial risks in close cooperation 
and with input from the Group’s business units.

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as foreign exchange 
contracts, interest rate swaps, as well as rise and fall clauses in contracts, 
to hedge certain risk exposures. Derivatives are exclusively used for 
hedging purposes. The Group does not enter into or trade financial 
instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative 
purposes.

The Group uses various methods to measure different types of risk 
exposures. These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of 
interest rate and foreign exchange risks, and ageing analysis for credit risk.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or the 
counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from 
customers. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount 
of the financial assets.



Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2012

100  UGL Limited

NOTE 35: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Trade and other receivables
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual 
characteristics of each customer. The Group’s customer base consists 
mainly of government, semi-government and major public company 
customers. The demographics of the Group’s customer base, including the 
default risk of the industry and country in which the customers operate, 
has less of an influence on credit risk.

New customers are analysed individually for creditworthiness, taking into 
account credit ratings where available, financial position, past experience 
and other factors. This includes all major contracts and tenders approved 
by the Group Tender Committee.

In monitoring customer credit risk, customers are grouped by business 
segment, and then by their debtor ageing profile. Monitoring of receivable 
balances on an ongoing basis minimises the exposure to bad debts. 
There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group.

A provision for impairment is recognised when there is a clear indication 
that an individual trade receivable is impaired.

Derivative financial instruments
Counterparties to derivative financial instruments are principally large 
banks and recognised financial intermediaries with which the Group has 
loans and borrowings outstanding and which have acceptable credit ratings 
determined by a recognised rating agency.

  2012 2011 

 NOTE $’000 $’000

Credit risk

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets  
represents the maximum credit exposure

Maximum exposure at the reporting  
date was:

Trade receivables  433,791 387,720

Other receivables  149,614 83,065

Trade and other receivables  
(excluding prepayments and retentions) 10 583,405 470,785

Bank balances and call deposits 9 177,204 236,621

Other assets 13 24,380 21,611

Foreign exchange contracts 13 190 170

  785,179 729,187

Maximum exposure to credit risk for trade  
and other receivables at the reporting date  
by business segment was:

Infrastructure  93,900 67,314

Rail  64,042 76,251

Resources  78,949 134,247

Services  345,042 191,279

Unallocated  1,472 1,694

  583,405 470,785

 GROSS IMPAIRMENT GROSS IMPAIRMENT 

 2012 2012 2011 2011 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The ageing of trade  
receivables at the reporting  
date was:

Not past due 312,218 (505) 324,022 (299)

Past due up to 30 days 54,970 (343) 29,794 (53)

Past due 31 to 120 days 40,589 (1,825) 22,527 (539)

Past due 121 days to one year 13,395 (5,503) 2,901 (390)

More than one year 12,619 (6,869) 8,476 (2,028)

 433,791 (15,045) 387,720 (3,309)

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade 
receivables during the year was as follows:

 2012 2011 

 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 July (3,309) (5,104)

Provisions made during the year (7,617) (767)

Impairment loss recognised 3,570 481

Provisions reversed during the year 4,140 1,202

Acquisition of subsidiary (11,966) –

Foreign exchange movement 137 879

Balance at 30 June (15,045) (3,309)

The creation and release of the allowance for impaired recoverables is 
included in “other expenses” in the income statement.

None of the Group’s other receivables and other assets are past due 
(2011: $nil).

Impairment allowance
Based on historic default rates, the Group believes that no impairment 
allowance is required for trade receivables not past due.

The impairment allowance relates to specific customers, identified as 
being in trading difficulties, or where specific debts are in dispute. 
The impairment allowance does not include debts past due relating to 
customers with a good credit history, or where payments of amounts due 
under a contract for such customers are delayed due to works in dispute 
and previous experience indicates that the amount will be paid in due 
course.

When the Group is satisfied that no recovery of the amount owing is 
possible, the amounts considered irrecoverable are written off against the 
financial asset directly.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial 
obligations as they fall due. Liquidity is managed to ensure, as far as 
possible, that sufficient funds are available to meet liabilities when they 
fall due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group ensures that it has sufficient cash and excess committed credit 
facilities to meet expected operational expenses, including the servicing of 
financial obligations. Group Treasury aims at maintaining flexibility in 
funding by keeping committed credit lines available with a variety of 
counterparties, with a weighted average duration of at least three years. 
Refer Note 19: Loans and borrowings for details of lines of credit available.

Surplus funds are generally only deposited with banks in the Group’s 
relationship panel.
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The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding the impact of netting 
arrangements.

 CONTRACTUAL CASH FLOWS

 CARRYING  6 MONTHS 6 TO 12 1 TO 2 2 TO 5 MORE THAN 

 AMOUNT TOTAL OR LESS MONTHS YEARS YEARS 5 YEARS 

2012 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Unsecured bank loans 354,799 (388,099) (4,664) (6,243) (98,716) (278,476) –

Unsecured other loans 2,506 (2,595) (2,010) – (195) (390) –

Unsecured US notes 245,314 (339,740) (8,117) (8,117) (16,235) (96,264) (211,007)

Secured bank loans 3,349 (3,403) (615) (615) (1,245) (928) –

Finance lease liabilities 3,674 (3,952) (678) (678) (1,198) (1,398) –

Trade and other payables – excluding billings in advance 433,432 (433,432) (433,432) – – – –

Bank overdraft 3,094 (3,094) (3,094) – – – –

Derivative financial liabilities

Forward exchange contracts used for hedging:

Carrying amount at fair value:

Liabilities 151

Assets (190)

Outflow  (34,478) (32,427) (1,570) (481) – –

Inflow  34,142 32,061 1,587 494 – –

 1,046,129 (1,174,651) (452,976) (15,636) (117,576) (377,456) (211,007)

2011

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Unsecured bank loans 180,366 (190,296) (2,630) (2,238) (58,878) (126,550) –

Unsecured other loans 806 (899) (180) – (180) (539) –

Unsecured US notes 232,796 (337,809) (7,703) (7,703) (15,406) (46,219) (260,778)

Finance lease liabilities 950 (1,277) (262) (226) (353) (436) –

Trade and other payables – excluding billings in advance 370,639 (370,639) (370,191) (448) – – –

Derivative financial liabilities

Forward exchange contracts used for hedging:

Carrying amount at fair value:

Liabilities 115

Assets (170)

Outflow  (55,768) (34,535) (21,233) – – –

Inflow  55,171 33,924 21,247 – – –

 785,502 (901,517) (381,577) (10,601) (74,817) (173,744) (260,778)

Refer to Note 19: Loans and borrowings for details of the maturities of bank loans and US notes.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices will affect the Group’s 
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Group’s 
activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign 
currency rates and interest rates which are discussed further below. The 
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

The Group aims to minimise the effects of these risks by the use of financial 
derivatives. All such transactions are carried out in accordance with Group 
policy. Generally, the Group seeks to apply hedge accounting in order to 
manage volatility in profit or loss.

Currency risk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to currency risk on 
sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other 
than the respective functional currencies of Group entities, primarily with 
respect to the US dollar, Euro, and British pound.

The Group’s major foreign currency exposure relates to purchases of raw 
materials and consumables, and equipment. Its hedging policy applies to 
exposures arising from these specific transactions.

Group companies are required to manage their foreign exchange risk 
against their local functional currency. The Group companies are required 
to hedge their foreign exchange risk exposure arising from future 
commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities in accordance 
with Group policies, using forward contracts transacted on their behalf by 
Group Treasury.

The Group has certain investments in foreign operations whose net assets 
are exposed to foreign currency translation risk. Currency exposure arising 
from the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations is managed primarily 
through borrowings denominated in the relevant foreign currencies.
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NOTE 35: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Exposure to currency risk
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at balance date, reflected in the foreign exchange contracts taken out to manage that risk, was as follows, 
based on notional amounts:

 NOTIONAL AMOUNTS AUD AVERAGE EXCHANGE RATE

  2012 2011 2012 2011 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

US dollars

Buy US dollars/sell Australian dollars One year or less 40,670 19,460 1.0056 1.0061

 One year to three years 327 – 0.9178 –

Buy Australian dollars/sell US dollars One year or less 19,047 34,627 0.9903 1.0259

Euros

Buy euros/sell Australian dollars One year or less 13,845 2,370 0.7767 0.6895

 One to three years 193 – 0.7227 –

Buy Australian dollars/sell euros One year or less 484 555 0.7731 0.7270

British pounds

Buy Australian dollars/sell British pounds One year or less 11,496 – 0.6278 –

Buy British pounds/sell Australian dollars One year or less 9,503 – 0.6358 –

The forward currency contracts are considered to be highly effective 
hedges as they are matched against forward inventory, contract costs and 
equipment purchases. Any gains or losses on the forward contracts 
attributable to the hedged risk are taken directly to equity. When goods 
and services are delivered the amount recognised in equity is adjusted to 
the inventory account, or property, plant and equipment in the statement 
of financial position.

There was no significant cash flow hedge ineffectiveness in the current or 
prior year.

Exchange rates
The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:

  REPORTING 

 AVERAGE RATE DATE SPOT RATE

 2012 2011 2012 2011

US dollar 1.0319 0.9892 1.0191 1.0739

Euro 0.7712 0.7248 0.8092 0.7405

British pounds 0.6516 – 0.6529 –

Sensitivity analysis
At 30 June 2012, had the Australian dollar weakened/strengthened by 10% 
against the respective foreign currencies, with all other variables held 
constant, the Group post-tax profit would have been materially unchanged 
mainly as a result of the effectiveness of the hedging in place. Group equity 
would have been $16,908,000 higher/$16,908,000 lower (2011: 
$15,592,000 higher/$15,592,000 lower) had the Australian dollar 
weakened/strengthened against the respective currencies.

The analysis is performed consistently from year to year.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s main interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. 
Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest 
rate risk. Borrowings at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest 
rate risk.

Group policy is to maintain approximately 50% of its borrowings at 
fixed rate. The Group may use interest rate swaps from time to time to 
achieve this.

 2012 2011 

 $’000 $’000

Fixed rate instruments

Financial assets – –

Financial liabilities (248,988) (233,746)

 (248,988) (233,746)

Variable rate instruments

Financial assets 177,204 236,621

Financial liabilities (363,748) (181,172)

 (186,544) 55,449

At reporting date the Group had the following variable rate borrowings 
outstanding.

 30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011

 WEIGHTED  WEIGHTED  

 AVERAGE  AVERAGE  

 INTEREST RATE BALANCE INTEREST RATE BALANCE 

 % $’000 % $’000

Bank overdrafts – (3,094) – –

Bank and other loans 2.69 (360,654) 2.59 (181,172)

Net exposure to cash flow  
interest rate risk  (363,748)  (181,172)

Interest rate swaps – cash flow hedges
At 30 June 2012, the Group had no interest rate swaps outstanding 
(2011: $nil).

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments
The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss, and does not designate derivatives 
(interest rate swaps) as hedging instruments under a fair value hedge 
accounting model. Therefore a change in interest rates at the reporting 
date would not affect profit or loss for the Group.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates during the year would have 
increased (decreased) equity and profit or loss before tax by $2,161,000 for 
the Group (2011: $537,000). This analysis assumes that all other variables, 
in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis is 
performed consistently from year to year.
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Fair values
Fair values versus carrying amounts
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying 
amounts shown in the statement of financial position, are as follows:

 2012 2011

 CARRYING  CARRYING  

 AMOUNT FAIR VALUE AMOUNT FAIR VALUE 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade and other receivables 568,360 568,360 467,476 467,476

Cash and cash equivalents 177,375 177,375 236,688 236,688

Bank overdraft (3,094) (3,094) – –

Forward exchange contracts  
net – at fair value  
(Level 2 valuation method) 39 39 55 55

Secured bank loans (3,349) (3,349) – –

Finance lease liabilities (3,674) (3,591) (950) (866)

Unsecured bank facilities (354,799) (354,799) (180,366) (180,366)

US notes (245,314) (288,756) (232,796) (266,786)

Trade and other payables (513,783) (513,783) (509,421) (509,421)

Other loans (2,506) (2,506) (806) (806)

 (380,745) (424,104) (220,120) (254,026)

Fair value hierarchy
Financial instruments carried at fair value are classified by valuation 
method based on the following hierarchy:

•  Level 1:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities

•  Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as 
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)

•  Level 3:  inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on 
observable market data (unobservable inputs)

Derivate financial instruments are the only financial instruments carried by 
the Group at fair value, with a Level 2 valuation method applied 
consistently in the current and prior year.

Estimation of fair value
The following methods and assumptions are used in estimating the fair 
values of financial instruments:

•  interest rate swaps – bank valuations;

•  forward exchange contracts – bank valuations;

•  loans and borrowings, and finance leases – present value of future 
principal and interest cash flow, discounted at the market rate of 
interest at the reporting date; and

•  trade and other receivables and payables – carrying amount equals fair 
value.

NOTE 36: AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year 
which have significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations, 
the results of these operations or state of affairs of the Group in 
subsequent financial years.
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Directors’ declaration

1. In the opinion of the directors of UGL Limited (the Company):

 (a)  the consolidated financial statements and notes that are set out on pages 64 to 103 and the Remuneration Report set out in pages 37 to 53 in the 
Directors’ Report, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

  (i)  giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2012 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; 
and

  (ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

 (b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

2.  There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and the group entities identified in Note 31 will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities 
to which they are or may become subject to by virtue of the Deed of Cross Guarantee between the Company and those group entities pursuant to 
ASIC Class Order 98/1418.

3.  The directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the chief executive officer and chief 
financial officer for the financial year ended 30 June 2012.

4.  The directors draw attention to Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, which includes a statement of compliance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

 
Trevor C Rowe AO Richard A Leupen 
Chairman Managing Director & CEO

Dated at Sydney this 10th day of August 2012.
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Independent audit report to members of UGL Limited

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL REPORT

We have audited the accompanying financial report of UGL Limited (“the Company”), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 30 June 2012, and consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date, notes 1 to 36 comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information and the directors’ declaration of the Group comprising the Company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to 
time during the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that is free from material misstatement whether due to fraud or error. In note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial statements of the Group comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 
view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

We performed the procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 
and Australian Accounting Standards, a true and fair view which is consistent with our understanding of the Group’s financial position and of its 
performance.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

INDEPENDENCE

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.

AUDITOR’S OPINION

In our opinion:

(a)  the financial report of UGL Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

 (i)  giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2012 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

 (ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

(b)  the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 1.

REPORT ON THE REMUNERATION REPORT

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 37 to 53 of the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2012. The directors of the 
Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the remuneration report in accordance with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards.

AUDITOR’S OPINION

In our opinion, the remuneration disclosures that are contained in the remuneration report of UGL Limited for the year ended 30 June 2012, excluding the 
additional information set out in Section 12.2, Table 3, complies with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

KPMG

Mark Epper 
Partner 
Sydney

10 August 2012

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Corporate (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.
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Summary of financial statistics

   2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Revenue

Sales $m 722.6 855.2 1,076.9 1,254.9 2,232.4 2,549.7 3,478.2 4,754.4 4,186.9 4,285.1 4,454.4

Other $m 1.8 4.7 2.1 1.0 – – – – – – –

Total $m 724.4 859.9 1,079.0 1,255.9 2,232.4 2,549.7 3,478.2 4,754.4 4,186.9 4,285.1 4,454.4

Results

EBITDA $m 33.9 44.9 52.9 81.9 147.3 179.9 246.9 273.1 275.8 296.4 265.9

Depreciation and amortisation $m (8.0) (9.6) (11.1) (18.5) (27.1) (31.3) (43.7) (53.9) (59.2) (59.8) (63.3)

EBIT $m 25.9 35.3 41.8 63.4 120.2 148.6 203.2 219.2 216.6 236.6 202.6

Net interest $m (3.9) (4.3) (3.3) (6.1) (14.4) (23.6) (17.7) (30.5) (20.3) (20.8) (24.8)

PBT  $m 22.0 31.0 38.5 57.3 105.8 125.0 185.5 188.7 196.3 215.8 177.8

Income tax $m (5.7) (9.1) (9.4) (9.8) (27.1) (33.7) (53.1) (45.0) (52.3) (57.1) (42.4)

Net profit after tax $m 16.3 21.9 29.1 47.5 78.7 91.3 132.4 143.7 144.0 158.7 135.4

NPAT attributable to non-controlling  
interests $m – – – – – 1.4 (1.3) (1.2) 0.5 (0.2) (1.1)

NPAT attributable to shareholders $m 16.3 21.9 29.1 47.5 78.7 92.7 131.1 142.5 144.5 158.5 134.3

Amortisation of acquired intangibles $m – – – – – – 8.4 13.1 11.0 9.8 11.5

Acquisition and restructuring expenses $m – – – – – – – – – – 29.8

Tax on amortisation of acquired  
intangibles and acquisition and  
restructuring expenses $m – – – – – – (3.4) (5.3) (4.4) (3.9) (7.3)

NPAT underlying (adj. for amortisation  
of acquired intangibles and acquisition  
and restructuring expenses) $m 16.3 21.9 29.1 47.5 78.7 92.7 136.1 150.3 151.1 164.4 168.3

Balance sheet

Total assets $m 300.4 442.1 477.6 684.4 1,356.5 1,553.2 2,381.2 2,537.7 2,505.2 2,408.5 2,747.6

Net debt $m 8.8 40.0 40.6 (32.6) 165.1 267.2 277.2 324.4 233.6 178.2 435.4

Shareholders’ funds $m 135.8 153.4 180.3 328.9 520.8 596.2 1,056.0 1,119.0 1,158.4 1,165.9 1,169.7

Issued shares

Total issued shares m 90.7 91.5 100.7 118.4 133.5 137.7 163.3 164.3 165.2 165.3 165.6

Earnings per share

Cents per share cps 19.5 24.0 29.1 45.8 63.7 67.8 81.8 87.1 87.7 95.5 80.8

Cents per share (underlying) cps 19.5 24.0 29.1 45.8 63.7 67.8 84.9 91.9 91.7 99.0 101.3

Dividends

Interim cps 6.0 6.0 8.0 10.0 20.0 20.0 24.0 29.0 29.0 32.0 34.0

Final cps 4.0 8.0 10.0 20.0 24.0 28.0 34.0 35.0 35.0 38.0 36.0

Special cps – 10.0 10.0 – – – – – – – –

Total cps 10.0 24.0 28.0 30.0 44.0 48.0 58.0 64.0 64.0 70.0 70.0

Franked  Fully Fully Fully Fully Fully Fully Fully Fully Fully Fully Fully

Gearing

Net debt/equity % 6.0 26.0 23.0 (9.9) 31.7 44.9 26.3 28.9 20.2 15.3 37.2

Net debt/(net debt + equity) % 6.0 21.0 18.0 (11.0) 24.1 31.0 20.8 22.5 16.8 13.2 27.1

Interest cover times 6.6 7.6 9.8 7.7 6.6 5.2 11.5 7.4 10.7 11.4 8.2

Dividend cover

Excluding special dividends times 1.8 1.9 1.6 1.5 1.4 1.3 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.5

Net asset backing cps 149.7 167.7 178.9 277.8 390.1 432.9 646.6 681.7 701.7 708.7 704.3

Net tangible asset backing cps 105.3 69.3 93.2 161.3 26.0 (38.3) (43.8) (82.4) (31.7) 54.7 (94.5)

Prior to 2005 information is presented in accordance with pre-AIFRS AGAAP.
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Additional information for listed companies as at 1 August 2012

The following additional information is provided in accordance with the ASX listing rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 1 August 2012, there are no substantial shareholders in the Company.

DISTRIBUTION OF ORDINARY SHAREHOLDINGS

RANGE OF HOLDINGS NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES %

1 – 1,000 21,361 11,094,079 6.67

1,001 – 5,000 17,939 40,013,667 24.06

5,001 – 10,000 2,066 14,567,652 8.76

10,001 – 100,000 958 19,682,601 11.83

100,001 and over 58 80,957,039 48.68

Total 42,382 166,315,038 100.00

The number of shareholders with less than a marketable parcel of 38 securities ($12.85 on 1 August 2012) is 742, holding in total 11,091 shares.

OPTIONS

The Company has on issue 2,086,942 options over unissued ordinary shares in the Company held by 76 option holders.

VOTING RIGHTS

The voting rights attached to ordinary shares are that each member present in person or by proxy, attorney or representative at a general meeting has 
one vote on a vote taken by a show of hands, and one vote for each fully paid share held on a vote taken on a poll. There are no voting rights attached 
to options.

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

The names of the 20 largest shareholders of the ordinary shares of the Company are:

NAME NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES HELD % HELD OF ISSUED ORDINARY CAPITAL

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 17,073,117 10.27

JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 17,069,780 10.26

National Nominees Limited 12,767,222 7.68

UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 6,321,279 3.80

Pacific Custodians Pty Limited 2,409,252 1.45

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 2,222,467 1.34

UBS Wealth Management Australia Nominees Pty Ltd 1,949,686 1.17

Protech Holdings (WA) Pty Ltd 1,614,573 0.97

Argo Investments Limited 1,513,242 0.91

Milton Corporation Limited 1,352,191 0.81

Navigator Australia Limited 1,287,039 0.77

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited – GSCO ECA 1,149,517 0.69

Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 1,136,001 0.68

Nulis Nominess (Australia) Limited 821,085 0.49

JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 767,188 0.46

Richard Anthony Leupen 757,130 0.46

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 684,376 0.41

Mutual Trust Pty Ltd 580,641 0.35

AMP Life Limited 570,447 0.34

M F Custodians Ltd 519,877 0.31

Total 72,566,110 43.62

ON-MARKET BUY-BACK

There is no current on-market buy-back.

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTINGS

The Company’s ordinary shares are quoted on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX code: UGL).
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Corporate Directory

DIRECTORS

Trevor C Rowe AO 
Non-executive Chairman

Guy M Cowan 
Non-executive Director

Robert E Denham 
Non-executive Director

Richard G Humphry AO 
Non-executive Director

John W Ingram AM 
Non-executive Director

Richard A Leupen 
Managing Director & 
Chief Executive Officer

Kathryn D Spargo 
Non-executive Director

Richard D White 
Non-executive Director

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Robert Bonaccorso

COMPANY SECRETARIES

Dennis Mentzines

Lyn Nikolopoulos

REGISTERED OFFICE

Level 10
40 Miller Street
North Sydney NSW 2060
Australia
Telephone: +61 2 9492 8888

AUDITORS

KPMG
10 Shelley Street
Sydney NSW 2000
Australia

SHARE REGISTRY

Link Market Services
680 George Street
Sydney NSW 2000
Australia
Telephone: 1800 200 296
Overseas: +61 2 8280 7796
Email: registrars@linkmarketservices.com.au

UGL LIMITED

Level 10
40 Miller Street
Locked Bag 903
North Sydney NSW 2060
Australia
Telephone: +61 2 9492 8888
Facsimile: +61 2 9492 8844
Email: uglinfo@ugllimited.com
Website: www.ugllimited.com

UGL INFRASTRUCTURE

Level 5
40 Miller Street
Locked Bag 903
North Sydney NSW 2060
Australia
Telephone: +61 2 8925 8925
Facsimile: +61 2 8925 8926
Email: uglinfo@ugllimited.com

UGL RAIL

Level 5
40 Miller Street
Locked Bag 903
North Sydney NSW 2060
Australia
Telephone: +61 2 8925 8925
Facsimile: +61 2 8925 8926
Email: uglinfo@ugllimited.com

UGL RESOURCES

Level 5
40 Miller Street
Locked Bag 903
North Sydney NSW 2060
Australia
Telephone: +61 2 8925 8925
Facsimile: +61 2 8925 8926
Email: uglinfo@ugllimited.com

UGL SERVICES

555 W 5th St, Suite 4500
Los Angeles CA 90013
United States
Telephone: +1 213 426 3000
Facsimile: +1 213 426 3019
Email: servicesinfo@ugllimited.com

Abu Dhabi • Alexandria • Almaty • Amsterdam • Århus • Arlington • Arnhem • Atlanta • Auburndale • Auckland • Austin • Ballarat • Bangalore • Bangkok 
Bassendean • Beijing • Belfast • Bengaluru • Berchem (Antwerp) • Berlin • Birmingham • Bloomfield • Bordeaux • Boston • Bratislava • Breda • Brisbane 
Bristol • Broadmeadow • Brussels • Bucharest • Budapest • Burnaby • Calgary • Canberra • Cardiff • Changsha • Charlotte • Cheltenham • Chengdu  
Chennai • Chicago • Chongqing • Chullora • Cincinnati • Clayton • Copenhagen • Cork • Costa Mesa • Courtabuf • Dalian • Dallas • Darwin • Den Bosch 
Denver • Detroit • Dijon • Doha • Dubai • Dusseldorf • East Hartford • Eastwood • Edinburgh • Edmonton • Eindhoven • Enschede • Frankfurt am Main 
Galway • Geneva • Gladstone • Glasgow • Gold Coast • Göteborg • Gronigen • Guangzhou • Gurgaon • Hamburg • Hamilton NZ • Hangzhou • Helsinki 
Ho Chi Minh City • Hobart • Hong Kong • Hoofddorp • Houston • Howald • Hyderabad • Indianapolis • Iselin • Istanbul • Ivry-Sur-Seine • Jakarta 
Johannesburg • Kansas City • Kawerau • Kelowna • Keswick • Kingston • Kowloon • Kuala Lumpur • Kwinana • Kyiv • Leeds • Leipzig • Liege • Limerick 
London • Los Angeles • Lyon • Mackay • Madrid • Malmö • Manama • Manchester • Marseille • Melbourne • Mexico City • Miami Lakes • Milan • Milperra 
Milton • Milwaukee • Minneapolis • Mississauga • Montpellier • Montreal • Moscow • Mumbai • Munich • Nanaimo • Nanjing • Neuilly-sur-Seine • New 
York • Newcastle Upon Tyne • Niagara Falls • Nice • Nimes • Norrköping • North Sydney • Nottingham • Oslo • Ottawa • Palo Alto • Parnu • Peoria • Perth 
Philadelphia • Phoenix • Pittsburgh • Prague • Qingdao • Rakvere • Raleigh • Regents Park • Regina • Reims • Rennes • Reno • Richmond Hill • Riga • Riyadh 
Rome • Rotterdam • Sacramento • San Francisco • San Jose • Seattle • Selangor • Seoul • Shanghai • Shenyang • Shenzhen • Silverwater • Singapore 
South Melbourne • South Portland • Spotswood • Spring Hill • St Louis • Stockholm • Strasbourg • Suzhou • Sydney • Taipei • Tallinn • Tamilnadu Chennai 
Tampa • Taree • Tartu • The Hague • Tianjin • Tokyo • Toronto • Toulon • Toulouse • Townsville • Tuen Mun • Utrecht • Vancouver • Vandoeuvre-Lès-Nancy 
Victoria • Vilnius • Warrawong • Warsaw • Washington • Wellington • Wilson • Winnipeg • Wollongong • Wuhan • Xiamen • Xian • Zagreb • Zurich • Zwolle



The paper stocks used in this report are manufactured under 
the environmental management system ISO 14001 which 
ensures all processes involved in production are of the highest 
environmental standards. FSC Mixed Sources CoC certification 
ensures fibre is sourced from certified and well managed forests.

The printer is FSC and PEFC accredited and follows the chain 
of custody requirements during the production process.
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